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Preface 
Applicability 

This guide has been prepared to assist the independent auditor in audit-
ing and reporting on financial s ta tements of finance companies. The guide also 
applies to independent and captive financing activities of other companies. I t 
does not apply to banks, savings and loan associations, credit unions, or 
insurance companies; however, the guide does apply to finance company 
subsidiaries of such entities. 

Banks, savings and loan associations, credit unions, and insurance compa-
nies are covered by other guides, and there might be differences in the way 
they account for similar transactions. The AICPA is considering a project to 
harmonize the accounting principles for the financial industry. 

This guide is based on the assumption tha t the readers are generally 
expert in accounting and auditing. Accordingly, the discussion of audit proce-
dures concentrates primarily on aspects unique to finance companies and 
financing activities. The nature, timing, and extent of such auditing proce-
dures are a mat te r of professional judgment and depend on the size, organiza-
tional structure, internal control structure, and other factors in a part icular 
engagement. 

Changes in Accounting Practices 
This guide recommends the following changes in accounting practices 

that the committee believes are desirable and warranted: 
• Recognition of interest income on finance receivables using the 

interest method; 
• Use of the accrual with suspension basis for recording interest 

income; and 
• Inclusion of interest as a holding cost in determining the carrying 

amount of repossessed collateral expected to be held for more than a 
brief period. 

In addition, the revised guide includes an expanded discussion of the insurance 
activities of finance companies. 

The 1973 AICPA Indust ry Audit Guide, Audits of Finance Companies, 
provided for revenue recognition methods other than those listed above, 
including the Rule of 78s, the combination method, and the cash method. In 
accordance with FASB Statement No. 91 and conclusions reached by the 
Accounting Standards Division in preparing this guide, use of those alterna-
tive methods is no longer considered to be acceptable. 

Transition and Effective Dates 
This guide supersedes the 1973 AICPA Indust ry Audit Guide, Audits of 

Finance Companies. 
Generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) applicable to business 

entities in general apply to finance companies. Accordingly, the financial 
accounting standards established by pronouncements of the Financial Ac-
counting Standards Board (FASB) and its predecessor bodies of the American 
Ins t i tu te of Certified Public Accountants apply to finance companies. 

FASB Statement No. 91, Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs 
Associated With Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of 

AAG-FIN 
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vi Preface 

Leases, requires f inance companies to make certain changes in their account-
ing for fees and expenses. The commit tee believes the changes recommended in 
this guide concerning recognition of interest income (revenue) and inclusion of 
interest as a holding cost in de termining the carrying amoun t of repossessed 
collateral should be made a t the same t ime and in the same manner as changes 
are made to comply with FASB S ta t emen t No. 91. 

FASB S ta t emen t No. 91, pa r ag raph 28, s ta tes 
This Statement shall be applied prospectively to lending and leasing transac-
tions entered into and commitments granted in fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 1987 and interim periods within those fiscal years. Retroactive 
application, by restating all prior years presented, is encouraged but not 
required. Earlier application is encouraged in fiscal years for which financial 
statements have not previously been issued. In the year that this Statement 
is first applied, the financial statements shall disclose the nature of account-
ing changes adopted to conform to the provisions of this Statement and their 
effect on income before extraordinary items, net income, and related per 
share amounts for the current year and for each restated year presented. If 
adopted prospectively, disclosure of the accounting change and the prior 
accounting policies shall be continued in financial statements of subsequent 
years in which outstanding loans accounted for under the prior policy are 
material. 

Other provisions of this guide shall be effective for audi ts of f inancial state-
ments for periods ending on or a f t e r June 30, 1988. 

Finance Companies Guide Special Committee 

AAG-FIN 
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Chapter 1 

Activities of Finance Companies 
1.01 Finance companies provide lending and financing services to con-

sumers (consumer financing) and to business enterprises (commercial financ-
ing). Some finance companies engage solely in consumer or commercial 
financing activities; others provide both types. Consumer and commercial 
financing both encompass a wide variety of activities, many of which are 
discussed in this chapter. 

1.02 Manufacturers , retailers, wholesalers, and various other business 
enterprises may provide financing to encourage customers to buy their prod-
ucts and services. Such financing, generally known as captive finance activity, 
may be provided directly by those companies or through affiliated companies. 
Although most such companies originally financed only their own products and 
services, many have expanded their financing activities to include a wide 
variety of products and services sold by unaffil iated businesses. 

Consumer Finance Activities 
1.03 Consumer finance activities comprise direct consumer loans, includ-

ing mortgage loans and retail sales financing. Many companies tha t provide 
consumer financing also offer a variety of insurance services to their borrow-
ers. 

Direct Consumer Loans 
1.04 Direct consumer loans usually are repayable in installments and 

may be collateralized by household goods and other chattels or may be 
unsecured. The creditworthiness of the individual borrower is generally the 
lender's pr imary consideration in making direct consumer loans; however, as 
the size of the loan increases, other factors, such as the existence and value of 
collateral or the presence of a comaker, may become increasingly important . 

1.05 Mortgage loans on real estate are a form of direct consumer lending 
in which borrowers' equity interests in their homes make up the collateral. 
Such mortgage loans differ from purchase money mortgages, in which sellers or 
third parties grant borrowers mortgages as par t of the purchase price. Many 
mortgage loans issued by finance companies are second mortgage loans tha t 
are subordinate to the claims of one or more prior lenders if borrowers default . 

1.06 Mortgage loans generally have larger principal amounts and lower 
average interest rates than other direct consumer loans. Lenders usually 
consider borrowers who are homeowners to be good credit risks because the 
loans are collateralized by the borrowers' homes and, even if the borrowers 
default, residential real estate tends to hold resale value to a greater degree 
than other forms of collateral. Loss experience on mortgage loans generally has 
been less than on other forms of consumer loans. 

1.07 Mortgage lending, however, involves other risks. If the real estate 
market weakens, perhaps because of severe unemployment in a given geo-
graphical area, substantial losses may be incurred. Mortgage loans tend to 
have longer repayment periods than other types of direct consumer loans; this 
factor by itself may increase a lender's risk. Because first mortgage loans have 
priority, a second mortgage lender generally must buy out prior lenders or 
take title subject to the rights of such lenders. Second mortgage lenders may, 
therefore, need to make significant cash payments to protect collateral. 

AAG-FIN 1.07 
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2 Finance Companies 

Retail Sales Contracts 
1.08 M a n y sales of consumer goods and services are f inanced through 

retail sales contracts . Those contracts are made, direct ly or through retailers 
and dealers, with individual consumers. The contrac ts often are sold to a 
f inance company. Retai l sales contracts commonly are called three-party 
paper because they involve three part ies: an individual borrower, a dealer or 
dis tr ibutor , and a f inance company. 

1.09 Reta i l sales contrac ts usually are sold a t a discount to a f inance 
company under te rms t h a t permi t dealers or dis t r ibutors to share a portion of 
the f inance charges paid by borrowers. Provisions for dealers ' shares of f inance 
charges va ry among f inance companies and dealers. Dealers ' shares of f inance 
charges may be based on s t ipula ted percentages of the f inance charges or the 
principal amounts of the retail contracts , on a fixed a m o u n t for each contract , 
or on other negotiated terms. 

1.10 Some agreements provide for a portion of amounts due to dealers to 
be withheld to cover cer ta in contingencies. Other agreements provide no such 
conditions. Amounts withheld from dealers m a y ei ther be l imited to or greater 
t han the dealers ' shares of f inance charges. Dealer reserves represent liabilities 
for unpaid portions of dealers ' shares of f inance charges on retail contrac ts 
bought f rom dealers. Dealer holdbacks, which are not l imited to dealers ' shares 
of f inance charges, also represent liabilities, bu t usually are for amounts 
withheld from dealers on retail contrac ts with grea ter - than-normal credit risk. 
Such risks m a y relate to factors such as the types of collateral, excessive loan 
periods, or credit ra t ings of the borrowers involved. Dealer reserves and 
holdbacks m a y be required even if appl icable contrac ts are bought with 
recourse. 

1.11 Terms for p a y m e n t of dealer reserves and holdbacks vary . Dealer 
reserves m a y be reduced for losses and rebates on related loans. The remaining 
balances generally are paid periodically when amounts exceed agreed mini-
m u m percentages of related outs tanding receivables. M i n i m u m percentages 
are based on factors such as loss experience for contrac ts previously bought 
f rom such dealers, experience with lending to purchasers of similar types of 
merchandise, and credit qua l i ty of the purchasers . Al ternat ively , dealer 
reserves and holdbacks m a y be paid only a f t e r customers ' loans are paid off in 
full. 

Insurance Services 
1.12 M a n y companies engaged in consumer f inance act ivi t ies also offer 

insurance coverage to their customers. Such coverage m a y include life insur-
ance to help assure t h a t remaining loan balances are repaid if borrowers die 
before loans are repaid; accident and heal th insurance to help continue loan 
paymen t s if borrowers become sick or disabled for an extended period of t ime; 
and proper ty insurance to protect the values of loan collateral against damage , 
the f t , or destruct ion. Some lenders m a y provide insurance through subsidiar-
ies. Others act as brokers and, if licensed, often receive commissions from 
independent insurers. Lenders also m a y receive retrospective ra te credits on 
group policies issued by independent insurers. In still other instances, policies 
may be wr i t ten by independent insurance companies and then reinsured by 
insurance subsidiaries of f inance companies. 

Commercial Finance Activities 
1.13 Commercial f inance enterprises of ten provide a wide range of ser-

vices, including factor ing a r rangements , revolving loans, ins ta l lment and te rm 

AAG-FIN 1.08 



Activities of Finance Companies 3 

loans, floor plan loans, portfolio purchase agreements , and lease f inancing to a 
var ie ty of clients, including manufac tu re r s , wholesalers, retailers, and service 
organizations. M a n y commercial f inance act ivi t ies are called asset-based fi-
nancial services because of the lenders ' reliance on collateral. This guide refers 
to all such act ivi t ies as c o m m e r c i a l f i n a n c e act iv i t ies . 

1.14 Commercial loans generally are collateralized by various types of 
assets, including notes and accounts receivable, inventories, and proper ty , 
p lant , and equ ipment . 

Factoring 
1.15 Factor ing is the purchase, usually wi thout recourse, of t r ade ac-

counts receivable. A company t h a t purchases t r ade accounts receivable is 
commonly called a factor. Factors buy t rade accounts receivable from clients. 
Clients ' customers send their p a y m e n t s directly to factors, of ten by means of a 
lockbox a r rangement . Factored accounts receivable are not collateral for loans 
to clients; ra ther , the receivables are purchased outr ight . Except in cer ta in 
instances involving advance factoring, as described below, no loan is made. 
However, clients continue to remain cont rac tua l ly responsible for customer 
claims related to defective merchandise. 

1.16 Factors buy clients ' invoices, net of t r ade and cash discounts granted 
to customers, and provide clients with services t h a t include assuming the 
clients' responsibilities of credit review, bookkeeping, and collection. Factors 
also assume risks of credit losses when customer credit is approved before 
clients ship goods. If factors do not approve customers ' credit , sh ipments 
usually are made a t clients ' risk. Factors buying accounts with recourse, 
however, provide bookkeeping and collection services and assume no credit 
risk, unless both the client and its customers become insolvent. Factors receive 
fees for services rendered to the client, usually computed as a percentage of 
net receivables bought . 

1.17 Factor ing usually requires t h a t customer notif icat ion be placed on 
the face of invoices, indicat ing t h a t accounts have been sold and t h a t factors 
are to be paid directly. Under nonnotif icat ion contracts , customers continue to 
pay clients and normally are unaware of factor ownership of the related 
accounts. 

1.18 Two types of factor ing a r r angemen t s are maturity and advance. 
M a t u r i t y factor ing requires factors to pay clients only when related accounts 
are due (generally based on average due dates) or collected. In contrast , 
advance factor ing allows clients to draw cash advances against the balance of 
the receivables before they are due or collected. Factors charge interest f rom 
the da te on which advances are drawn to the da te on which receivables are due 
or collected, a t ra tes usually based on a s t ipula ted percentage over commercial 
banks ' pr ime rates. 

1.19 In calculat ing limits for p a y m e n t s under advance factor ing arrange-
ments, factors generally re ta in a reserve against unpa id receivables to cover 
claims, re turns , allowances, and other ad jus tments . Reserves ordinari ly are a 
percentage of ou ts tanding receivables based on factors ' experience and judg-
ment . Overadvances occur when clients d raw cash advances t h a t exceed 
uncollected receivable balances. Factors m a y permi t overadvances to f inance 
clients' seasonal business requirements . Such overadvances ofter can be antici-
pated. Overadvances also m a y result f rom unan t ic ipa ted chargebacks, such as 
those resulting from defect ive merchandise and price disputes, because clients 
continue to remain cont rac tua l ly responsible for such problems. Overadvances 
may be collateralized by other assets, such as inventory or fixed assets, or m a y 
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4 Finance Companies 

be secured by personal guarantees . In cer tain circumstances, overadvances 
also may be unsecured. Overadvances generally are reduced when receivables 
from addit ional sales are factored. 

Revolving Loans 
1.20 Revolving loans, sometimes called working capital loans, generally 

provide borrowers with cash needed for business operations. The loans usually 
are collateralized by accounts receivable and generally cannot exceed agreed 
percentages of the face values of those receivables. Such loans m a y be referred 
to as accounts receivable loans. Collections against such receivables usually are 
remi t ted daily by borrowers to the lenders. Depending on the te rms of the 
agreements , new accounts receivable acquired by borrowers and pledged to 
lenders may immedia te ly qua l i fy as collateral. 

1.21 Lenders ' policies m a y permi t eligible collateral for revolving loans to 
be expanded to include inventories if borrowers require addi t ional cash. In 
such cases, addi t ional advances may be referred to as inventory loans. Inven-
tory loans supplement ing accounts receivable loans are common when seasonal 
businesses generate relat ively low amoun t s of accounts receivable bu t require 
large inventories in ant ic ipa t ion of the selling season. When the inventories are 
sold, loans are paid off or accounts receivable generated by the sales replace 
inventories as collateral for such loans. 

Receivables Portfolio Purchase Agreements 
1.22 Unlike factor ing a r rangements , receivables portfolio purchases are 

bulk purchases of t r ade accounts or f inance receivables, often intended to 
provide sellers with cash for operat ions or improved f inancial ratios. Because 
the buyers usually assume all credit risks, a s t ipula ted percentage of the 
purchase price is often re ta ined to absorb credit losses. Credi t losses in excess 
of t ha t amoun t are borne by the purchasing f inance company. 

1.23 Terms of portfolio purchase agreements vary . Some provide for 
single purchases; others provide for cont inuing purchases on a revolving basis. 
In addit ion, customers may not be notified of purchases or m a y be notified and 
required to pay the f inance company directly. Receivables acquired under this 
type of agreement generally are accounted for as assets owned by the purchas-
ing f inance company and are not considered to represent collateral for loans 
made to sellers. 

Installment Loans 
1.24 F inance companies may make commercial ins ta l lment loans collater-

alized by capi ta l assets. The amounts of such ins ta l lment loans usually are 
based on percentages of the collateral marke t values and va ry depending on 
policies of the f inance company lender, f inancial condition of the borrower, 
and l iquidity of the pledged collateral. Finance companies also m a y make 
mortgage loans to commercial borrowers. Some ins ta l lment loans are made 
under conditional sales contracts , in which tit le to the collateral is held in the 
name of the lender unti l loans are repaid. 

Floor Plan Loans 
1.25 Floor plan loans, commonly called wholesale loans, are made to 

businesses to f inance inventory purchases. Some f inance companies make floor 
plan loans pr imar i ly to induce dealers to allow the f inance companies to buy 
the retail contrac ts generated from sales of inventories. Inventor ies serve as 
collateral for floor plan loans, the amounts of which usually are l imited to the 
wholesale values of the inventories. Unlike revolving loans collateralized by 
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inventory, floor plan loans generally are collateralized by specific inventory 
items. They also require min imum paymen t s known as curtailments, with 
balances becoming due when collateral is sold or a t the end of s t ipula ted 
periods. 

Leases 

1.26 Leasing is a common way to f inance the acquisit ion of equ ipment . 
Despite similarities between leases and other forms of ins ta l lment loans, 
continuing legal and tax changes have resulted in language and procedures 
unique to leasing activit ies. FASB S ta t emen t No. 13, Accounting for Leases, 
and its related in terpre ta t ions and a m e n d m e n t s provide au thor i t a t ive guid-
ance on accounting for leases. 

1.27 Opera t ing leases generally run for periods considerably shorter t h an 
the useful lives of related assets. At the expiration of such leases, the assets 
generally are sold or leased again. 

1.28 Direct f inancing leases are similar to other forms of ins ta l lment 
lending in t ha t lessors generally do not re ta in benefi ts and risks incidental to 
ownership of the proper ty subject to leases. Such a r r angemen t s are essentially 
f inancing t ransact ions t h a t permi t lessees to acquire and use proper ty . 

1.29 Leveraged leasing involves a t least three part ies: a lessee, a long-
term creditor, and a lessor (commonly called the equity participant). The 
lessor may, however, be represented by an owner t rustee. Finance companies 
f requent ly enter into leveraged lease t ransact ions as lessors or equi ty partici-
pants . A subs tant ia l portion of the purchase price of assets is supplied 
nonrecourse by unaff i l ia ted long-term lenders. If a lessee defaul ts on lease 
payments , the long-term lender has no recourse to the lessor, bu t usually has 
recourse to the specific proper ty being leased. The gross re turn to a f inance 
company is measured using the discounted net cash receipts generated from 
inves tment tax credits and tax effects of t iming differences resulting princi-
pally from use of accelerated depreciat ion in tax returns , renta l paymen t s 
minus debt service costs, and the es t imated residual values of equ ipment 
leased. 

1.30 Leasing a r r angemen t s also m a y be categorized as transactional, 
involving direct negotiat ions between a lessor and lessee, and as vendor 
leasing. Transac t iona l lease f inancing tends to be a t ime-consuming and 
expensive process t h a t is economically feasible only for t ransact ions suffi-
ciently large to generate profits in excess of the costs of prepar ing custom-
made leases. Vendor leasing has developed to f inance asset acquisit ions t h a t 
would not be prof i table to f inance with t ransact ional leasing a r rangements . 
Vendor leasing involves a th i rd -pa r ty lessor t ha t offers a vendor 's or manufac -
turer ' s customers a basic f inance package. The lessor usually establishes 
interest ra tes within given dollar ranges and uses a s tandard ized credit scoring 
process to approve credit and keep documenta t ion simple. As a result, vendors 
are p rompt ly paid for sales and avoid the need to perform in-house f inancing 
operations. 

1.31 Finance companies also m a y serve as lease brokers—that is, as 
intermediar ies between lessors and lessees for a fee. The June 20, 1980, AICPA 
issues paper , Accounting by Lease Brokers, and FASB Technical Bulletin 86-2, 
Accounting for an Interest in the Residual Value of a Leased Asset Acquired 
by a Third Party or Retained by a Lessor That Sells the Related Minimum 
Rental Payments, provide addi t ional informat ion on lease broker arrange-
ments. Copies of the issues paper are avai lable from the AICPA. 
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Participations 
1.32 Commercia l f inance companies sometimes enter into par t ic ipa t ion 

agreements with other lenders to ma in ta in acceptable levels of risk or to 
provide the borrowers with lower costs or addi t ional services. The agreements 
generally provide for losses to be shared mainly in proportion to the cash 
invested by each pa r ty . 

Debt Financing of Finance Companies 
1.33 The basic ac t iv i ty of f inance companies is borrowing money a t 

wholesale and lending it a t retail . F inance companies usually are leveraged 
with outs tanding borrowings equal to several t imes equi ty . Finance companies 
m a y have senior debt , senior subordinated debt , and junior subordinated debt . 
The existence of restr ict ive covenants in debt agreements is common. 

1.34 Rober t Morris Associates, an organizat ion of bank lending officers, 
has developed f inancial informat ion quest ionnaires for lenders engaged in 
retail sales f inancing, direct cash lending, commercial f inancing, capt ive 
f inancing activit ies, and mortgage banking. Finance companies generally 
complete and submit the quest ionnaires to credit grantors as an integral pa r t 
of the process of obtaining credit lines with commercial banks and other 
lenders. The informat ion is used to analyze the qua l i ty of the operat ions and 
creditworthiness of f inance companies. 

Regulation 
1.35 Numerous s ta te and federal s ta tu tes af fec t f inance companies ' 

operations. Some s ta tu tes app ly only to specific types of activit ies. Regulat ions 
af fect ing f inance companies generally are l imited to ma t t e r s such as loan 
amounts , r epaymen t terms, interest rates, and collateral; they generally do not 
deal with f inancial accounting and reporting. 

Direct Consumer Lending 
1.36 Sta te laws regulat ing consumer f inance operat ions are designated as 

licensed-lending, small-loan, or consumer-f inancing s ta tu tes . Diverse s ta te 
s ta tu tes usually regulate mortgage loans and other direct consumer loans. 
Usually, each branch office of a company t h a t makes direct consumer loans 
must be licensed by the s ta te in which the office is located. S ta te licensing 
authori t ies, m a n y of which are divisions of s ta te banking depar tmen t s , ex-
amine loans to ascer ta in t h a t they comply with s t a tu to ry provisions and to 
de termine whether rebates and refunds are properly computed. 

Retail Sales Financing 
1.37 Laws governing retai l sales f inancing m a y require offices to be 

licensed or registered. The laws va ry widely among states. For example, all 
goods statutes m a y govern consumer goods loans; other goods laws m a y govern 
loans for consumer goods excluding automobiles. Addit ional s t a tu te s may 
affect revolving credit a r rangements . 

Federal Consumer Credit Protection Act 
1.38 The Federal Consumer Credi t Protect ion Act (Tru th in Lending 

Act), through Federal Reserve Regulat ion Z, requires disclosure of f inance 
charges and annua l percentage rates so t h a t consumers can more readily 
compare various credit terms. I t does not set max imum or min imum rates of 
charges. 
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Uniform Commercial Code 
1.39 The Uniform Commercial Code (UCC), fully adopted by all states, 

except Louisiana, a t the da t e of issuing this guide, is a set of s t a tu tes designed 
to provide consistency among s ta te laws concerning various commercial t rans-
actions. Article 9 of the UCC, which deals with secured t ransact ions, contains 
especially significant laws t ha t a f fec t f inancing activit ies. I t applies to two-
p a r t y collateralized loan t ransact ions as well as to sales of accounts receivable 
and retail sales contracts , which are essentially th ree-par ty t ransact ions. 

1.40 Article 9 generally provides cer ta in r ights to the secured par t ies and 
the debtors involved in secured t ransact ions. The definit ion of a secured p a r t y 
includes a lender who obta ins a securi ty interest as well as a buyer of t r ade 
accounts receivable or retail sales contracts . Similarly, the definit ion of a 
debtor includes both the individual obligor and the seller of t r ade accounts 
receivable or retail sales contracts . 

1.41 Under Article 9, all t ransact ions creat ing a securi ty interest are 
t rea ted alike. The Article sets forth various procedures necessary to safeguard, 
or perfect, the potent ia l creditor 's interest in collateral against the interests of 
other creditors. Those procedures generally require t h a t the creditor file a 
financing statement a t a specified public office. The s t a t ement , avai lable for 
public inspection, provides legal notice of a perfected securi ty interest . Conse-
quent ly , before making collateralized loans, prospective lenders generally 
search the public files to de termine if other lenders have a l ready filed f inanc-
ing s t a t ements against the collateral. 

1.42 For cer tain commercial f inancing activit ies, Article 9 permi ts contin-
uing general lien arrangements, in which a securi ty interest applies continu-
ously to all present and fu tu r e collateral of the type described in the f inancing 
s t a t emen t for as long as the f inancing s t a t emen t is effective. T h a t provision 
simplifies, for example, main ta in ing securi ty interests in purchased receiv-
ables and in collateral securing revolving loans. The underlying collateral 
becomes subject to the securi ty interest as soon as it comes into existence or 
into the debtor 's possession. 

1.43 The f inancing s t a t emen t is generally effect ive for five years f rom the 
da te of filing and then lapses, unless a continuation statement is filed within 
the six-month period before the expirat ion date . The cont inuat ion s t a t emen t 
extends the securi ty interest for another five years. 
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Chapter 2 

Finance Receivables, Finance Income, and 
Operating Procedures 

2.01 Finance receivables normally are the most significant portion of a 
finance company's total assets. This chapter describes many aspects of ac-
counting for and audit ing finance receivables and related accounts. 

Accounting for Finance Receivables 
2.02 Finance receivables include both interest-bearing (simple interest) 

and precompute (discount) loans. State regulatory laws often prescribe the 
types of loans tha t can be made; otherwise, the type of loan is a mat te r of 
operating and customer choice. The face amount of an interest-bearing loan 
equals the amount of cash loaned; unearned interest is not determined. In a 
discount loan, however, the amount of cash loaned to the borrower is less than 
the face amount of the loan. The difference represents unearned interest 
income to be earned by the lender over the life of the loan. The borrower 
generally is entitled to pay less than the remaining unpaid face amount if the 
balance due on a discount loan is paid off faster than contractually scheduled. 
Tha t difference, commonly called a rebate, represents a cancellation of a 
portion of the precomputed interest charge. 

2.03 Sales-type leases and direct financing leases are substantially similar 
to other forms of installment loans. However, accounting for lease transactions 
may differ from accounting for other financing transactions. FASB Statement 
No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and its related amendments and interpreta-
tions prescribe accounting for leases and their financial s ta tement presenta-
tion. 

Accounting for the Allowance for Loan Losses 
2.04 A finance company should maintain a reasonable allowance for 

credit losses applicable to all categories of receivables through periodic charges 
to operating expenses. The amount of the provision can be considered reasona-
ble when the allowance for credit losses, including the current provision, is 
adequate to cover estimated losses in the receivables portfolio. 

2.05 The allowance for loan losses reduces the carrying amount of loans 
receivable to the amount tha t is estimated to be collectible. FASB Statement 
No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies, and FASB Interpreta t ion No. 14, Reason-
able Estimation of the Amount of a Loss, provide the accounting guidance for 
recognition of estimated losses from the uncollectibility of receivables. FASB 
Statement No. 5 requires tha t an allowance for credit losses be established 
through a charge to the provision for loan losses in the period when it is 
probable tha t an asset has been impaired and the amount can be reasonably 
estimated. FASB Statement No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment 
of a Loan, addresses the accounting by creditors for impairment of certain 
loans. I t is applicable to all creditors and to all loans, uncollateralized as well 
as collateralized, except large groups of smaller-balance homogeneous loans 
tha t are collectively evaluated for impairment, loans tha t are measured at fair 
value or at the lower of cost or fair value, leases, and debt securities as defined 
in FASB Statement No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and 
Equity Securities. I t applies to all loans tha t are restructured in a troubled 
debt restructuring involving a modification of terms. FASB Statement No. 114 
requires tha t impaired loans tha t are within its scope be measured based on 
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the present value of expected fu tu r e cash flows discounted a t the loan's 
effect ive interest ra te or, as a pract ical expedient, a t the loan's observable 
marke t price or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral 
dependent . FASB S ta t emen t No. 114 amends FASB S ta t emen t No. 5 to clar ify 
t ha t a creditor should evalua te the collectibility of both cont rac tua l interest 
and cont rac tua l pr incipal of all receivables when assessing the need for a loss 
accrual . The S ta t emen t also amends FASB S ta t emen t No. 15, Accounting by 
Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings, to require a creditor 
to measure all loans t h a t are res t ruc tured in a t roubled debt res t ruc tur ing 
involving a modificat ion of t e rms in accordance with FASB S ta t emen t No. 
114. FASB S ta t emen t No. 114 applies to all f inancial s t a t ements for fiscal 
years beginning a f t e r December 15, 1994. 

2.06 FASB S ta t emen t No. 5, prohibi ts recognizing losses if the events 
causing the losses have not yet occurred. The act of lending money generally is 
not the event t h a t causes asset impa i rmen t . Though some credit losses can be 
predicted, fu tu re losses should not be provided for a t the t ime loans are made, 
because the events t h a t cause the losses or loan impa i rmen t (for example, loss 
of employment , disabili ty, or b a n k r u p t c y ) have not yet occurred. Generally, a 
loan would be impaired a t origination only if a fau l ty credit g ran t ing decision 
has been made or loan credit review procedures are inadequa te or overly 
aggressive, in which case, the loss should be recognized a t the da te of loan 
origination. Managemen t ' s analysis of historical loan loss experience may 
ident i fy specific factors t h a t indicate t h a t loans have become impaired. Those 
factors, when evalua ted collectively for loan portfolios over a period of t ime, 
often provide reasonably reliable indications of when such loss events have 
occurred. 

2.07 M a n y consumer f inance companies de te rmine the allowance for 
credit losses using the portfolio approach because performing a receivable-by-
receivable analysis would be impract ica l . In the portfolio approach, mathe-
mat ica l models t h a t incorporate techniques such as linear regression analysis 
sometimes are used to es t imate losses in the portfolio. Simpler methods also are 
used, such as es t imat ing the reserve based on the historical percentage of loans 
made or ou ts tanding t h a t are wri t ten off. 

2.08 Other f inance companies periodically eva lua te specific ou ts tanding 
loans to ident i fy those loans for which events have occurred t h a t are likely to 
impair collectibility or collateral values, or both. This approach is more 
commonly used for large loans and diverse portfolios. 

2.09 Regardless of the method used to es t imate the allowance for credit 
losses, present conditions such as the amoun t of del inquent receivables and the 
number of days they are past due; local, nat ional , and in terna t ional economic 
trends; credit policies and procedures; and the mix of receivables should be 
taken into account in eva lua t ing the adequacy of the allowance. 

Accounting for Interest Income 
2.10 The distinction between interest-bearing and discount-basis loans 

has no economic or accounting significance. P a r a g r a p h 15 of APB Opinion No. 
21, Interest on Receivables and Payables, requires, among other things, t h a t 
discounts on receivables and payables be amort ized as interest income or 
expense. The concepts and principles discussed in this chapte r therefore apply 
to both types of loans. 

2.11 In teres t income should be measured and recognized in a manne r t h a t 
reflects the economic substance of the underlying t ransact ions. In te res t in-
come derived from a loan accrues continuously at a constant ra te over the 
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periods t h a t a f inance company ' s resources are held by others. The following 
const i tute the major factors t h a t de te rmine interest income: 

a. The amoun t of money provided to others 
b. The periods over which the money is provided 
c. The effect ive interest ra te 

2.12 Cap t ive f inance companies t h a t offer favorable f inancing to increase 
sales of related companies m a y present par t icu la r problems. APB Opinion No. 
21 provides accounting guidance to use if the face amoun t of a note does not 
reasonably represent the present value of the consideration given or received 
in an exchange. 

Measurement 
2.13 The interest (ac tuar ia l ) method should be used to account for 

interest income in accordance with FASB S ta t emen t No. 91, Accounting for 
Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated With Originating or Acquiring 
Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases. Under t h a t method, interest on fixed-
ra te ins ta l lment loans is measured and accrued over the lives of the loans to 
produce constant ra tes of interest (yields) when applied to the outs tanding 
loan balances a t any t ime in the lives of the loans. Applicat ion of the method 
produces loans carried a t amounts equal to fu tu re receipts discounted a t 
interest ra tes implicit in original loan agreements , excluding differences result-
ing from credit losses. Other computa t iona l methods m a y not be used unless 
they clearly produce results t ha t reasonably approx imate the interest (ac tua-
rial) method. 

Recognition 
2.14 A f inance company ' s revenues from loans should be accrued over 

t ime in accordance with the te rms of the contracts using the interest (actua-
rial) method. Even if collections are not t imely, the amounts a t which assets 
are recorded in the form of receivables generally should continue to increase. If 
collection is not probable, however, continuing to accrue income would not 
reflect economic substance. Accruals or amort iza t ion of discount and, in 
accordance with FASB S ta t emen t No. 91, pa rag raph 17, amor t iza t ion of 
deferred net fees or costs should therefore be suspended if collectibility of 
interest or pr incipal is not probable. The following are examples of events t h a t 
could cause such unce r t a in ty on consumer loans: 

a. The borrower is in defaul t under the te rms of the loan agreement , 
and interest or pr incipal paymen t s are past due (often a s t ipula ted 
number of days past due as established in company policies). 

b. The abi l i ty of the borrower to repay is in doubt because of events 
such as loss of employment or bankrup tcy . 

c. The loan t e rms have been renegotiated. 

2.15 Iden t i fy ing commercial loans on which interest should be suspended 
is, a t least mechanical ly, more diff icul t because, unlike consumer loans, 
commercial loans usually lack homogeneous characteris t ics . In addi t ion to the 
factors described above, considerations m a y include w h e t h e r — 

a. Significant unsecured balances are due f rom debtors suffering con-
t inued operat ing losses. 

b. The f inancial condition of the debtor is weak. 
c. The outlook for the debtor 's indus t ry is unfavorable . 
d. The rat io of collateral values to loans has decreased because of 

changes in marke t conditions. 
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e. A portion of the unpaid principal or accrued interest has been 
wri t ten off. 

When recognition of interest has been suspended, interest income t h a t has 
accrued on such loans should not be reversed even though receipt of those 
amounts m a y not be forthcoming. The potent ia l uncollectibili ty of such 
amounts should be taken into consideration in the computa t ion of the allow-
ance for losses. 

2.16 Accrual of interest generally should not be resumed unti l f u tu re 
collectibility of the loan and accrued interest becomes probable. Dete rmin ing 
fu tu re collectibility is a m a t t e r of judgment t h a t depends on considerations 
such a s— 

• Whe the r the customer has resumed making regular paymen t s for a 
cer ta in number of instal lments. 

• Whe the r the reason for the customer 's del inquency has been elimi-
na ted (such as reemployment of a consumer borrower or an im-
proved economic outlook for a commercial borrower) or was an 
isolated c i rcumstance unlikely to recur. 

• Whether an increase in the rat io of collateral values to loan amounts 
has occurred. 

• Whether there are any other subs tant ive indications of the cus-
tomer 's regaining an abi l i ty to repay the loan. 

Nonrefundable Fees 
2.17 Finance companies m a y charge various types of fees to customers in 

connection with lending t ransact ions, including the following: 
a. Origination fees—amounts charged for o r ig ina t ing loans. The 

amounts may be intended to cover the cost of underwri t ing, loan 
appl icat ion processing, and reviewing legal tit les to propert ies in-
volved in the loans. Origination fees commonly are called points. 

b. Commitment fees—consideration potent ia l borrowers pay to poten-
tial lenders for promises to lend money in the fu ture . 

c. Delinquency fees—amounts debtors pay because of late paymen t s 
on loans. Such fees generally are small and are intended to cover 
addi t ional interest on precompute loans, to compensate the lender 
for addi t ional collection costs associated with delinquencies, or both. 

d. Prepayment penalties—amounts borrowers pay to lenders, in addi-
tion to remaining outs tanding principal , if borrowers pay off loans 
prior to cont rac tua l matur i t ies . 

2.18 FASB S ta t emen t No. 91 prescribes account ing for nonrefundable 
fees and costs associated with lending, commit t ing to lend, or purchasing a 
loan or group of loans and their f inancial s t a t emen t presentat ion. FASB 
S ta t emen t No. 91 specifies t h a t — 

• Loan origination fees shall be recognized over the life of the related 
loan as an ad ju s tmen t to yield. 

• Cer ta in direct loan origination costs shall be recognized over the life 
of the related loan as a reduction of the loan's yield. 

• All loan commi tmen t fees shall be deferred except for cer tain retro-
spectively de termined fees; commi tmen t fees meet ing specified cri-
teria shall be recognized over the loan commi tment period; all other 
commi tment fees shall be recognized as an ad jus tmen t of yield over 
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the related loan's life or, if the commi tmen t expires unexercised, 
recognized in income upon expirat ion of the commi tment . 

• Loan fees, cer ta in direct loan origination costs, and purchase premi-
ums and discounts on loans shall be recognized as an ad ju s tmen t of 
yield generally by the interest method based on the cont rac tua l 
t e rms of the loan. P repaymen t s , however, m a y be an t ic ipa ted in 
cer ta in circumstances. 

2.19 Del inquency fees conceptual ly should be recognized in income when 
chargeable, assuming collectibility is reasonably est imable. In pract ice, delin-
quency fees generally are recognized in income when collected, because t h a t 
approach simplifies efforts to account for such relat ively minor receipts. 

2.20 P r e p a y m e n t penalt ies should not be recognized in income unti l loans 
are prepaid. 

Rebates 
2.21 Reba tes are cancellations of portions of the precomputed f inance 

charges on discount loans t h a t occur when loan p a y m e n t s are made ahead of 
schedule. Reba te calculations generally are governed by s ta te laws and m a y 
differ from unamort ized f inance charges on discount loans because m a n y 
s ta tes require reba te calculations to be based on the Rule of 78s or other 
methods instead of the interest method. Accrual of interest income on discount 
loans should not be af fec ted by the possibility t h a t rebates m a y be calculated 
on a method di f ferent f rom the interest method. Differences between reba te 
calculations and accrual of interest income merely ad jus t original es t imates of 
interest income and should be recognized in income when loans are prepaid or 
renewed. 

Accounting for Factoring Commissions 
2.22 F inance companies consider the extent of services to be provided 

under factor ing a r r angemen t s by reviewing prospective clients' business oper-
ations. The amoun t a f inance company charges as a factor ing commission is 
based on such considerations as sales volume, number of invoices issued 
monthly, collection activit ies, and pa t t e rns of re turns and chargebacks. If the 
f inance company buys a client 's receivables, the client is charged a commis-
sion, usually based on a percentage of receivables purchased, which is derived 
from the extent of services expected to be provided and the degree of credit 
risk assumed. 

2.23 F inance companies should recognize factor ing commissions over the 
periods in which services are rendered. Those periods begin when f inance 
companies approve customers ' credit and end when the customers ' accounts 
are settled. In practice, f inance companies generally recognize factor ing com-
missions when receivables are bought , not over the longer period of providing 
services, because the differences between the effects of such allocations and the 
effects of immedia te recognition generally would be immater ia l . If the differ-
ences between the effects of such allocations and the effects of immedia te 
recognition are mater ia l , then factor ing commissions are recognized over the 
longer period of providing services. 

Accounting for Advances and Overadvances to 
Factoring Clients 

2.24 Under advance factor ing a r rangements , f inance companies generally 
do not t r ea t advances to clients as receivables for f inancial s t a t emen t pur-
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poses. Ins tead , advances are applied against amounts owed to clients f rom the 
purchase of clients' customer receivables. Such t r e a t m e n t is sound and is based 
on f inance companies ' expectat ions of r epaymen t through collection of cus-
tomer receivables ra ther t han of direct r e p a y m e n t f rom clients. 

2.25 F inance companies generally limit advances to percentages of the 
unpaid amounts of factored receivables. If clients require advances in excess of 
the max imum permi t t ed under the factor ing a r rangements , f inance companies 
may renegotiate the percentage l imitat ion on advances or require clients to 
grant security interests in inventory or other assets. Overadvances, which are 
amounts in excess of ou ts tanding receivables bought, create addi t ional credit 
risk exposure for lenders. Such overadvances should be recorded as loans 
receivable and segregated f rom customer receivables bought under factor ing 
ar rangements . 

Accounting for Repossessed Assets Acquired in 
Liquidation of Receivables 

2.26 When f inance companies foreclose on loans deemed uncollectible, 
they may repossess goods or other propert ies t h a t collateralize loans. After 
repossession, collateral usually is sold as quickly as possible to minimize losses. 
Repossessed assets acquired in loan l iquidations m a y be significant because 
they absorb or reduce credit losses from defaul ted loans. 

2.27 Cer ta in types of collateral may be readily salable in wholesale or 
other markets . Repossessions of such collateral are common. Repossessions of 
other types of collateral, such as household goods, usually entail losses because 
the marke t values of such collateral are so low tha t costs of repossession exceed 
expected sale proceeds. The p r imary purpose of such collateral of ten is to 
p rompt borrowers to repay loans out of concern t h a t the collateral could be 
repossessed. 

2.28 Repossessions on commercial loans can result in subs tan t ia l losses 
because of the bargain prices usually associated with reselling inventories and 
property, p lant , and equ ipment . Auctioneers or other specialists may be 
needed to help sell the specialized types of propert ies t ha t usually collateralize 
commercial loans. 

Recourse Arrangements on Sales of Retail Contracts 
2.29 Whether the f inance company or the dealers are responsible for 

repossession losses originating from retail contracts depends on how the agree-
ments provide for recourse between the part ies. Te rms of recourse arrange-
ments, which va ry considerably, include the following: 

a. Full recourse. The dealer is required to pay off the uncollected 
receivable balance to the f inance company at the da te of reposses-
sion. Such balances ordinari ly are net of unearned insurance premi-
ums and f inance income, and dealers are responsible for selling the 
repossessed proper ty . 

b. Partial or limited recourse. The dealer is liable for repossession losses 
up to an agreed amount (for example, the balance in his dealer 's 
reserve account) . The dealer 's l iabili ty also may be par t ia l ly or fully 
l imited a f t e r passage of a defined period. 

c. Nonrecourse. Loss is borne entirely by the f inance company. 

2.30 Repurchase agreements , which m a y incorporate recourse provisions 
as described above, also m a y exist between the f inance company and dealers. 
Although such agreements vary , they generally provide t h a t the dealer will 
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buy back the collateral f rom the f inance company at a predetermined price in 
the event of customer defaul t and repossession by the f inance company. The 
dealer may settle a repurchase obligation in cash or, if pe rmi t t ed by the 
f inance company, by subs t i tu t ing other retail contracts . 

Lower of Unpaid Balance and Fair Value 

2.31 Borrowers' accounts should be credited for the unpaid loan balances 
or fair values of repossessed properties, whichever are lower. Borrowers' ac-
counts also are credited for proceeds f rom cancellation of insurance, rebates of 
unearned f inance income, and, if applicable, amounts t ransfer red from dealer 
reserves in accordance with provisions of retail sales f inancing agreements . 
The remaining balances in the borrowers' accounts, commonly called defi-
ciency balances, are ad jus tmen t s of previous loss es t imates and should be 
charged to the allowance for losses. In those instances in which proceeds from 
the sale of repossessed propert ies exceed the unpa id loan balance and are not 
required to be refunded, t ha t excess should be recognized as a gain. 

2.32 Repossessed assets * should be carried a t cost and classified on the 
balance sheet as other assets. Cost should be de termined at the t ime of 
repossession or foreclosure based on the lower of (a) unpaid loan balance and 
(b) fair value of repossessed assets. 

2.33 If repossessed assets are held or likely to be held for more than a 
brief period of t ime prior to sale, cost (as defined in pa rag raph 2.32 above) 
should periodically be evalua ted for recoverabil i ty, and a separate , addi t ional 
valuat ion allowance for loss should be provided based on "ne t realizable va lue" 
determined as follows: 

a. Es t ima ted fu tu re sales price plus proceeds from use during the 
expected holding period, reduced by 

b. E s t ima ted costs of disposition, and reduced by 

c. Es t ima ted holding costs, such as taxes and main tenance , including 
the cost of funds tied up in holding such assets. The cost of funds 
should be based on the enterprise 's combined cost of debt and 
equity. 

2.34 Costs of capi ta l improvements incurred in readying repossessed 
assets for sale t ha t increase their values should be added to the carrying 
amount of the repossessed proper ty . However, no amount should be capital ized 
t ha t would increase the carrying amount above net realizable value. Differ-
ences between the carrying amounts of repossessed assets and amounts a t 
which they subsequent ly are sold should not be charged or credited to the 
allowance for losses bu t should be recognized as gains or losses. 

2.35 Although the account ing for repossessed assets should be based on 
fair values in accordance with FASB S ta tement No. 15 and SOP 92-3, it m a y 
be impract ica l to es t imate the fair values of some repossessed consumer goods. 
As a pract ical solution to t h a t problem, f inance companies t h a t expect to hold 
such repossessed goods for only short periods before reselling them sometimes 
carry those goods a t the unpaid loan balances. 

* SOP 92-3, Accounting for Foreclosed Assets, provides guidance on determining the balance 
sheet treatment of foreclosed assets after foreclosure. The SOP, which is included as Appendix C of 
this guide, should be applied to foreclosed assets in financial statements for periods ending on or 
after December 15, 1992. 
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Accounting for Dealer Reserves and Holdbacks 
2.36 Finance companies account for dealer reserves and holdbacks as 

liabilities. Dealer reserve accounts are credited for the cont rac tua l ly agreed 
dealer 's share of the f inance charges. Dealer reserve accounts m a y be charged 
for portions of f inance income not earned as a result of customers paying off 
contracts before ma tu r i t y . Charges also result from losses on full or par t ia l 
recourse contracts and from paymen t s to dealers in excess of m i n i m u m 
requirements . 

Accounting for Sales of Receivables 
2.37 A f inance company may sell a portfolio of receivables to another 

f inance company or f inancial inst i tut ion for various reasons. For example, the 
buyer m a y be willing to pay an a t t r ac t ive p remium for a portfolio of receiv-
ables to expand its operations, or the seller m a y be seeking to end operat ions in 
an area deemed unprof i table . 

2.38 If those receivables contain recourse provisions, FASB S ta t emen t No. 
77, Reporting by Transferors for Transfers of Receivables With Recourse, 
controls whether such t ransact ions should be accounted for as sales of receiv-
ables or as loans collateralized by receivables. The s t anda rd generally requires 
recognizing such a t ransfer as a sale if the t ransferor surrenders control of 
fu tu re economic benefi ts embodied in the receivables, the t ransferor ' s obliga-
tion under the recourse provisions can be reasonably es t imated, and the 
t ransferee cannot require the t ransferor to repurchase the receivables except 
pu r suan t to the recourse provisions. 

Financial Statement Presentation and Disclosure 
2.39 Discount loans and interest-bearing loans should be presented simi-

larly on the balance sheet, because the economic substance of the t ransact ions 
is essentially the same. To accomplish tha t , discount loans should be presented 
net of unearned interest . Although disclosure of interest t ha t is accrued bu t 
not collected on interest-bearing loans m a y be meaningful , disclosure of the 
unearned interest generally is not meaningful . If unearned interest on discount 
loans is disclosed, such disclosures should be in the notes and not in the number 
columns of the balance sheet. 

2.40 The unamort ized balance of loan origination, commi tmen t , and 
other fees and costs and purchase p remiums and discounts t h a t is being 
recognized as an ad ju s tmen t to yield should be classified on the balance sheet 
as pa r t of the loan balance to which it relates. Amounts of loan origination, 
commitment , and other fees and costs recognized as an ad ju s tmen t to yield 
should be reported as pa r t of interest income. Amort izat ion of other fees, such 
as commi tment fees t ha t are being amort ized on a straight-l ine basis over the 
commi tmen t period or included in income when the commi tmen t expires, 
should be included with service fee income. 

2.41 The allowance for credit losses should be deducted from receivables 
in the balance sheet. The provision for credit losses should be presented 
separate ly as an expense i tem in the income s t a t ement . An analysis of the 
changes in the allowance for credit losses should be included in the notes to the 
f inancial s ta tements . See FASB S ta t emen t No. 114 for disclosure requi rements 
t ha t are appl icable to f inancial s t a t emen t s for fiscal years beginning a f t e r 
December 15, 1994. 

2.42 The composition of f inance receivables should be disclosed either in 
the balance sheet or in the notes to the f inancial s t a t emen t s in a manne r t h a t 
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best sets forth the kinds of risks and l iquidi ty involved. The amoun t of accrued 
interest should be included in the f inance receivables bu t need not be disclosed 
separately. The amount of nonearning assets represented by consumer and 
commercial loans for which accruals have been suspended (see pa rag raphs 2.14 
to 2.16 of this guide) should be disclosed separately. 

2.43 FASB S ta t emen t No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and related amend-
ments and in terpre ta t ions provide guidance on accounting and f inancial 
report ing for leases. 

2.44 The expanded possible range in size and t e rm of receivables within 
each receivable type has created a need for disclosure of informat ion about 
terms and matur i t ies . Though disclosure of cont rac tua l matur i t i es may meet 
tha t need, such da ta will not always be relevant . For example, ac tua l repay-
ment experience often is fas ter t han contrac tual ly required for consumer loans. 
If c i rcumstances indicate t h a t da t a on cont rac tua l matur i t i es are not relevant , 
disclosure of da t a on prior collection experience also should be considered. 

2.45 Financial s t a t ements should disclose interest and f inance charges 
earned separate ly f rom other kinds of income, such as insurance premiums. In 
addit ion, the summary of significant accounting policies should explain the 
method of income recognition used. Policies for suspending and resuming 
accruals of income on del inquent loans and policies for charging off uncollecti-
ble loans should clearly disclose the basis for making such decisions. If the 
charge-off policy is based on a specific del inquency period, t h a t period should 
be disclosed. Vague s t a t ements such as "consumer loans are charged off when 
considered to be uncollectible" are not meaningfu l and fail to disclose the 
substance of such policies. 

2.46 FASB S ta t emen t No. 57, Related Party Disclosures, prescribes 
cer tain disclosures of mater ia l related p a r t y t ransact ions. Such t ransact ions 
may include loans to officers, directors, and employees. 

2.47 FASB S ta t emen t No. 105, Disclosure of Information About Financial 
Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk and Financial Instruments with 
Concentrations of Credit Risk, requires cer tain disclosures of f inancial instru-
ments with off-balance-sheet credit or marke t risk and disclosure of significant 
concentrat ions of credit risk for all f inancial ins t ruments . 

Audit Objectives for Receivables and Income 
2.48 An audi t of f inance receivables and f inance income should be 

designed to provide reasonable assurance t h a t — 

a. Loans and receivables are valid obligations owed to the en t i ty a t the 
da te of the f inancial s ta tements . 

b. The allowance for related losses is adequa te to provide for es t imated 
losses in the loan portfolio a t the da te of the f inancial s ta tements . 

c. Accrued interest revenues for the period on both interest-bearing 
and precompute loans have been properly recorded. 

d. Provisions for credit losses have been properly recorded. 

e. Adequate disclosures, including proper disclosure of any pledged or 
assigned receivables, are included in the f inancial s ta tements . 

f . Deferred loan origination costs are properly s ta ted and amort iza t ion 
is properly computed. 
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Audit Planning 
2.49 The aud i t procedures performed in connection with the allowance for 

credit losses typical ly are t ime-consuming and are most eff icient when initi-
a ted early in the fieldwork. Because of the subjective na tu re of the loan review 
process, experienced audi t personnel, p referab ly with prior f inance company 
audi t ing experience and, if necessary, with knowledge of industries in which 
the f inance company 's loans are concentra ted , should closely supervise or 
perform this section of the audi t . The assigned audi t staff should also under-
s tand the lending envi ronment , including credit s t ra tegy, credit risk, and the 
lending policies, procedures, and control envi ronment of the f inance company, 
and should be famil iar with known related par t ies and related p a r t y t ransac-
tions. 

2.50 The overriding factor in the credit extension process is the amoun t of 
credit risk associated with the lending process, which is addressed early in the 
audi tor ' s review of the f inance company 's business and control envi ronment . 
For individual loans, credit risk per ta ins to the borrower 's abi l i ty and willing-
ness to pay and is assessed before credit is g ran ted or renewed and periodically 
throughout the loan term. 

2.51 Addit ional risks, however, are involved in the overall credit process, 
and the f inance company should assess t hem when developing credit s t ra tegy, 
defining ta rge t markets , and designing proper controls over credit ini t iat ion 
and credit supervision. Those addit ional risks include the following: 

a. Collateral risk. The f inance company m a y be exposed to loss on 
collateralized loans if its securi ty interest is not perfected or the 
collateral is not otherwise under its control, or if the value of the 
collateral declines. 

b. Concentration risk. I n a d e q u a t e diversification of the loan portfolio 
in te rms of d i f ferent industries, geographic regions, or number of 
borrowers m a y result in significant losses. A high concentrat ion of 
loans to companies in an indus t ry experiencing economic problems, 
for example, would const i tute a concentrat ion risk. 

c. Fraud risk. Loans m a y expose the f inance company to loss by not 
being either bona fide or arm's- length t ransact ions. 

d. Insider risk. Loans to executive officers, directors, and principal 
shareholders of the f inance company and related interests of such 
insiders m a y expose the f inance company to loss if these loans are 
made to related individuals, companies, or both, with li t t le credit 
history, or to newly organized or highly leveraged enterprises with 
insufficient collateral and inadequa te f inancial informat ion. 

e. Legal and regulatory risk. Illegally granted loans, loans with usuri-
ous interest rates, and loans with te rms t h a t are not adequa te ly 
disclosed to the borrower m a y expose the f inance company to loss. 

f. Management risk. Managemen t ' s competence, judgment , and integ-
r i ty in originating, disbursing, supervising, collecting, and reviewing 
loans could subs tant ia l ly af fec t the collectibility of loans. 

g. Operations risk. Funds might be disbursed without proper loan 
author iza t ion , collateral documenta t ion , or loan documenta t ion . 
Fai lure to eva lua te and monitor potent ia l ly uncollectible loans also 
const i tutes an operat ions risk. 
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2.52 Audit risk and mate r ia l i ty are considered together in de termining 
the na ture , t iming, and extent of audi t ing procedures and in evalua t ing the 
results of those procedures. SAS No. 47, Audit Risk and Materiality in 
Conducting an Audit, provides guidance on audi t risk and mate r ia l i ty as they 
relate to planning and performing an audi t . 

2.53 Audit risk and mate r ia l i ty are considered initially a t the f inancial 
s t a t emen t level in order to limit the risk of undetec ted mater ia l miss ta tement 
of the f inancial s t a t emen t s t aken as a whole to a low level. However, the 
audi tor should also consider audi t risk a t the account level ( t ha t is, allowance 
for credit losses) to assist in de termining the scope of audi t ing procedures for 
the par t icu la r account balance or class of t ransact ion. Because the loan 
portfolio is usually the f inance company ' s largest asset, and the allowance for 
credit losses is, to a significant extent , based on subjective judgments , the 
allowance is usually a high-risk aud i t area. 

2.54 Ef fec t ive loan review and in ternal audi t depa r tmen t s can provide 
valuable assistance to the audi tor and improve aud i t efficiency. Discussions 
with loan review and in ternal aud i t staff can provide the audi tor with 
information concerning loan customers, related p a r t y t ransact ions, and ac-
count histories t ha t may not be readily avai lable elsewhere. I n addit ion, 
because it is sometimes directly involved in implement ing control systems, the 
internal audi t d e p a r t m e n t can provide the audi tor with impor t an t system 
descriptions. 

2.55 Sometimes the loan review and in ternal aud i t depa r tmen t s ' tes t ing 
procedures are of such qua l i ty t h a t the audi tor m a y conclude t h a t it would be 
efficient to consider the work of the loan review and internal audi t s taffs in 
determining the na ture , t iming and extent of aud i t procedures. SAS No. 65, 
The Auditor's Consideration of the Internal Audit Function in an Audit of 
Financial Statements, provides the audi tor with guidance on considering the 
work of in ternal audi tors and on using in ternal audi tors to provide direct 
assistance to the audi tor in an aud i t performed in accordance with generally 
accepted audi t ing s tandards . 

2.56 In establishing the scope of the work to be performed, the audi tor 
normally considers the following factors: 

a. Composition of the loan portfolio 
b. Ident i f ied potent ia l problem loans 
c. Trends in loan volume by major categories, especially categories 

experiencing rapid growth, and in delinquencies, nonaccrual , and 
res t ruc tured loans 

d. Previous loss and recovery experience, including t imeliness of 
charge-offs 

e. Concentra t ions of loans to individuals and their related interests, 
industries, and geographic regions 

f . Size of individual credit exposures (few, large loans versus numer-
ous, small loans) 

g. Ex ten t of use of work performed by internal loan review and 
internal aud i t funct ions 

h. Tota l amoun t of loans and problem loans, including del inquent and 
nonaccrual loans, by b ranch 

i. Lending, charge-off, collection, and recovery policies and procedures 
j. Local, nat ional , and in ternat ional economic and envi ronmenta l con-

ditions 
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k. Experience, competence, and depth of lending m a n a g e m e n t and 
staff 

l. Results of regulatory examinat ions 
m. Rela ted p a r t y lending 

Internal Control Structure 
2.57 An overview of the various in ternal control s t ruc ture policies and 

procedures per ta in ing to f inance receivables and related accounts is included 
in the next section of this chapter . Although not all in ternal control s t ruc ture 
policies and procedures identif ied are found in every f inance company, the 
following section lists considerations t h a t m a y provide guidance in obta in ing 
an unders tanding of the in ternal control s t ruc ture and assessing control risk. 

Receivables and Income 
2.58 In te rna l control s t ruc ture policies and procedures per ta in ing to loans 

are de termined pa r t l y by the type of loan and the related risks involved. In 
obtaining an unders tand ing of the in ternal control s t ruc ture policies and 
procedures and to assess control risk per ta in ing to loan t ransact ions, m a t t e r s 
the audi tor might consider include w h e t h e r — 

• Dut ies are segregated. 
• Loans are made only in accordance with established policies. 
• Credit reports are obtained for loans. 
• Loans are properly approved by officers or b ranch managers and, if 

required, reviewed by a loan commit tee . 
• Loan approval , d isbursement , and collection (access to assets) a re 

checked, performed by, or adequa te ly tested by other employees. 
• M a n a g e m e n t has established dollar l imits and m i n i m u m credit 

s t andards on loans. 
• Advances against s ignificant chat te ls are made only a f t e r physical 

inspection of the proper ty and de termina t ion t h a t the borrower has 
proper t i t le to the proper ty . 

• Loans or advances on accounts receivable are made only against 
verified claims for merchandise ac tual ly shipped. 

• M a n a g e m e n t reviews or in ternal audi t procedures are suff icient to 
detect problems early. 

• Receivables balances are confirmed as pa r t of m a n a g e m e n t review 
or in ternal audi t procedures. 

• Physical protection of notes, collateral, and suppor t ing documents is 
adequa te . 

• Employees who do not process or record loan t ransact ions prepare 
and reconcile ledger t r ia l balances with subsidiary and other control 
accounts on a t imely basis. 

• Pa id notes are canceled and re tu rned with collateral agreements , if 
any, to the borrowers. 

• Collateral is reviewed and physically inspected periodically. 
• UCC filings are upda t ed periodically. 
• Personal or corporate guaran tees are upda ted periodically. 
• Corpora te borrowers' or guaran tors ' f inancial s t a t ements are re-

ceived and reviewed periodically. 
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• Documents support ing new loans are inspected for proper form, 
completeness, and accuracy by someone other t h an the lending 
officer or b ranch manager . 

• Loan balances are periodically compared with cur ren t collateral 
values. 

• S ta tus reports are prepared indicat ing the condition of collateralized 
receivables, turnover of inventory collateral, and other information, 
and such reports are reviewed by managemen t . 

• Loans are reviewed in a t imely fashion for collectibility; the ade-
quacy of the allowance for credit losses is eva lua ted and docu-
mented; and write-offs are recorded as soon as loans are reasonably 
expected to become uncollectible. 

• Aging schedules are accura te ly and periodically prepared, and are 
used to help collection efforts and to assess collectibility. 

• Control is ma in ta ined over charged-off loans. 
• Reasonable collection efforts continue a f t e r the da te of charge-off. 
• Adequate procedures assure t h a t income is accura te ly computed by 

the interest (ac tuar ia l ) method. 
• Loans are reviewed regularly to de te rmine whether income accruals 

should be suspended or re ins ta ted in accordance with company 
policies. 

• Remedia l action programs are in place for all subs tandard loans and 
are being carried out in a t imely manner . 

• Changes in s ta te laws and regulations are monitored to make sure 
t h a t lending act ivi t ies continue to be in compliance. 

• P a y m e n t extensions, deferments , or other modif icat ions to repay-
men t te rms are made only in accordance with established policies 
and are reviewed by managemen t . 

• Rebates of p recomputed interest and insurance p remiums made in 
connection with renewals and early payoffs are computed in accor-
dance with s ta te regulations. 

• Extension fees, service fees, and late charges are computed in 
accordance with s ta te regulations. 

Loan and Related Files 
2.59 Loan files for most types of f inance receivables are of ten significant 

sources of informat ion for the audi tor . The documents in loan files va ry 
according to the types of loans. The t imely receipt and review of those 
documents provide a basis for g ran t ing credit , reviewing extensions, and 
main ta in ing an awareness of loan s ta tus . 

2.60 The pr incipal suppor t for most consumer loans is the signed note and 
securi ty ins t rument . In addit ion to t ha t support , consumer loan files m a y 
contain loan applicat ions, credit agency or scoring sheets used to eva lua te the 
creditworthiness of borrowers, histories of collection activit ies, and evidence of 
existing insurance coverage. Consumer loan files also should contain indica-
tions of compliance with the consumer credit disclosure requi rements of the 
T r u t h in Lending Act. T h a t s ta tu te , which provides for m a n d a t o r y disclosure 
of effect ive interest ra tes being charged to the consumer, applies to all lending 
insti tutions. 
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2.61 Documents in mortgage loan files m a y depend in p a r t on local 
s t a tu to ry requi rements and company policy. In addit ion to various documents 
found in consumer loan files, the basic documents generally include bu t are not 
necessarily l imited to the notes, loan applicat ions, appra isa l reports, deeds of 
t rus t , mortgages, t i t le insurance or opinions, insurance policies, se t t lement 
s ta tements , and D e p a r t m e n t of Veterans Affairs guarantees or Federal Hous-
ing Adminis t ra t ion insurance, if applicable. 

2.62 A typical commercial loan file generally includes f inancial s tate-
ments of both the borrower and guarantors ( individual or corporate), copies of 
supplementa l agreements between the f inance company and the borrower, and 
other related correspondence. Other mater ia l s in commercial loan files may 
include copies of UCC filings, documenta t ion of loan approvals summar iz ing 
the reasons for gran t ing credit , documenta t ion of ongoing reviews of the 
borrowers' credit s tandings, information on loan collateral, and histories of 
collection activit ies. Commercial loan te rms tend to be tailored for the individ-
ual borrower, unlike consumer loans, which generally have s tandard ized terms. 

Repossessed Assets Acquired in Liquidation of Receivables 
2.63 Policies and procedures related to repossessed assets acquired in 

l iquidations m a y va ry considerably among companies and by the na tu re of the 
collateral. In obtaining an unders tand ing of internal control s t ruc ture policies 
and procedures related to repossessed assets, the audi tor should consider 
whe the r— 

a. Separa te subledger accounts are main ta ined for assets acquired in 
l iquidat ions even though amoun t s of such assets held a t a par t icu la r 
t ime m a y be immater ia l . 

b. Repossessions are authorized and disposed of in accordance with 
company policies. 

c. Repossessions are p rompt ly reported and recorded. 
d. Opera t ing procedures provide for reasonable valuat ion of repos-

sessed assets acquired in l iquidations. 
e. N e t realizable values of unsold repossessed assets are reviewed 

periodically to de te rmine if carrying amoun t s should be wr i t ten 
down. 

f. Controls are established over reconditioning and other costs of 
repossessions and proceeds f rom sales of repossessed properties. 

g. Controls assure t h a t accounting entries are accura te for recourse 
a r r angemen t s with dealers t ha t provide for sharing of repossession 
risks and responsibilities. 

Dealer Reserves 
2.64 In obta ining an unders tanding of in ternal control s t ruc ture policies 

and procedures related to dealers ' reserves, the audi tor should consider 
whe the r— 

a. Dealer-reserve a r r angemen t s are established only in accordance 
with company policies. 

b. Documenta t ion is sufficient to provide enforceabi l i ty of the contract 
terms. 

c. Account ing procedures are a d e q u a t e to ensure t h a t improper 
charges are not made to dealer-reserve accounts for rebates, delin-
quen t accounts, charge-offs, and other i tems. 
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d. Charges to dealer-reserve accounts are adequa te ly reviewed and 
approved by managemen t . 

e. Debi t balances are followed up for collection. 

f. Dealer-reserve s t a t emen t s are sent to dealers if required by te rms of 
the dealer agreements . 

Branch Offices 
2.65 Finance companies t ha t lend to consumers often operate branch 

offices to make and service loans because of the impor tance of convenience, 
close personal contact with customers, and compet i t ive considerations. Branch 
offices usually have limited numbers of personnel, so complete segregation of 
dut ies may not be feasible. To compensate , m a n y f inance companies rely on 
central computer ized controls and on m a n a g e m e n t personnel to regularly 
review branch office operations. On visits to b ranch offices, m a n a g e m e n t 
m a y — 

• Review the extent of collection efforts and control over del inquent 
accounts. 

• Review a sample of loans made since the last visit for proper 
approval and for qua l i ty and adequacy of documenta t ion . 

• Review a sample of loans for t e rms and f inancing charges. 
• Count cash and confirm selected receivables. 
• Observe b ranch employees to appraise their performance. 
• P repare a report to review with the b ranch manager t ha t serves as a 

checklist for follow-up work and provides documenta t ion of the visit. 

2.66 Some of these procedures m a y be performed by the in ternal audi t 
staff . Existence and effectiveness of internal audi t procedures m a y provide 
addi t ional controls beyond those supplied by m a n a g e m e n t reviews. In addi-
tion, each level of m a n a g e m e n t m a y be continuously monitored by the next-
higher level of m a n a g e m e n t to de te rmine whether opera t ing policies and 
procedures for review of branch operat ions are complied with. The audi tor 
may conclude, therefore, t h a t the audi t of branch offices may be limited to 
focus pr imar i ly on the work of in ternal audi tors or m a n a g e m e n t reviews. 

2.67 Wi th the increased reliance on E D P systems, many b ranch office 
procedures have become streamlined, pe rmi t t ing less detailed records to be 
main ta ined . Below, the section "Branch Audi t s" in pa rag raphs 2.134 through 
2.136 fu r the r discusses the effects on the aud i t of a f inance company ' s reliance 
on E D P systems as well as its in ternal audi t or m a n a g e m e n t review proce-
dures. 

Auditing Receivables and the Allowance for Losses 
2.68 The audi tor uses informat ion from tests of f inance receivables and 

the allowance for losses to assess the collectibility of receivables as well as to 
determine whether the allowance for losses reasonably covers expected losses. 

The Allowance for Losses 
2.69 The allowance for loan losses represents an amoun t tha t , in manage-

ment ' s judgment , approximates the cur ren t amount of loans t h a t will not be 
collected. The audi tor is responsible for evalua t ing whether m a n a g e m e n t has 
recorded a reasonable es t imate of the amount of assets t ha t have been 
impaired. 
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2.70 Receivables f rom consumer loans usually are evalua ted in total 
ra ther t h an on the basis of individual loans because they consist of large 
volumes of relat ively small balances. In such situations, it is more diff icul t to 
judge collectibility of specific loans t h a n to eva lua te collectibility of portfolios 
taken as a whole. Therefore, audi t ing procedures for consumer lending gener-
ally emphasize review, documenta t ion , and reliance on da t a processing sys-
tems; in ternal control s t ruc ture policies and procedures and m a n a g e m e n t 
controls; and account ing policies. Ra t io analyses, historical statist ics, current 
aging conditions, and other general t rends are par t icu lar ly impor tan t in 
evalua t ing collectibility. A change in composition of receivables m a y af fec t the 
allowance for losses, because greater risks are associated with cer ta in types of 
loans t h an with others. 

2.71 M a n y commercial loans are ta i lor-made and relat ively large. The 
size and uniqueness of commercial receivables necessitates a greater focus on 
specific loans and problems t han is required for more homogeneous direct cash 
loans and retail sales contracts . Thus, audi t ing procedures in connection with 
commercial lending tend to place less emphasis on s tat is t ical d a t a and histori-
cal t rends and focus more on cur rent collateral values, indus t ry concentrat ion, 
and f inancial conditions of individual borrowers. Pa r t i cu la r a t t en t ion should 
be given to loans in economically distressed industries. The audi tor should 
discuss quest ionable loans with managemen t . Commercial loan files should be 
reviewed on a test basis for informat ion such as borrowers' audi ted f inancial 
s t a t ements and loan histories. Reviewing in ternal aud i t workpapers or field 
audi t reports also m a y be useful. 

2.72 In eva lua t ing the allowance for credit losses, the audi tor should 
consider accrued interest on loans and unamort ized deferred net fees or costs. 
Also, the audi tor should be aware of the basis of any changes made in the 
credit evaluat ion and gran t ing processes, changes in credit scoring processes or 
credit ra t ings of corporate borrowers, changes in loan adminis t ra t ion proce-
dures, including ways of curing delinquencies (such as accept ing par t ia l 
paymen t s or rewri t ing cont rac tua l te rms on del inquent loans), and changes in 
t iming or other policies followed to decide when to charge off uncollectible 
loans. 

2.73 A significant factor af fect ing the adequacy of the allowance for losses 
on commercial loans and receivables is the value of the underlying collateral. 
Depending on the na tu re of the collateral, the f inance company m a y elect to 
obtain independent appra isa ls of cur ren t collateral. Adequacy of collateral in 
the event of a loan defaul t requires special a t ten t ion if the collateral is not 
readily marke tab le or is susceptible to decline in realizable values. The audi tor 
should evalua te the effect , if any, of recourse a r rangements on receivables and 
the adequacy of the allowance for losses. (See pa rag raphs 2.121 to 2.131 of this 
guide for a fu r the r discussion of collateralized loans.) 

Loan Origination Costs 
2.74 The audi tor should gain an unders tand ing of the f inance company 's 

procedures for comput ing deferred loan origination costs including the recogni-
tion of those costs in the income s t a t ement . In reviewing and test ing the 
f inance company 's deferred loan origination costs and their amort iza t ion, the 
audi tor ' s objectives are to gain reasonable assurance t h a t (a) costs relate only 
to completed loans and are l imited to the costs described in pa rag raphs 5 and 
6 of FASB S ta t emen t No. 91; and (b) amort ized costs are recognized as an 
ad jus tmen t of yield and included in de termining interest income. 
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Credit Approval Policies 
2.75 Unders tand ing credit approva l policies is an impor tan t facet of an 

audi t of a f inance company. If the audi tor is concerned about the adequacy of 
the f inance company 's credit policies based on a review of those policies, or if 
tests of controls indicate t h a t controls over credit policies m a y be ineffective, 
the audi tor m a y need to expand the scope of subs tant ive tests to eva lua te 
credit risks t h a t the f inance company has assumed. 

2.76 The audi tor should be aler t for changes in credit requi rements 
dur ing the period, par t icu lar ly to less conservative requirements , and evalua te 
the effect of those changes on the qua l i ty of the portfolio. Additionally, the 
audi tor m a y evaluate whether the company reviews its credit approval poli-
cies in light of changes in the economic envi ronment t h a t might affect 
creditors ' abi l i ty to repay loans. 

2.77 Credi t approval policies and procedures differ s ignif icantly for 
consumer and commercial lending activit ies. 

Consumer Credit Approval 

2.78 F inance companies generally follow s tandard procedures to assess 
creditworthiness of prospective borrowers before approving consumer loans. 
Such procedures usually include invest igation of a prospective borrower's 
employment history, salary, credit history, and completion of a credit scoring 
sheet on which an overall evaluat ion is made of the borrower 's creditworthi-
ness. Specific procedures may va ry by type of loan (for example, real es ta te 
versus unsecured loans) and by type of customer (for example, new customers 
versus present customers). 

2.79 If a f t e r obta ining an unders tand ing of the internal control s t ruc ture 
the audi tor decides to assess control risk below the m a x i m u m level, the audi tor 
should perform tests of controls to eva lua te the effectiveness of the relevant 
controls. Such tests of controls should be performed on a sample of new loans 
made since the da te of the most recent audi ted f inancial s ta tements . 

Commercial Credit Approval 

2.80 Collateral for commercial loans generally is required to equal a t least 
an amoun t sufficient to secure r epaymen t in the event of a forced l iquidation, 
thus requir ing a thorough review of collateral value. However, r epaymen t of a 
commercial loan generally depends on the borrower's abi l i ty to generate cash 
principal ly through operations. Therefore, a f inance company usually per-
forms a thorough review to assess the qua l i ty of m a n a g e m e n t and the f inancial 
position of a prospective commercial borrower, as well as the overall prospects 
for the borrower's business to generate sufficient cash to l iquidate the loan. 

2.81 In approving commercial loans, a f inance company usually analyzes 
the prospective borrower's f inancial s t a t ements and m a y consider factors such 
as the prospective borrower's f inancial position and operat ing results as 
compared with those of other businesses in the same industry. Various statis-
tics, such as inventory and receivables turnover , often are developed to 
faci l i ta te the analysis. The f inance company also m a y s tudy receivables aging 
schedules to help de termine the qua l i ty of accounts receivable. Fur thermore , 
the f inance company m a y consider the potent ia l effects of prevail ing economic 
conditions on the borrower. The f inance company also m a y obta in projections 
of fu tu re cash needs from borrowers, par t icu lar ly when considering the need 
for overadvances in factor ing or revolving credit a r rangements . 
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2.82 Credi t reports, such as those prepared by ra t ing agencies, may be 
considered, and references m a y be obta ined from the borrower's bank as well 
as f rom other sources. The borrower 's corporate s t ruc ture should be studied to 
de termine the existence and the extent of possible related p a r t y t ransact ions. 
Addit ional procedures m a y be necessary to es t imate the value of inventory 
and fixed assets pledged as collateral. Finance companies of ten send field 
representa t ives on visits to borrowers' places of business to physically inspect 
inventories and premises, review agings of receivables and account ing records, 
evaluate in ternal account ing and m a n a g e m e n t controls, and obta in direct 
impressions of the qual i ty of operat ions and managemen t . 

2.83 If a f t e r obtaining an unders tand ing of controls per ta in ing to credit 
approval policies for commercial loans, the audi tor decides to assess control 
risk below the m a x i m u m level, the audi tor should perform tests of controls. In 
performing tests of controls, the audi tor should consider test ing support ing 
documenta t ion to de te rmine whether all procedures have been sat isfactori ly 
completed. Loan approvals generally are documented in the loan files and 
sometimes in minutes of the meetings of loan commit tees and the board of 
directors. If the f inance company sends field representa t ives to prospective 
borrowers' places of business to review their business operations, the audi tor 
m a y wish to review their wr i t ten reports or to accompany those persons on one 
or more visits to assess the qual i ty of their reviews. Loan approvals deemed 
quest ionable by the audi tor should be discussed with m a n a g e m e n t to be t te r 
eva lua te their judgment and to ascer ta in t h a t undue risk of defaul t does not 
exist. 

Factoring 
2.84 F inance companies review potent ia l clients' operat ions to de te rmine 

whether to factor receivables. M a n y procedures used for those reviews are 
similar to procedures used to approve other types of commercial loans. A loan 
officer usually is designated to oversee the review; final approval by a loan 
commit tee m a y be required. 

2.85 If the f inance company decides to buy the client 's receivables, the 
review is used for several other purposes. The commission to be charged for 
bookkeeping and collection services is calculated from informat ion provided by 
review of sales volume, the number of invoices processed monthly, the amoun t 
of re turns and chargebacks, and collection activit ies. The review also is used to 
set l imitat ions on the max imum amoun t in receivables t ha t the f inance 
company is willing to buy and, if needed, the amounts of seasonal over-
advances to be permi t ted . Such l imitat ions ordinari ly are reviewed periodi-
cally for changes in a client 's needs or circumstances. 

2.86 If a client 's business fails, the f inance company usually has problems 
collecting the remaining customer accounts because of inabi l i ty to settle 
unresolved disputes between customers and the client t ha t otherwise would 
have resulted in chargebacks to the client. Therefore, the audi tor should 
consider the reasonableness of initial and subsequent reviews of the client 's 
operat ions and f inancial condition in de termining whether the f inance com-
pany faces undue risk of defaul t on the client 's customer accounts. 

2.87 In addit ion to reviewing a client 's f inancial position, a f inance 
company reviews the client 's customers ' credit for approval before goods are 
shipped. F inance companies usually establish for each customer a line of credit 
t ha t is reviewed periodically (for example, every n ine ty days) to de te rmine 
whether it should be raised or lowered based on changes in p a y m e n t pa t te rns , 
sales, credit ratings, and other circumstances. Periodic reviews are generally 
documented in customer files. Fur thermore , a customer may buy goods or 
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services f rom several of the f inance company 's clients. If so, the f inance 
company typical ly prora tes the credit l imit of such a customer among the 
clients with which the customer does business. Therefore, to help control credit 
approvals , a f inance company ' s account ing system usually provides aggregate 
information on total receivables due f rom a cus tomer—even though the 
receivables m a y be due to a number of clients ra ther t h an to a single one. 

2.88 A client usually submits orders to the f inance company by telephone, 
teletype, or mail. Orders below a cer ta in amoun t may be approved au tomat i -
cally. Orders for established customer accounts t h a t have not exceeded their 
lines of credit also may be au tomat ica l ly approved. Some f inance companies 
use a computer ized credit-checking system to initially review orders for 
approval or rejection or to signal t h a t addi t ional investigation is required, or 
both. 

2.89 The audi tor should consider the reasonableness of customer credit-
approval policies, including those per ta in ing to periodic or continuous review 
of customer credit s tandings, and also whether to perform tests of controls over 
such policies. Approved and rejected customer orders usually are recorded on 
client approval sheets. The audi tor m a y select a sample of client invoices 
recorded by the f inance company and t race them to the approval sheets to 
determine whether invoices booked represent approved orders. The audi tor 
also m a y select from the approval sheets a sample of both approved and 
rejected customer orders for confi rmat ion with clients. If the client responds 
t ha t the f inance company approved an order listed as rejected, the audi tor 
should question the effectiveness of customer credit controls and consider 
whether the client has a potent ia l legal claim against the f inance company for 
t h a t customer order. 

2.90 Controls over customer credit l imits also m a y be examined by 
selecting customers who buy goods or services from several clients of a factor. 
Amounts owed should be added to de te rmine t h a t each customer 's credit l imit 
has not been exceeded. If customers ' cumula t ive credit l imits have been 
exceeded, the audi tor should consider the effectiveness of the related controls 
in designing subs tant ive tests to de te rmine whether the f inance company has 
assumed addit ional credit risk. 

Collections 
2.91 In audi t ing collections, the audi tor is concerned with the extent of 

collection efforts on accounts wr i t ten off and procedures for controlling collec-
tions on accounts previously wr i t ten off. If a f inance company has m a n y 
branch offices, it m a y be appropr ia te to invest igate and test collection efforts 
a t selected branch offices. Accounts wri t ten off m a y be confirmed on a test 
basis to de termine whether collections, if any, have been properly recorded. 

2.92 Changes in the intensi ty of collection efforts are likely to affect the 
adequacy of the allowance for losses. Decreases in amounts budgeted for 
salaries and other collection costs m a y indicate t h a t collection efforts have 
been reduced and t h a t delinquencies and bad debts might increase. Collection 
efforts also m a y be adversely af fec ted by increased turnover of employees 
assigned to such efforts, indicat ing the use of less qualif ied persons, or by 
concentra t ing employee effort on making new loans, with a consequent lessen-
ing in efforts to collect existing receivables. 

Aging Schedules 
2.93 Finance companies prepare aging schedules to review collectibility of 

loans. A f inance company uses aging informat ion to help assess collectibility of 
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accounts and to de termine where to concentra te collection efforts. Collec-
t ibi l i ty of receivables t h a t are more than a s t ipula ted number of days delin-
quent should be questioned. Some companies au tomat ica l ly write off such 
del inquent receivables. M a n a g e m e n t m a y decide to wri te off cer tain delin-
quent accounts because the costs of collecting them outweigh potent ia l bene-
fits. If liberal extension policies or pract ices exist, extended accounts should be 
given special a t ten t ion even though they are not del inquent . 

2.94 Accounts receivable from retai l sales contracts typical ly are aged by 
the contractual method, which is based on the s ta tus of paymen t s under the 
original te rms of the contracts . Such agings generally are modified for defer-
ments and extensions of original cont rac tua l terms. Direct consumer loans 
historically have been aged by m a n y lenders using the recency-of-payments 
method. Under this method, loans are aged based on the month in which the 
most recent collections were received, regardless of cont rac tua l p a y m e n t te rms 
for amounts of paymen t s or loan periods. 

2.95 The recency-of-payments method of aging was developed years ago, 
when direct consumer loans were for relat ively modest amounts due over 
relatively short periods. I n those circumstances, lenders were interested in 
regular collections of pr incipal and accrued charges and less concerned with 
cont rac tua l t e rms of the loans. T h a t emphasis is reflected in the recency 
method. More recently, direct consumer loans, par t icu la r ly second mortgage 
loans, have been for larger amounts and longer periods. Therefore, lenders 
increasingly have emphasized collections of pr incipal and charges in accor-
dance with cont rac tua l terms. T h a t emphasis is a p p a r e n t in the Rober t Morris 
Associates Direct Cash Lending Questionnaire, which has prescribed the 
cont rac tua l method for large direct cash loans. 

2.96 The cont rac tua l method is considered more conservative t h an the 
recency-of-payments method; however, some f inance companies weaken the 
basis of the cont rac tua l method by modifying their calculations. For example, 
such companies m a y consider accounts cont rac tua l ly cur ren t when two t imely 
paymen t s have been made on an account previously considered del inquent . 
Therefore, regardless of which aging method is used, unders tanding whether 
and how clients m a y reclassify del inquent loans to cur ren t s ta tus is impor tan t . 

2.97 The audi tor can compare results of cur ren t agings with results of 
past agings to ident i fy unusual variances. The audi tor should become famil iar 
with aging policies and may refer to Rober t Morris Associates questionnaires, 
which usually describe aging policies. The audi tor should be aware t h a t recent 
payments , which m a y have al tered the classification of par t icu la r accounts, 
may not indicate the u l t imate collectibility of those accounts. The audi tor also 
should consider the effect of par t ia l p a y m e n t s on the aging. 

2.98 The aging of receivables also is af fected by extension and renewal 
policies. Loan renewals involving li t t le or no advances of addi t ional cash to 
customers deserve special a t ten t ion . Some managemen t s believe renewals, 
sometimes called salvage renewals, should be gran ted only with addi t ional 
cosigners or collateral, unless customers can demons t ra te increased abi l i ty or 
willingness to repay such loans. Other managemen t s believe renewals should 
never be granted. Although dif ferent c i rcumstances may exist, a customer 
usually demonst ra tes increased willingness to repay a del inquent account by 
making regular monthly paymen t s a t reduced amounts a f te r paying off a 
significant portion of the initial loan balance. Renewals without evidence of 
increased abi l i ty or willingness to repay m a y diminish reliabili ty of aging 
schedules. 
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Charge-off Policies 
2.99 Charge-off policies va ry among f inance companies and types of 

loans. Some policies au tomat ica l ly require t ha t accounts be wr i t ten off when 
they are overdue a s t ipula ted number of days. Other policies m a y delay 
charge-offs unt i l all pract ica l efforts to collect have been exhausted or the 
customer has entered bankrup tcy . Still other policies m a y be based on review 
of the s ta tus of individual loans. 

2.100 The audi tor should be aware of changes in charge-off policies when 
evalua t ing the adequacy of the allowance for losses and considering the 
reasonableness of those charge-off policies. The audi tor m a y consider whether 
charge-offs are reviewed and approved by officials who do not also approve 
loans, whether charge-offs for deficiencies on repossessed propert ies are ade-
quate ly reviewed and approved, and whether losses charged to dealer reserve 
accounts are consistent with dealer agreements . The audi tor also should be 
alert to the effects of changes in charge-offs as well as in credi t -grant ing 
policies. 

2.101 If charge-off policies require au tomat i c loan write-offs when over-
due a s t ipula ted number of days, the audi tor should consider the appropr ia te -
ness of the number of days specified and whether controls make sure t h a t such 
procedures are followed. The audi tor also should consider how par t ia l pay-
ments on loans are t r ea ted under the policies. If procedures requir ing auto-
mat ic write-offs are not used, the audi tor should consider whether write-offs 
are occurring in a t imely and consistent manner . 

Other Credits to Receivables 
2.102 Credits to f inance receivables for reasons other t h an cash receipts or 

charge-offs to the allowance for losses should be tested to de termine if the 
reasons for the credits are appropr ia te . For example, was an error corrected, 
and, if so, was the credit properly author ized? 

Chargebacks 
2.103 Under factor ing a r rangements , typical noncash credits to receiv-

ables represent chargebacks to client accounts. Chargebacks m a y result f rom 
disputes over, for example, f re ight charges, defect ive merchandise, deliveries, 
prices, and canceled orders. Inab i l i ty to collect an account because of a 
customer 's insolvency, however, generally represents a credit loss and ordina-
rily should not result in a chargeback, because the f inance company assumes 
the risk of customer defaul t when receivables are factored. If a f t e r obtaining 
an unders tanding of the internal control s t ruc ture the audi tor decides to assess 
control risk below the max imum level, the audi tor should obtain evidential 
m a t t e r to suppor t the assessed level of control risk. 

Anticipations 
2.104 Under factor ing a r rangements , most f inance companies accept 

customer p a y m e n t s of less than the amount of the related receivables if the 
customers pay before due dates. The differences or discounts, often called 
anticipations, m a y be allowed because a f inance company obtains earlier use 
of the cash. Amounts of ant ic ipat ions allowed usually f luc tua te monthly, and 
interest is usually charged to the client based on some relat ionship to pr ime 
rates. 

2.105 The audi tor should consider reviewing the f inance company 's poli-
cies on ant ic ipat ions and, if allowed, the reasonableness of the amounts 
deducted. 
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Confirmation Procedures 
2.106 F inance companies may confirm receivables balances as pa r t of 

their internal audi t procedures. The extent and na tu re of those procedures 
vary. Some finance companies use wr i t ten confirmations; others confirm 
information by telephone. If a f t e r obta ining an unders tand ing of the in ternal 
control s t ruc ture the audi tor decides to assess control risk below the max imum 
level, the audi tor should obtain evidential m a t t e r to suppor t the assessed level 
of control risk. The audi tor should establish a reasonable scope to confirm a 
representa t ive number of loans. The audi tor m a y wish to s t r a t i fy loans 
selected for confirmation not only by recorded amounts bu t by categories, such 
as loans collateralized by real es ta te and unsecured loans. 

2.107 Conf i rmat ion procedures m a y reveal cer tain conditions, such as 
paymen t s made to the wrong account; disputes over prices, quant i t ies , or 
shipping terms; paymen t s made by customers directly to factor ing clients; 
unrecorded merchandise re turns; ficti t ious receivables; consignments; or pre-
billing. 

2.108 Positive confirmations are preferable when individual account 
balances are relat ively large or when there is reason to believe a subs tant ia l 
number of accounts are in dispute, inaccura te , or irregular. Nega t ive confir-
mations may be used when (a) the combined assessed level of inherent and 
control risk is low, ( b ) a large number of small balances is involved, and (c) 
the audi tor has no reason to believe t ha t the recipients of the requests are 
unlikely to give them consideration. If negat ive ra ther than positive confirma-
tions are used, however, the audi tor should consider performing other substan-
tive procedures to obtain the same degree of satisfaction. 

2.109 In addit ion to the original amount of the loan and the cur rent loan 
balance, the audi tor should consider confirming other information, such as the 
last p a y m e n t da te and the amoun t and description of collateral. 

2.110 The audi tor should apply a l te rna t ive procedures for all unanswered 
positive confirmations. To apply a l te rna t ive procedures, the audi tor should 
consider reviewing subsequent cash receipts, confirming informat ion by tele-
phone, and examining addit ional loan documenta t ion. 

No-Mail Accounts 
2.111 Some consumer loan customers may request t h a t direct correspon-

dence not be sent to them. They are typical ly no-mail accounts and should be 
insignificant in relation to the total loan portfolio. If such loans are selected for 
confirmation, a l te rna t ive procedures normally should be applied. 

Confirming Purchased Customer Receivables 
2.112 If a f inance company buys receivables under a nonnotif icat ion 

a r rangement ( tha t is, the borrower does not inform its customers t h a t their 
accounts have been sold or assigned to a f inance company) , special considera-
tion needs to be given to confirming such receivables because customers are 
not aware tha t their accounts have been sold. Conf i rmat ions should, therefore, 
be prepared in a manner t h a t preserves the confident ial i ty of the sales 
t ransact ions between the f inance company and its clients. 

Ratios 
2.113 Rat ios are useful for analyzing t rends af fect ing collectibility. Be-

cause of their diverse characteris t ics , receivables should be segregated by type 
(for example, retai l contracts , direct consumer loans, and commercial f inance 
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receivables) before comput ing ratios. The comparabi l i ty of receivables to those 
of prior periods also should be evaluated. For example, factors such as t ighten-
ing of credit s t andards and changes in extension policies can affect the qual i ty 
of the receivables and render s tat is t ical comparisons invalid. 

2.114 The following two ratios commonly are used to de termine loss 
experience trends: 

a. N e t credit losses to receivables l iquidated (beginning balance plus 
volume dur ing period, excluding old balances renewed, less ending 
balance) 

b. N e t credit losses to average monthly outs tanding receivables for the 
period (annual ized if less than one year) 

2.115 The first rat io is useful in es t imat ing the amoun t a f inance 
company will write off for each dollar collected on loans. The second ratio has 
been used pr imar i ly for smaller loans with relat ively short- term matur i t ies . If 
t rends show increasing ra ther than decreasing ratios, the allowance for losses 
may need to be increased. 

2.116 Ra t io analysis has certain weaknesses. For example, the rat io of net 
credit losses to average monthly outs tanding receivables measures losses for 
only one year . Because most loans extend beyond one year, the rat io does not 
include all losses t h a t would be expected, based on current ly available infor-
mation, to result f rom liquidation of all outs tanding loans. Growth si tuat ions 
also hamper rat io analysis, par t icular ly if the rat io of net credit losses to 
average monthly outs tanding receivables is used. The increasing portion of 
new business used in the calculation may cause comparisons with previous 
results to be meaningless because, in some situations, the ra te of increase in 
credit losses lags behind the rate of increase in receivables unti l growth levels 
off. For t h a t reason, the rat io of net credit losses to receivables l iquidated 
provides be t te r measure in growth situations. 

2.117 Other common ratios include the following: 

a. Rat ios of allowances for credit losses to outs tanding receivables, 
expressed as percentages 

b. Rat ios of delinquencies to ou ts tanding receivables, expressed as 
percentages 

c. Ratios of recoveries to charge-offs, expressed as percentages 

d. Ratios of provision for losses to volume, expressed as percentages 

2.118 Computers and sophisticated ma thema t i ca l models can be used to 
improve rat io analysis and to ident i fy t rends t h a t otherwise might be obscure. 
For example, computers can apply regression analysis techniques to loans 
s t rat i f ied by such cri ter ia as the year made, type of loan, location of borrower's 
residence or place of business, and borrower's credit ra t ing. Thus, volumes of 
detailed da t a may be readily summar ized and analyzed to provide more 
sophisticated informat ion than is pract ical without computers . 

2.119 Though no one group of stat is t ics is conclusive, t rends m a y indicate 
significant changes t h a t war ran t a t ten t ion . Indus t ry or other published statis-
tics on delinquencies and allowances for losses m a y be helpful bu t should be 
used with regard for the facts and circumstances af fect ing individual compar-
nies. If using ratios, the audi tor should consider all re levant circumstances, 
such as changes in credit approval and in collection policies as well as general 
economic conditions. 
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Loans to Related Parties 
2.120 Loans to officers, directors, and employees (and loans to organiza-

tions with which such individuals are aff i l ia ted) should be reviewed. FASB 
S ta t emen t No. 57, Related Party Disclosures, prescribes cer tain disclosures of 
mater ia l related p a r t y t ransact ions. SAS No. 45, Omnibus Statement on 
Auditing Standards—1983, "Re la ted Par t i es , " provides audi t ing guidance for 
such mat te rs . 

Collateralized Loans 
2.121 Consumer loans m a y be collateralized by consumer goods or by real 

proper ty . Commercial loans may be collateralized by accounts receivable, 
inventories, or p roper ty and equ ipment . Loans also m a y be guaran teed by 
cosigners and guarantors . 

2.122 Depending on the type of collateral, the audi tor should consider 
test ing physical existence and proper assignment to the f inance company. 
Examina t ion of loan documenta t ion generally includes test ing the adequacy of 
both the current value of collateral in relation to the outs tanding loan balance 
and, if needed, insurance coverage on such collateral. For guaran teed loans, 
the audi tor reviews f inancial s t a t ements and other evidence of the f inancial 
conditions of cosigners and guarantors . The audi tor should be aler t to possible 
concentrat ions of loans in one borrower, in a group of related borrowers, or in a 
par t icu lar industry . The audi tor also should consider general economic condi-
tions t ha t might af fec t the value of under lying collateral as well as of overall 
collectibility and qua l i ty of the loan portfolio. 

Consumer Goods 
2.123 M a n y direct consumer loans and most retail sales contrac ts are 

collateralized by consumer goods. Resale values of most consumer goods, such 
as major appl iances and fu rn i tu re , m a y be signif icantly less than related loan 
balances. As a result, m a n y lenders prefer not to repossess such collateral. 
Consideration of those collateral values is, therefore, less impor tan t t h an for 
other consumer goods, such as automobiles, which m a y be readily salable and 
of more significance when compared to related loan balances. 

Receivables 
2.124 T r a d e accounts receivable and ins ta l lment notes sold or pledged as 

collateral generally are sold or assigned to a commercial f inance company on a 
nonnotif icat ion basis. The indus t ry t rend in recent years has been to ma in ta in 
total dollar control of such receivables (bulk basis) ra ther than detai led 
receivable records (ledger card or specific ass ignment basis). The f inance 
company and its audi tor usually have access to the seller's or borrower's 
account ing records if collateral records are ma in ta ined in bulk. The seller or 
borrower m a y receive all collections on the receivables b u t is required to tu rn 
over such collections in their original form, usually through use of a bank 
account designated by the f inance company. 

2.125 In addi t ion to the effectiveness of credit approval policies, collec-
tion activit ies, in ternal confi rmat ion procedures, and visits by field represent-
at ives to the client 's or borrower's place of business, the audi tor should 
consider other account ing and m a n a g e m e n t controls over receivables bought or 
pledged as collateral. For example, the audi tor ' s evaluat ion m a y be af fec ted 
by the amoun t of collateral receivables ma in ta ined on a bulk basis, the 
f requency with which borrowers submi t aged tr ial balances to the f inance 
company, and the extent of m a n a g e m e n t reviews of those schedules. 
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2.126 Based on the results of the evaluat ion of the f inance company ' s 
procedures for examining and monitoring assets sold or collateral pledged, the 
audi tor should consider the need to examine evidence of or otherwise be 
satisfied as to nonnotif icat ion receivables pledged as collateral. The examina-
tion may consist, in par t , of a review of the borrower's records. Accounts 
receivable agings m a y be compared against the borrower's customer accounts 
subsidiary ledger, with addi t ional review of i tems such as unusual invoice 
terms, past due accounts, and invoices paid out of order. Fami l ia r i ty with 
t rade or indus t ry discounts, the right of re turn , warrant ies , and other te rms of 
sale offered by the borrower faci l i tates analysis of collateral values of receiv-
ables. A review of t r ade creditors could indicate whether a right of offset exists 
against the receivables because the borrower buys from and sells to the same 
enterprise. The audi tor also should consider s tudying the borrower's corporate 
s t ruc ture to help ident i fy possible receivables due f rom aff i l ia ted companies. 

Inventories 
2.127 Inventor ies pledged as collateral m a y result from a wholesale loan, 

for which specific i tems of inventory are pledged, or from an inventory loan, 
for which the entire inventory is pledged bu t individual i tems are not identi-
fied. Inventor ies also m a y be pledged as addi t ional collateral for a loan 
initially collateralized by receivables when the loan exceeds the pr ime collat-
eral value assigned to the receivables. Inven to ry collateral values m a y be more 
difficult to evaluate than receivable collateral because inventory is more 
subject to economic risks such as deter iorat ion and obsolescence. Therefore, the 
percentage of loan advances made against inventory collateral generally is less 
than t ha t made against receivable collateral. 

2.128 Based on his or her unders tanding of internal control s t ruc ture 
policies and procedures per ta in ing to inventory pledged as collateral, the 
audi tor should consider (a ) reviewing reports by f inance company personnel 
who inspect such inventories on field visits or, if considered desirable, ( b ) 
inspecting inventory in custody of the borrower on a test basis. Pe rpe tua l 
inventory records, if ma in ta ined by the borrower, may be tested against 
periodic physical counts made by the f inance company 's in ternal auditors. 
M a n y f inance companies do not ma in ta in collateral records of the borrower's 
inventory because per t inent , accurate , and upda ted inventory informat ion is 
not readily available, par t icu lar ly for revolving loans. 

2.129 Inventor ies pledged as collateral t h a t are stored in public ware-
houses and supported by warehouse receipts may be confirmed by direct 
communicat ion with the warehouses. Owners of public warehouses are pr imar-
ily liable for damages resulting f rom nonexistence of goods listed in receipts 
and from failure of the goods to conform to the descriptions on warehouse 
receipts. Sometimes a borrower establishes a field warehousing a r r angemen t in 
which a warehouse company segregates and controls the collateralized inven-
tory in a portion of the borrower's own warehouse. A field warehousing 
a r rangement may provide some control over inventories pledged as collateral, 
bu t the control is generally less t han t h a t in a public warehouse. Nevertheless, 
a field warehousing a r r angemen t in the borrower's warehouse m a y be more 
pract ical t han using a public warehouse because of costs and difficult ies of 
t ranspor t ing inventory between warehouses and borrowers' premises. 

Property and Equipment 
2.130 Loans to companies t h a t have major i tems of proper ty , p lant , and 

equ ipment are generally collateralized by such assets. Also, proper ty , p lant , 
and equ ipment m a y be pledged as addi t ional collateral for a receivable or 
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inventory loan or as collateral for a separa te loan made to a company t h a t 
borrows against receivables and inventory. 

2.131 Recent appraisa ls by specialists of l iquidat ing values of proper ty , 
p lant , and equ ipment m a y be helpful in eva lua t ing securi ty provided by the 
collateral. The audi tor m a y review those appraisa ls and collateral records. The 
audi tor should be satisfied with the professional qual i f icat ions and reputa t ion 
of a specialist whose work is to be used. If the audi tor chooses to use the 
valuat ion of a specialist who is a related par ty , the audi tor should consider the 
need to perform addit ional procedures on some or all of the specialist 's 
assumptions, methods, or findings to de te rmine their reasonableness. For 
fu r ther guidance, the audi tor should refer to SAS No. 11, Using the Work of a 
Specialist* 

EDP Considerations 
2.132 Most f inance companies use some form of computer ized records. 

Audit considerations for computer ized systems are comparable to those for 
manua l systems, though specific aud i t procedures should be tailored to the 
type of system used. For example, m a n u a l systems rely on m a t h e m a t i c a l 
formulas or ra te char t s to calculate f inance income; in computer ized systems, 
software programming incorporates the formulas. Some significant concerns 
for audi t ing E D P systems include whether the duties of employees involved 
with the system are adequa te ly segregated, source documents are available, 
and audi t trails are sufficient to follow up on individual items. The audi tor 
should refer to SAS No. 48, The Effects of Computer Processing on the Audit 
of Financial Statements, for fu r the r guidance. 

2.133 Some f inance companies subscribe to computer systems operated by 
outside businesses. Independen t audi tors or the user's in ternal audi tors usually 
review internal control s t ruc tu re policies and procedures per ta in ing to those 
computer systems and issue reports t h a t the user's audi tor can consider. The 
audi tor should refer to SAS No. 70, Reports on the Processing of Transactions 
by Service Organizations, which provides guidance on the factors an indepen-
dent audi tor should consider when audi t ing the f inancial s t a t ements of an 
en t i ty t h a t uses a service organizat ion to process cer ta in t ransact ions . 

Branch Audits 
2.134 SAS No. 47, Audit Risk and Materiality in Conducting the Audit, 

provides general guidance on considerations of aud i t risk and mate r ia l i ty in 
planning the aud i t and designing aud i t procedures. Such considerations are 
impor tan t for the audi tor ' s de te rmina t ion of the need for and extent of b ranch 
office audits . This de te rmina t ion depends in p a r t on the effectiveness of home 
office controls over branch operat ions and the locations at which suppor t ing 
documenta t ion is main ta ined . Another consideration is whether there is an 
upda ted opera t ing manua l t h a t prescribes all phases of branch operations, 
including accounting procedures. Such manua l s m a y provide signif icant infor-
mat ion for the audi tor to obta in an unders tand ing of in ternal control s t ruc ture 
policies and procedures per ta in ing to b ranch operations. 

2.135 The use of central ized systems has reduced the need for the audi tor 
to visit branches to inspect subsidiary records and suppor t ing documenta t ion 
for loans. Even wi thout such a central ized system, dupl ica te records m a y be 
main ta ined a t the home office of a f inance company. Consequently, the 

* The AICPA's Auditing Standards Board has voted to issue a Statement on Auditing 
Standards that will supersede SAS No. 11. The new SAS is expected to be issued in July 1994 and 
to be effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 1994. 
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auditor m a y decide to limit b ranch audi ts and focus on de termining the 
effectiveness of controls over b ranch office operat ions such as m a n a g e m e n t 
reviews and in ternal aud i t procedures. If the home office main ta ins dupl icate 
receivables ledgers, much or all of the subs tan t ive test ing involving confirma-
tion procedures and evaluat ion of collectibility of ten can be performed without 
visiting the branch offices. 

2.136 If branch visits are war ran ted , the audi tor ordinari ly makes sur-
prise audi t s of selected branches if cash is to be counted or collateral inspected. 
The audi t of b ranch records normally m a y include tests of the in ternal control 
s t ruc ture policies and procedures, comparisons of d a t a submi t ted to the home 
office by b ranch personnel to branch records, and, if loan d a t a are main ta ined 
only in the branch office, the audi t procedures for loans described throughout 
this chapter . If floor plan loans are made, the audi tor should consider examin-
ing related collateral on a test basis. The audi tor may test postings of 
collections to customer accounts, as well as procedures for extensions, renewals, 
and rebates on all types of loans, to de termine the reliabil i ty of the accounting 
records. Other audi t procedures the audi tor should consider performing when 
audi t ing a branch are as follows: 

• Check accounts receivable ledgers for clerical accuracy, compare 
totals to appropr ia t e branch controls, and t race totals to general 
ledger balances a t the home office. 

• Select a representa t ive number of accounts for confi rmat ion and test 
aged trial balances for clerical accuracy and compliance with the 
company 's aging policy. 

• If accounts receivable ledgers are main ta ined in the home office and 
accounts are confirmed using home office records, compare balances 
of selected accounts in home office records with records ma in ta ined 
a t the branch. 

• Compare suppor t ing documenta t ion for a selected number of loans 
with loan cards and other accounting records. Documenta t ion might 
include signed notes, securi ty agreements , loan applicat ions, f inanc-
ing s ta tements , insurance policies, and notices of lien filings. 

• Test new and renewal loans for proper recording of i tems such as 
discount, dealer reserve, and insurance premiums. Rebates , exten-
sion fees, and late charges should be tested similarly. 

• Test cash p a y m e n t records for miscellaneous expenses. 
• Review procedures used to account for and control repossessed 

collateral. If the branch is responsible for selling repossessed collat-
eral, test sales of collateral by t rac ing proceeds to cash reports, bank 
deposits, and other per t inen t documenta t ion . Compare proceeds to 
es t imates of value at the t ime loans were made and a t the t ime 
collateral was repossessed. Examine evidence of ownership. 

• If the b ranch is located in a s ta te t h a t requires interest to be 
computed each t ime a p a y m e n t is received, test computa t ions of 
appl icat ion of interest and principal . 

• Follow up on unusual bank reconciling i tems f rom the home office. 
• Review the recent Sta te Consumer Finance Division Examiner ' s 

Repor t or its equivalent for significant exceptions. 
• Review the adequacy and documenta t ion of the b ranch manager ' s 

or area supervisor 's reviews of loans made, collection efforts, and 
cash counts. 
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• Review controls over cash collections, deposits, and disbursements . 

• Review for dupl icate loans to one borrower. 

• Review no-mail and confidential loans for compliance with corpo-
ra te policy. 

• Review for compliance with the manager ' s lending limits. 

• Review for compliance with policy relat ing to waiver of interest and 
late fees. 

Some of the above procedures may be inappropr ia te or m a y need modificat ion 
if the f inance company uses an E D P system. 

Leases 
2.137 Audits of leases in some ways resemble audi t s of other f inance 

receivables. For example, audi tors should review the collectibility of m i n i m u m 
lease payments , including guaran teed residual values, and consider whether 
allowances for losses on leases are adequa te . If repossessions have occurred, the 
audi tor should consider cur ren t values of collateral not yet disposed of in 
evaluat ing the adequacy of the allowance for losses. The audi tor also m a y 
confirm lease te rms and the existence of leased propert ies directly with lessees 
and m a y test author iza t ion for purchase of assets to lease files. Revenue 
recognition calculations can be tested for accuracy and compliance with FASB 
S ta tement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and related a m e n d m e n t s and 
interpreta t ions . In addit ion, classifications as f inance or opera t ing leases m a y 
be reviewed. 

2.138 The audi tor should evalua te unguaran teed residual values included 
in gross inves tments recorded a t the inception of leases. Residual values are 
the es t imated fair values of leased propert ies a t the end of their lease t e rms 
t ha t generally are not guaran teed to lessors by lessees or third part ies . The 
clients' methods and in ternal controls used to es t imate residual values should 
be evaluated. The possibility of changes in residual values should be consid-
ered, for example, by compar ing values of s t andard products or equ ipment to 
marke t prices and by consult ing resale dealers and t r ade publ icat ions . 
Residual values of specialized equ ipment m a y be diff icul t to evaluate . Special 
emphasis is war ran ted for high-technology equ ipment , which of ten declines 
quickly in value because newer, more advanced, or less expensive models 
become avai lable as a result of technological developments . Though purchase 
options included in lease te rms m a y provide addit ional evidence of residual 
values, they should be viewed with caut ion because they generally would not 
indicate subsequent declines in values. 

2.139 If reviews of residual values indicate t h a t pe rmanen t declines have 
occurred, es t imated residual values should be adjus ted and losses should be 
recognized when es t imates change. 

2.140 The te rms of lease agreements usually are reviewed and compared 
with the long-term lenders' contracts . The projected net cash flow analysis 
t h a t is used to account for leveraged lease t ransact ions should include income 
tax effects of the t ransact ions. Tax effect calculations m a y be tested. Auditors 
should review and evalua te the val idi ty of assumptions for project ing tax 
effects. Such reviews m a y include t iming of receipt of tax benefi ts or paymen t s 
of charges. Ra tes used to q u a n t i f y the tax effects of t ransact ions also should be 
reviewed. Reduct ions in leveraged lease inves tments caused by changes in 
original assumptions should be recognized in the period of change. 
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Income 
2.141 The audi tor should test the interest income recognition method and 

interest income accrual suspensions for compliance with generally accepted 
accounting principles (see pa ragraphs 2.14 to 2.16). 

2.142 F inance income account balances usually are tested together with 
f inance receivables. Tests of details, analyt ica l procedures, or both may be 
relied on. Tests of details might include recalculation of f inance income and 
nonrefundable fees for selected loans, such as those selected for confi rmat ion, 
or tests of computer programs used to make such calculations. Analyt ical 
procedures might include comparisons of monthly recorded income amoun t s 
with those recorded in months of pas t years, prior months of the cur ren t year , 
and budgeted amounts , as well as with indus t ry informat ion by type of 
receivables. Monthly ratios of f inance income to f inance receivables might be 
compared with prior years ' months and budgeted amounts . 

2.143 F inance income earned on discount receivables also can be tested 
using the unearned f inance income account as follows: 

Unearned Finance Income Test Method 

Beginning balance Tested in prior year 
+ credits ( total precomputed interest Recompute tota l unearned interest for a 

of new loans) sample of new loans (possibly using 
loans selected for tests of cash pay-
ments) 

— debits (f inance income earned) Balance a m o u n t 

= Ending balance Recompute balance of unearned f inance 
income for a sample of loans outs tand-
ing (possibly using loans selected for 
confirmat ion) 
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This formula should be modified as necessary for such i tems as p r epaymen t s 
and loan renewals. 

Statutory Regulations 
2.144 Regula tory compliance is an impor tan t consideration for a f inance 

company. Sta te laws often restrict three major elements t h a t de te rmine 
interest income: the amoun t of the loan, the t e rm of the loan, and the interest 
ra te . S ta te laws also m a y prescribe cer ta in rebate calculations. Other regula-
tory restrictions m a y per ta in to origination, del inquency, or extension fees. 
Compliance with the various s ta te laws should be reviewed. Formulas used to 
calculate f inance income should be tested to ver i fy t h a t results conform to 
applicable laws and regulations as well as to generally accepted account ing 
principles. 

2.145 The T r u t h in Lending Act and regulations issued by s ta te supervi-
sory authori t ies generally af fec t lending t ransact ions. The audi tor m a y learn 
of possible violations of such regulations dur ing the audi t . If such is the case, 
the audi tor should then refer for guidance to SAS No. 54, Illegal Acts by 
Clients. 

Repossessed Assets Acquired in Liquidations of 
Receivables 

2.146 The objectives of audi t ing repossessed assets acquired in liquida-
tions are to test for the existence and evidence of ownership of those assets and 
to evaluate reasonableness of es t imated net realizable values. In t e rna l control 
s t ruc ture policies and procedures over t iming and methods of recording repos-
sessed assets should be considered to de termine the necessary extent of sub-
s tant ive tests of account balances. 

2.147 Inspect ing repossessed propert ies m a y be an appropr ia te test for 
existence. The audi tor m a y compare carrying values of repossessions to subse-
quent sales, published wholesale price lists, or independent appraisals of the 
same or similar propert ies to de termine reasonableness. If feasible, the audi tor 
m a y group repossessions by product t ype and compare uni t carrying amounts 
against the company 's recent history of average losses or gains on sales of 
similar repossessions. Evidence of ownership may be established by reviewing 
legal or other per t inen t documents . The audi tor also m a y consider the abi l i ty 
of dealers to perform under recourse or repurchase agreements . 

Dealer Reserves and Holdbacks 
2.148 Before planning detailed audi t tests, the audi tor should become 

famil iar with company policies and procedures on dealer reserve holdback 
a r rangements and consider performing tests of related in ternal control struc-
ture policies and procedures. For example, the audi tor should consider the 
extent of review and approval of changes to dealer reserve accounts. Though it 
is uncommon for dealers to know amoun t s of the dealer reserve accounts, such 
knowledge, obta ined perhaps f rom regular s t a t emen t s issued by the f inance 
company, m a y lessen the risk of disputes, and it may be feasible for the 
audi tor to confirm the related liabilities to dealers. If not, the audi tor m a y 
review activit ies in dealer reserve accounts for propr ie ty and consider the 
overall adequacy of reserve balances in relation to the volume of loans bought, 
dealer credit s tatus, and credit s t a tus of the dealer 's customers. 

2.149 Other audi t ing considerations m a y include reviewing compliance 
with significant provisions of dealer agreements , reconciling totals of individ-
ual dealer balances with appl icable control accounts, and test ing detailed 
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t ransact ions to the accounts and suppor t ing documenta t ion . Pa r t i cu la r a t t en -
tion should be given to accounts with debi t balances. The rat ionale for not 
wri t ing off these amoun t s generally is t h a t f u t u r e purchases of retai l contrac ts 
f rom dealers will e l iminate the debi t balances. T h e audi tor should question 
t h a t just i f icat ion because, if pas t purchases of retai l cont rac ts f rom a dealer 
have resulted in debi t ba lances in the dealer reserve accounts , f u t u r e 
purchases m a y be unlikely to produce d i f fe ren t results. The audi tor should 
consider whether debi t balances are losses t h a t should be charged off. 
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Chapter 3 

Capitalization of Finance Companies 
3.01 Finance companies borrow funds to lend to others. Debt-to-equity 

ratios of finance companies generally are higher than those of manufactur ing 
companies because finance company assets consist more of liquid receivables 
than of inventories and fixed assets. Debt-to-equity ratios of a t least four- or 
five-to-one are not uncommon for finance companies. However, finance compa-
nies' leverage has traditionally been much lower than leverage of banks and 
savings and loan associations. 

3.02 Finance company debt may be classified as senior, senior subordi-
nated, and junior subordinated. The classifications describe declining priori-
ties, which become especially significant when solvency becomes questionable. 
When two or more types of debt with diverse priorities are issued simultane-
ously, the lower priority debt ordinarily carries a higher interest rate. 

3.03 Company policy and credit rat ing goals cause companies to establish 
diverse target amounts for each priority category of debt. Moreover, debt 
agreements usually contain restrictions on the amount of debt tha t may be 
incurred in each category. For example, a common restriction in debt securi-
ties issued to the general public prohibits pledging assets to secure new or 
existing debt. Other common restrictions may limit dividend payments and 
the amount of additional senior debt tha t can be incurred. If an issuer has 
other restrictions in its current typical public issue, lenders commonly demand 
the same restrictions in a private placement. 

3.04 Generally, bank borrowings on lines of credit and commercial paper 
sold in the open market are sources of debt tha t mature in less than one year. 
Larger finance companies usually rely heavily on commercial paper markets 
but smaller finance companies may not have access to such markets and 
therefore may rely on bank borrowings as a source of funds. 

3.05 Debt with matur i ty terms greater than one year is a major source of 
funds for most finance companies and is intended to reduce volatility of the 
cost and source of money. In large finance companies, such debt frequently 
constitutes more than half of the liabilities of finance companies. Smaller 
finance companies, with limited access to public debt markets, have a much 
greater reliance on short-term bank debt. 

3.06 The related debt instruments traditionally have been acquired by 
insurance companies; however, banks, pension funds, and the general public 
have increasingly purchased those instruments. Interest rates generally are a 
function of the credit rat ing of the issuer and the prevailing money market 
conditions. 

Bank Lines of Credit 
3.07 Finance companies may pay commitment fees, maintain compensat-

ing balances, or do both to have bank lines of credit available. When a finance 
company borrows under a line of credit, it is charged interest at a rate usually 
based on a specified percentage related to the bank prime rate. Banks 
generally base the percentage on an analysis of the quali ty of the finance 
company's receivables and operations. 

3.08 Bank borrowings are a type of senior debt commonly issued in the 
form of ninety-day notes, of which renewal may be negotiated before matur i ty . 
Banks generally require finance companies to pay off notes under lines of 
credit for a specified period, such as one month, each year. Finance companies 
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are sometimes allowed to meet such requi rements by borrowing under a second 
line of credit to pay off the first. They may, therefore, continuously borrow 
from banks, though individual bank notes are due in relat ively short periods. 
Alternat ively, they m a y be required to s imultaneously settle all bank lines of 
credit for t h i r ty days or more. 

3.09 Some bank credit lines are obta ined with little expectat ion t h a t the 
f inance companies will borrow under them. Such credit a r r angemen t s provide 
back-up sources of funds to assure a f inance company ' s creditors t ha t bank 
debt and commercial paper due in one year or less will be repaid. Though the 
dura t ion of those unused credit a r r angemen t s m a y exceed twelve months, 
some contain clauses t h a t allow the banks to wi thdraw commitments based on 
subjective evaluat ions of the f inance company ' s operations. 

3.10 Ra t ing agencies strongly emphasize l iquidi ty when they ra te com-
mercial paper . All issuers of commercial paper are expected to have bank lines 
of credit to back up such notes. The ra t ing agencies view t h a t support as 
security to provide t empora ry l iquidity, and they generally do not ra te a 
company 's commercial paper wi thout such coverage. 

3.11 Bank lines of credit also are ma in ta ined to protect f inance companies 
from unforeseen wi thdrawals of other credit sources. Some f inance companies 
test the avai labi l i ty of bank lines periodically by borrowing under each line, 
par t icu lar ly if those agreements are not formalized. 

Commercial Paper 
3.12 Commercia l paper , another form of senior debt , ma tu res in a few 

days to as long as 270 days from issuance. Commercia l paper generally 
const i tutes the major portion of debt due in less than one year of larger f inance 
companies because interest ra tes on commercial paper are usually lower than 
those avai lable from banks. 

3.13 Companies with significant amoun t s of commercial paper outs tand-
ing generally issue and redeem commercial paper continuously. More commer-
cial paper t h an needed m a y be sold on cer ta in days to ma in ta in an orderly 
marke t when regular customers have money to invest beyond the f inance 
company 's cur ren t needs. M a t u r i t y of a large amoun t of commercial paper or 
a long-term debt issue in the near f u tu r e also m a y make it necessary for a 
company to sell larger- than-normal amoun t s of commercial paper . 

3.14 Excess proceeds f rom sales of commercial paper usually are rein-
vested a t comparable ra tes of re turn . Proceeds m a y be invested for very short 
periods, usually overnight , by enter ing into repurchase agreements with in-
ves tment brokers, or by buying interest-bearing Eurodollar t ime bank deposits 
and commercial paper of other issuers. 

Credit Ratings 
3.15 Ra t ing agencies generally consider fixed-charge coverage and other 

ratios, such as leverage, to be significant in evalua t ing the credi tworthiness of 
a f inance company ' s debt obligations. Ra t ing agencies assign a credit ra t ing to 
a company 's debt obligations and commercial paper based on their detai led 
rat io analyses and evaluat ion of other factors. The ra t ings directly a f fec t the 
lender 's cost of borrowing and, therefore, its abi l i ty to borrow money. 

3.16 M a n y inst i tu t ional investors, such as insurance companies, banks, 
t rusts , m u t u a l funds , and pension and profi t sharing plans, rely heavily on 
credit ra t ings in making their inves tment decisions. M a n y of those investors 
are prohibited by law or by formal agreement f rom investing in corporate 
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obligations ra ted below a specified m i n i m u m level. For example, some s ta tes 
prohibit licensed domestic insurance companies f rom investing in corporate 
obligations t h a t do not meet specified fixed-charge coverage ratios. In addi-
tion, m a n y government agency pension funds are prohibi ted by law from 
investing in securities t ha t do not have an inves tment grade ra t ing. Those 
pension funds are s ignif icant buyers of f inance company commercial paper 
and t e rm debt securities. 

Credit Questionnaires 
3.17 A f inance company furnishes its creditors with f inancial and operat-

ing informat ion through s t anda rd quest ionnaires developed by a joint commit-
tee of representa t ives f rom indus t ry and Rober t Morris Associates. The credit 
quest ionnaires are revised periodically for changes in operat ions of f inance 
companies and in the needs of lenders. 

3.18 There are five credit quest ionnaires for f inance companies: Sales 
Finance Company Questionnaire; Direct Cash Lending Questionnaire; Com-
mercial Financing Questionnaire; Credi t Quest ionnaire for Cap t ive Finance 
Companies; and Mortgage Banking Questionnaire. The first two generally 
apply to independent companies t h a t f inance retail sales and make direct cash 
loans to consumers. The Commercial F inancing Quest ionnaire applies to inde-
pendent f inance companies t h a t provide f inancing services for business enter-
prises, including lease f inancing. The four th quest ionnaire applies to capt ive 
f inance companies formed to f inance the sales of products by aff i l ia ted 
companies. 

3.19 Some f inance companies engage in several types of f inancing and 
lending ac t iv i ty and are required to furnish informat ion on several types of 
questionnaires. For example, a f inance company t h a t both f inances automobile 
retail sales contracts and lends directly to consumers generally would furnish 
information for the per t inen t sections of the Sales Finance Company Question-
naire and the Direct Cash Lending Questionnaire. The various quest ionnaires 
are not all-inclusive; each report ing company mus t a d a p t the quest ionnaire to 
fit its own circumstances. The Credi t Quest ionnaire for Capt ive Finance 
Companies reflects the wide diversi ty among individual companies. I t consists 
of a series of questions designed to elicit the basic informat ion needed for 
credit analysis, with the form of presenta t ion left to the individual companies. 
The other quest ionnaires are much more specific. 

3.20 Each credit quest ionnaire covers a specific report ing period, such as 
six months or a year . All have cer ta in basic questions in common. Each 
requires informat ion on the types of f inance and lending act ivi t ies of the 
company, detai ls of business volume dur ing and receivables at the end of the 
report ing period, aging of receivables, s u m m a r y of credit loss experience for 
the period, description of cer tain basic opera t ing and account ing policies, and 
informat ion on the t e rms and l iquidity of f inance receivables. 

3.21 Other required informat ion per ta ins to the par t icu lar lending activi-
ties covered by the individual quest ionnaire. The Sales Finance Company 
Quest ionnaire requires analysis of the volume and type of retail sales f inancing 
receivables, such as those for automobiles, appliances, and home improvement , 
and indication of any significant concentrat ion in one or more dealers. The 
Direct Cash Lending Quest ionnaire requires a schedule of collection results on 
direct consumer loans outs tanding and an analysis of loan volume by type of 
borrower. The Commercial F inancing Quest ionnaire requires specific informa-
tion on larger commercial loans in each receivable classification and on a 
significant concentrat ion of loans to any one debtor or group of aff i l ia ted 
debtors. 
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Accounting 
3.22 The discount or p remium on deb t should be amort ized to interest 

expense over the life of the related debt using the interest method as specified 
in APB Opinion No. 21, Interest on Receivables and Payables, for debt 
requir ing imputa t ion of interest . 

3.23 Overnight inves tments result ing from sales of commercial paper in 
excess of daily needs should be recorded as assets in the balance sheet, bu t 
borrowing costs are be t te r presented in the income s t a t emen t by combining 
interest received on such inves tments agains t interest expense t h an by 
presenting such amoun t s separate ly . Although combined amounts normally 
are insignificant, such interest income should be disclosed in a note to the 
f inancial s ta tements , if s ignificant . 

Financial Statement Presentation 
3.24 The major components of debt should be disclosed on the face of the 

balance sheet or in the notes. FASB S ta t emen t No. 47, Disclosure of Long-
Term Obligations, requires disclosure of the aggregate amoun t of matur i t i es 
and sinking fund requi rements for all long-term borrowings and redeemable 
preferred stock for each of the five years following the balance sheet date . 
P a r a g r a p h 19 of APB Opinion No. 15, Earnings Per Share, provides examples 
of other informat ion to be disclosed, such as l iquidation preferences, par t ic ipa-
tion rights, and interest rates. In addit ion to the various types of subordina-
tions, bank borrowings and commercial paper should be disclosed separately, 
as should components of deb t t h a t m a t u r e in more than one year. Such 
components m a y be grouped into significant categories for disclosure. The 
existence of bank lines of credit and their re levant t e rms and amoun t s also 
should be disclosed. 

3.25 F inance companies t radi t ional ly have not described their assets as 
cur ren t and noncurrent in balance sheets, bu t typical ly have described their 
debt as short- term or long-term. To el iminate this inconsistency, f inance 
companies should classify debt as subordinated and senior r a the r t han as 
short- term and long-term. 

Auditing 
3.26 An audi t of a f inance company ' s debt and interest expense should be 

designed to provide reasonable assurance t h a t — 
a. The company has complied with restr ict ive covenants of loan agree-

ments . 
b. Amounts of debt are properly author ized and properly s ta ted , classi-

fied, and described in the f inancial s t a t emen t s (for example, as 
senior, senior subordinated, and junior subordinated) . 

c. Rela ted interest expense, including amor t iza t ion of discount or 
p remium, is properly recorded. 

d. Adequate disclosures of restr ict ive covenants of loan agreements and 
other loan-related te rms are included in the notes to the f inancial 
s ta tements . 

3.27 The audi tor should discuss the various forms of debt with manage-
ment . Te rms of the debt ins t ruments m a y be reviewed to unders tand the 
na tu re of each agreement , including any restr ict ive provisions. Once te rms of 
the debt agreements are understood, the audi tor can test compliance with 
their provisions and consider what disclosures are needed if the provisions are 
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violated. Posit ive conf i rmat ions m a y provide evidence concerning principal 
and accrued interest a t a given date . Conf i rmat ions m a y be used not only to 
confirm the amounts of the liabilities b u t also to reveal changes in the various 
covenants of the agreements per ta in ing to such m a t t e r s as guarantees , pay-
ment terms, interest rates, and restrictions on assets. Conf i rmat ions of bank 
lines of credit also m a y be used to ident i fy (a) conditions under which lines are 
avai lable or m a y be wi thdrawn and ( b ) whether compensat ing balances are 
required. 

Compliance Reports 
3.28 Some debt agreements m a y require companies to have their indepen-

dent audi tors issue compliance reports on various restr ict ive covenants involv-
ing ma t t e r s such as restrictions on assets, paymen t s of interest , and dividend 
payments . Such reports, which normally are in the form of negat ive assurance, 
are discussed in SAS No. 62, Special Reports. 

Credit Questionnaires 
3.29 Rober t Morris Associates quest ionnaires m a y be included as informa-

tion supp lemen ta ry to the basic f inancial s t a t emen t s of the f inance company. 
Some informat ion required in the quest ionnaires will have been derived from 
accounting records tested by the independent audi tor as pa r t of the audi t ing 
procedures followed in the audi t of the f inance company 's f inancial s ta te-
ments. For example, informat ion relat ing to reserves for losses, del inquent 
accounts, repossessions, deferred f inance income, and borrowings will have 
been derived from f inancial records tested by the independent audi tor . How-
ever, the audi tor is not required to aud i t informat ion included in the question-
naires unless the f inance company requests such services. 

3.30 If the audi tor submits to the f inance company or to others a 
document t h a t contains one or more quest ionnaires in addit ion to the com-
pany ' s basic f inancial s t a t emen t s and the audi tor ' s s t andard report , the 
audi tor should follow the report ing guidelines in SAS No. 29, Reporting on 
Information Accompanying the Basic Financial Statements in Auditor-Sub-
mitted Documents, which requires t h a t the audi tor ' s report s t a te t h a t the 
audi t was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic f inancial 
s t a tements taken as a whole. The report should ident i fy the accompanying 
quest ionnaire and fu r the r s ta te t h a t it is presented for addi t ional analysis and 
is not pa r t of the basic f inancial s ta tements . The audi tor should express or 
disclaim an opinion on the informat ion included in the quest ionnaire , depend-
ing on whether the informat ion has been subjected to audi t ing procedures 
applied in audi t ing the basic f inancial s ta tements . The audi tor m a y express an 
opinion on a portion of the accompanying information and disclaim an opinion 
on the remainder . The report on the informat ion included in the quest ionnaire 
may be added to the audi tor ' s s t anda rd report on the basic f inancial s ta te-
ments or m a y appea r separa te ly in the audi tor -submit ted document . 

3.31 If the f inance company publishes documents containing credit ques-
t ionnaires in addit ion to audi ted f inancial s t a t ements and the audi tor ' s report , 
the audi tor should refer to SAS No. 8, Other Information in Documents 
Containing Audited Financial Statements, for guidance. 
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Chapter 4 

Participations 
4.01 In a participation agreement, a finance company shares a loan with 

another financial institution by selling a portion of the loan or buying an 
interest in a loan originated by another financial institution. A seller of a 
participation sometimes retains a small portion of the buyer's share of interest 
on loans to cover overhead incurred in servicing the loans. 

4.02 Terms of participation agreements ordinarily provide for sharing of 
credit risks in proportion to cash invested by each part ic ipant . Such participa-
tions commonly are called pari passu. However, some agreements, known as 
first out, provide for a disproportionate sharing of the risk in relation to the 
cash invested. For example, an agreement may require one par t ic ipant to 
suffer the first loss up to a specified amount or otherwise provide priority to 
one of the part icipants in liquidation of the loan. Such agreements may be, in 
substance, financing arrangements collateralized by specific loans. 

4.03 A participation may result from a company's reluctance to carry an 
unusually large receivable from a single customer or to carry a receivable from 
a borrower who is deemed an unusual credit risk. To transfer some of the 
liquidity and rate risk, lenders may sell a portion of such loans to other 
lenders. In addition, participations may benefit borrowers by providing lower 
effective interest rates based on averages of the part icipat ing parties ' interest 
rates. 

Accounting 
4.04 Participations bought and sold usually are accounted for individu-

al ly—that is, loan by loan. Control accounts also may be maintained for each 
part icipat ing financial institution. The key accounting question is whether to 
account for transfers of portions of loans as sales of receivables or as collateral-
ized borrowings. 

Pari Passu 
4.05 A pari passu participation should be t reated as a sale of the related 

receivable because it provides for pro ra ta sharing of risk. The participation 
should be shown on the balance sheet net of the portions sold or at net amounts 
bought. The amount of such a participation generally is combined with other 
finance receivables on the balance sheet and need not be disclosed unless it is 
material in relation to total receivables. 

First Out 
4.06 A first-out agreement provides recourse to certain par t ic ipants and 

may raise a question of whether the transaction is a financing arrangement 
rather than a sharing of the risks and rewards of a part icular loan. FASB 
Statement No. 77, Reporting by Transferors for Transfers of Receivables With 
Recourse, explicitly applies to participation agreements tha t provide for 
recourse. The s tandard generally requires recognizing such a participation as a 
sale if (a) the transferor surrenders control of the future economic benefits 
embodied in the receivables, ( b ) the transferor 's obligation under the recourse 
provisions can be reasonably estimated, and (c) the transferee cannot require 
the transferor to repurchase the receivables except pursuant to the recourse 
provisions. If any of those conditions is not met, the transferor should report 
the amount of proceeds from the participation as a liability and continue to 
present the gross amount of the related receivable. Significant amounts of 
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loans t h a t collateralize first-out par t ic ipa t ions should be disclosed in the notes 
to the f inancial s ta tements . FASB S ta t emen t No. 77 also requires cer tain 
disclosures for t ransfers of receivables with recourse reported as sales. 

Auditing 
4.07 The audi tor should consider reviewing compliance with the signifi-

cant provisions of par t ic ipa t ion agreements , reviewing subsidiary listings of 
par t ic ipa t ions bought from or sold to other insti tutions, and test ing t ransac-
tions to suppor t ing documenta t ion . The audi tor generally cannot confirm 
directly with the debtors if the f inance company bought its pa r t i c ipa t ing 
shares under nonnotif icat ion a r rangements . Ins tead , the audi tor m a y corre-
spond direct ly with the audi tor of the other par t i c ipa t ing company. For 
example, the audi tor m a y ask whether the par t i c ipa t ing share was included in 
the sample tested by the other audi tor and, if not, m a y request the other 
audi tor to confirm the loan or to obta in permission from the other par t ic ipa t -
ing f inance company to confirm the loan directly. 
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Insurance Activities of Finance Companies 
5.01 Insurance operations ordinarily are an integral par t of consumer 

finance activities. The auditor of a finance company tha t engages in or has a 
subsidiary tha t engages in insurance activities should be familiar with FASB 
Statement No. 60, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance Enterprises. This 
chapter deals primarily with insurance business generated from finance cus-
tomers, though it also addresses insurance coverage provided to others who are 
not also finance customers. 

Types of Insurance Coverage 
5.02 Insurance activities of finance companies often involve insuring risks 

related to loan transactions. Following are the three general types of insurance 
coverage associated with those transactions: 

a. Credit life coverage for loan repayment in the event of the debtor's 
death 

b. Credit accident and health coverage for installment loan payments 
in the event of the debtor's illness or disability for an extended 
period 

c. Property and liability coverage on collateral or other property 
associated with the loan transaction 

Credit Life 
5.03 Credit life insurance is a form of term insurance tha t provides for 

loan repayment if the debtor dies before the loan is fully paid. I t ordinarily is 
written on a single-premium basis, with the amount of the premium added to 
the loan balance and paid as par t of the scheduled installments on the loan. 

5.04 Credit life insurance includes level term insurance and decreasing 
term insurance. Level term insurance provides a fixed amount of coverage, 
generally the original amount of the loan. Decreasing term insurance, the more 
common type, insures the debtor's life to the extent of the unpaid balance of 
the loan, sometimes less any delinquent payments, at the date of death. 
However, decreasing term insurance usually is based on the contractual loan 
period. Therefore, the insurer may not pay off the entire uncollected balance 
on the loan if it is in delinquency status a t the time of the debtor 's death. The 
extent to which delinquent installments are covered generally depends on the 
insurance contract and on applicable state insurance rules and regulations. 

5.05 The insurer's risk exposure on a policy a t a given point in t ime under 
level term insurance differs from tha t under decreasing term credit life 
insurance. Because level term insurance provides coverage equal to the origi-
nal amount of the loan, the insurer's risk exposure is constant throughout the 
term of the loan. In contrast, the insurer's exposure under decreasing term 
insurance decreases as scheduled loan repayments become due, usually in 
direct proportion to the regular monthly reductions of the loan balance. 

Credit Accident and Health 
5.06 Credit accident and health insurance requires the insurer to make 

the debtor's monthly loan payments during extended periods of illness or 
disability. Ordinarily it is writ ten on a single-premium basis, with the pre-
mium added to the loan amount and, hence, paid as par t of the periodic 
installments. Under an accident and health policy, the insurer's total risk 
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exposure decreases—as in a decreasing te rm credit life insurance policy—as 
loan r epaymen t s are made. However, the size of potent ia l claims and the 
related risk exposure do not decrease in direct proportion to the reduction in 
the unpaid loan balance, because most credit accident and heal th insurance 
claims are for short-durat ion disabilities t ha t are cured in a period shorter 
t h an the remaining loan term. 

Property and Liability 
5.07 Ordinari ly, a f inance company requires t h a t the collateral pledged as 

securi ty to a loan be protected by proper ty insurance. Such coverage m a y be 
obtained f rom the lender 's insurance subsidiary or f rom an unaff i l ia ted in-
surer. The amoun t of coverage is usually based on the value of the collateral 
and does not necessarily bear a relat ionship to the unpa id balance of the loan. 
P roper ty insurance policies issued in connection with f inance t ransact ions can 
be wr i t ten either on a single-premium basis for the loan te rm or for an annua l 
or other period of less than the remaining loan te rm, and the policy renewed as 
required. P remiums charged by lenders' insurance aff i l ia tes for p roper ty 
insurance coverage related to f inance t ransact ions f requent ly are added to the 
loan amount and paid as pa r t of the regular ins ta l lment paymen t s on the loan. 

Writing Policies 
5.08 An insurance subsidiary of a f inance company m a y be a direct 

wri t ing or a reinsurance company. A direct wri t ing company writes the 
insurance policies in its name. A reinsurance company reinsures policies 
wri t ten by direct wri t ing companies. 

5.09 The insurance can be issued on either a group or an individual policy 
basis. For group coverage, the insurer issues the policy to the f inance company, 
which in tu rn issues individual cer t i f icates to its debtor-customers. Group 
policies m a y be subject to experience-rated p remium ad jus tmen t s based on 
experience and prof i tabi l i ty of the group being covered. 

Commissions 
5.10 Insurers , both insurance subsidiaries of f inance companies and 

independent companies, m a y pay commissions to f inance companies. Those 
paymen t s m a y be in the form of advance commissions computed as a percent-
age of premiums, retrospective or experience-rated commissions, or combina-
tions of advance commissions and retrospect ive commissions. 

Accounting 
5.11 Accounting by enterprises t ha t issue insurance contracts is dealt 

with in FASB S ta t emen t No. 60, Accounting and Reporting by Insurance 
Enterprises, and in FASB S ta t emen t No. 97, Accounting and Reporting by 
Insurance Enterprises for Certain Long-Duration Contracts and for Realized 
Gains and Losses From the Sale of Investments, and FASB S ta t emen t No. 113, 
Accounting and Reporting for Reinsurance of Short-Duration and Long-Dura-
tion Contracts. 

Premium Income 
5.12 P remium income should be recognized in accordance with the 

methods described in FASB S ta t emen t No. 60. The s t a t emen t classifies insur-
ance contracts as being of short or long durat ion, depending on the period over 
which such contrac ts are expected to remain in force. The s t a t emen t provides 
the following guidance on factors to consider in de termining whether a con-
t rac t is of short or long durat ion: 
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a. Short-durat ion contracts provide insurance protection for a fixed 
period of short dura t ion and enable insurers to cancel the contracts 
or to ad jus t provisions of the contracts (such as the amount of 
p remiums charged or coverage provided) a t the end of any contract 
period. 

b. Long-durat ion contracts generally are not subject to uni la teral 
changes in their provisions, such as noncancelable or guaran teed 
renewable contracts , and require per formance of various funct ions 
and services (including insurance protection) for extended periods. 

5.13 FASB S ta t emen t No. 60 indicates t ha t examples of short dura t ion 
policies include most proper ty and liabili ty insurance contracts and certain 
t e rm life insurance contracts , such as credit life insurance. The s t a t emen t also 
indicates t ha t accident and heal th insurance contracts may be of short 
dura t ion or long durat ion, depending on the te rms of such contracts . 

5.14 Insurance policies issued in connection with consumer lending gener-
ally are considered to represent short-durat ion contracts . P remiums f rom such 
contracts are recognized as revenue over the period of the contract in propor-
tion to the amount of insurance protection provided. According to FASB 
S ta t emen t No. 60, " T h a t generally results in p remiums being recognized as 
revenue evenly over the contract period (or the period of risk, if different) , 
except for those few cases in which the amoun t of insurance protection declines 
according to a predetermined schedule." 

5.15 The following summar ize the revenue recognition principles for the 
various types of insurance policies: 

a. Credit life insurance. Straight-l ine recognition of p remium income 
should be used for level t e rm credit life insurance because the risk 
exposure is constant throughout the t e rm of the policy. The interest 
method should be used for decreasing te rm credit life insurance 
because the risk exposure declines in proportion to the scheduled 
reduction of the unpaid loan balance. 

b. Credit accident and health insurance. The risk exposure on credit 
accident and heal th insurance decreases throughout the t e rm of the 
policy because the amount of insurance in force a t a given t ime 
generally equals the unpaid loan balance. However, the risk expo-
sure as measured by an t ic ipa ted claims is less than the total in 
unpaid instal lments , because most illnesses and disabilities are for 
periods less t han the remaining loan terms. Accordingly, p remiums 
on credit accident and heal th insurance customari ly are recognized 
in income in reasonable relat ionship to an t ic ipa ted claims. This 
generally results in recognizing such p remium income in amounts 
t h a t fall between calculations under the straight-l ine method and a 
method based on the amount of insurance in force. To i l lustrate, 
assume tha t a credit accident and heal th insurer 's claim experience 
indicates t h a t revenue recognition in reasonable relat ionship to 
an t ic ipa ted claims approximates the mean of the straight-l ine and 
insurance in-force methods. For a loan due in six equal monthly 
ins ta l lments of $700 and a related credit accident and heal th insur-
ance p remium of $42, the following amounts are applicable: 
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Earned Premium for Month 

Month 

Total 
Unpaid Loan 
Installments 
at Beginning 

of Month 

Factor 
for 

Insurance 
In-Force 
Method 

Insurance 
In-Force 
Method 

Straight-
line 

Method 

Mean of 
In-Force 

and 
Straight-

line 
Methods 

1 $ 4,200 4 2 / 1 4 7 $12.00 $ 7.00 $ 9.50 
2 3,500 3 5 / 1 4 7 10.00 7.00 8.50 
3 2,800 2 8 / 1 4 7 8.00 7.00 7.50 
4 2,100 2 1 / 1 4 7 6.00 7.00 6.50 
5 1,400 1 4 / 1 4 7 4.00 7.00 5.50 
6 700 7 / 1 4 7 2.00 7.00 4.50 

T o t a l $14,700 $42.00 $42.00 $42.00 

c. Property and liability insurance. Property insurance premiums 
should be recognized on a straight-line basis because the risk expo-
sure generally is constant over the term of the policy. However, the 
premiums should be recognized on a decreasing basis in proportion 
to the coverage if the amount of coverage declines on a predeter-
mined schedule. 

Policy Acquisition Costs 
5.16 Policy acquisition costs are defined in FASB Statement No. 60 to be 

costs that both vary with and are primarily related to the acquisition of 
insurance contracts. Policy acquisition costs should be deferred and amortized 
to income over the terms of the policies by the same method used to account 
for insurance premium income. Commissions paid to the affiliated finance 
companies and premium taxes normally are the most significant elements of 
acquisition costs for captive insurance companies. Deferred costs associated 
with payment of such commissions and other intercompany items should be 
eliminated in consolidation. 

Investment Portfolios 
5.17 Insurance subsidiaries of finance companies maintain investment 

portfolios usually composed of the same types of securities found in the 
portfolios of independent insurance companies. State regulations restrict the 
types of investments that insurance companies may make. 

5.18 FASB Statement No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in 
Debt and Equity Securities, amends FASB Statement No. 60 to require that 
insurance enterprises account for all investments in debt securities and invest-
ments in equity securities that have readily determinable fair values, as 
defined by FASB Statement No. 115, in accordance with the provisions of 
Statement No. 115. 

5.19 Insurance subsidiaries are required to deposit some securities, usu-
ally not a significant amount, with state regulatory authorities. However, if 
significant, the amount deposited should be disclosed. 

State Laws 
5.20 Insurance companies are regulated by state insurance laws, which 

require maintenance of accounting records and adoption of accounting prac-
tices in compliance with the laws and regulations of the state of domicile. Some 
prescribed or permitted statutory accounting practices differ from generally 
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accepted account ing principles. Accordingly, the f inancial s t a t emen t s of insur-
ance subsidiaries prepared for submission to regulatory authori t ies mus t be 
adjus ted to conform to generally accepted account ing principles before they 
can be consolidated with the f inancial s t a t emen t s of the pa ren t companies. 

Commissions 

5.21 A f inance company may receive commissions from an independent 
insurer for policies issued to f inance customers. Insurance commissions re-
ceived from an independent insurer should be deferred and systematical ly 
amort ized to income over the life of the related insurance contrac ts because 
the insurance and lending act ivi t ies are integral pa r t s of the same t ransac-
tions. The method of commission amor t iza t ion should be consistent with the 
method of p remium income recognition for t h a t type of policy as set for th in 
FASB S ta tement No. 60. 

5.22 Income from experience-rated or retrospective commission arrange-
ments should be accrued over the appl icable insurance risk period. Insurers 
generally can provide s tat is t ical d a t a t h a t can be used to es t imate experience-
ra ted or retrospective commissions if the f inance company does not have 
adequa te in ternal da ta . 

5.23 Commissions paid to a f inance company by an insurance subsidiary 
are el iminated in consolidation. 

Consolidation Policy 
5.24 FASB S ta t emen t No. 94, Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Sub-

sidiaries, requires consolidation of all majori ty-owned subsidiaries unless con-
trol is t empora ry or does not rest with the major i ty owner. The s t a t emen t 
requi res consol idat ion of a ma jo r i t y -owned subs id i a ry even if it has 
nonhomogeneous operations, a large minori ty interest , or a foreign location. 
The s t a t emen t also precludes use of pa ren t -company f inancial s t a t ements 
prepared for issuance to stockholders as the f inancial s t a t emen t s of the 
p r imary report ing ent i ty . The s t a t emen t requires t h a t summar ized informa-
tion about the assets, liabilities, and results of operat ions (or separa te s tate-
ments) of previously unconsolidated majori ty-owned subsidiaries continue to 
be provided a f t e r those subsidiaries are consolidated. 

Financial Statement Presentation 
5.25 Presenta t ion of revenues, unearned premiums, and unpaid claims 

related to act ivi t ies of an insurance subsidiary varies. In consolidated f inancial 
s ta tements , some f inance companies combine revenues from insurance pro-
vided both to f inance customers and other customers with revenues from 
finance act ivi t ies to present a tota l revenue amount ; others do not. Some 
companies present cer tain unearned premiums and unpa id claims on insur-
ance related to f inance customers as liabilities in their consolidated balance 
sheets; others deduct such amoun t s from total f inance receivables. 

5.26 Unearned p remiums and unpaid claims on cer ta in insurance policies 
issued to f inance customers by a subsidiary m a y represent in ter -company 
i tems because p remiums are added to the consumer loan account , which is, in 
tu rn , classified as a receivable unt i l paid, and most or all of the paymen t s on 
claims are appl ied to reduce the related f inance receivables. Therefore, 
unearned p remiums and unpaid claims on cer ta in credit life and credit 
accident and heal th insurance policies issued to f inance customers should be 
deducted from f inance receivables in the consolidated balance sheet. T h a t will 
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cause the receivables to be s ta ted a t net realizable value. The following 
i l lustrates t h a t type of presentat ion: 

Alternat ively, the balance sheet m a y present only the net f inance receivables 
if the notes to the f inancial s t a t emen t s contain suff ic ient disclosure of 
unearned premiums and unpaid claims and the allowance for losses. 

5.27 Unpa id claims for proper ty insurance and a portion of level t e rm life 
insurance, however, generally m a y not be applied in consolidation against 
related f inance receivables because f inance companies generally do not receive 
substant ia l ly all proceeds of such claims. T h a t prohibit ion also applies to 
credit life and accident and heal th coverage wri t ten on policies for which the 
related receivables are assets of unre la ted enterprises. In those circumstances, 
such amounts should be presented as liabilities. 

5.28 Revenues from insurance provided to f inance customers may be 
presented as pa r t of revenues from the f inance business. This presenta t ion 
may be preferable because it be t te r por t rays the relat ive significance of 
capt ive insurance act ivi t ies to the earnings of the enterprise. The following 
i l lustrates a form of t h a t presentat ion: 

Revenues from finance business: 
Interest and finance charges earned 

on finance receivables XXX 
Insurance premiums and commissions XXX 
Investment and other income XXX 

Total revenues XXX 
Alternat ively, if the income s t a t emen t emphasizes presenta t ion of net interest 
income, another approach may be to present revenues from capt ive insurance 
activit ies separa te ly below net interest income. 

5.29 FASB S ta t emen t No. 14, Financial Reporting for Segments of a 
Business Enterprise, requires public enterprises to present in their f inancial 
s t a t ements industry-segment informat ion on revenues, prof i tabi l i ty , identifi-
able assets, and other mat te r s . For such report ing purposes, insurance business 
relat ing to f inance customers should be included in the f inance business 
segment. 

Auditing 
5.30 The AICPA indus t ry aud i t guide, Audits of Stock Life Insurance 

Companies and the aud i t and account ing guide, Audits of Property and 
Liability Insurance Companies, provide guidance on audi t ing concepts and 
procedures for insurance companies. The audi tor should consider reviewing 
these AICPA guides for information. In addit ion, the audi tor should consider 
whether accounts between the f inance company and the insurance subsidiaries 
are reconciled regularly. 

5.31 Because the p remiums and commissions associated with insurance 
provided to f inance customers ordinari ly are an integral p a r t of the related 
f inance and loan t ransact ions, the audi t procedures used to test and evaluate 
f inance t ransact ions should include related insurance activit ies. Similarly, 

Finance receivables 
Less: 

Allowance for losses 
Unearned premiums and unpaid claim 

liabilities related to finance receivables 
Finance receivables, net 

( X X X ) 
X X X 

( X X X ) 

X X X 
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branch office controls over loans usually apply to insurance products . The 
audi tor should be satisfied t h a t the income recognition methods for insurance 
premiums and commission income conform to the principles discussed in this 
chapter . 
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Chapter 6 

Acquisitions of Finance Companies and 
Operations 

6.01 APB Opinion No. 16, Business Combinations, requires tha t the 
purchase price of a company be allocated among all assets, including identifi-
able intangible assets, based on their fair values. The remaining unassigned 
portion of the purchase price is then accounted for as goodwill. Bulk purchases 
of receivables portfolios of an existing finance company also result in similar 
allocations among tangible and intangible assets. Following are some consider-
ations tha t may affect such allocations, or the purchase price of a finance 
company or receivables portfolio: 

• A finance company may seek to expand its operations to geographi-
cal areas where it presently does not do business. To avoid the start-
up costs of establishing new branch offices, the finance company 
may be willing to pay a premium to buy another finance company 
tha t operates in such areas. Furthermore, the finance company may 
be especially willing to pay a premium if licenses are difficult to 
obtain or if regulatory or competitive conditions otherwise compli-
cate entry into those areas. 

• A finance company may buy another finance company or a receiv-
ables portfolio to obtain an established base of loans and customers. 
The acquiring company may pay a premium, particularly for a 
portfolio of direct consumer loans and retail sales contracts, in the 
expectation tha t the purchased accounts will provide new loans and 
customers. 

• The acquiring company may have no finance operations and thus 
may seek to buy an existing finance company to obtain valuable 
loan licenses, management expertise, and customer lists. Therefore, 
the buyer may be willing to pay a premium for an initial entry into 
the business. 

• A finance company may be willing to pay a premium to another 
finance company with an a t t ract ive debt structure. For example, 
the acquired company may have issued long-term debt in prior 
years at interest rates tha t are favorable when compared with rates 
prevailing at the purchase date. 

• The seller may enter into an agreement not to compete in a specified 
geographical area or for a specified period. The acquiring company 
may pay a premium for such an agreement not to compete. 

6.02 To compute the net premium paid for the finance receivables, loans 
may be examined or graded and assigned to one of several rating categories to 
determine their estimated fair value. Considerations in determining fair values 
may be current market rates of interest and s tatutory limits on rates as well as 
quali ty of the accounts. 

6.03 APB Opinion No. 17, Intangible Assets, as amended by FASB 
Statement No. 72, Accounting for Certain Acquisitions of Banking or Thrift 
Institutions, addresses accounting for intangible assets, including goodwill, 
acquired in business combinations. The opinion requires tha t useful lives of 
identifiable intangible assets be estimated separately so tha t appropriate 
periods of amortization may be determined . The opinion states tha t amortiza-
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tion periods for intangible assets acquired a f t e r its issuance should not exceed 
forty years under any circumstances. 

6.04 FASB S ta t emen t No. 72 applies to the acquisit ion of a commercial 
bank, a savings and loan association, a m u t u a l savings bank, a credit union, 
other depository inst i tut ions having assets and liabilities of the same types as 
those insti tutions, and branches of such enterprises. Provisions of FASB State-
ment No. 72 app ly to acquisit ions of f inance companies bu t are not likely to 
have wide appl icat ion in practice. Under t ha t s t andard , when the fair value of 
liabilities assumed exceeds the fair value of tangible and identif ied intangible 
assets acquired, t h a t excess const i tutes an unident i f iable intangible asset t h a t 
should be amort ized to expense using the interest method over a period no 
greater than the es t imated remaining life of the long-term interest-bearing 
assets acquired. 

6.05 Ne t p remiums paid for f inance receivables generally are amort ized 
over the es t imated life of the existing receivables portfolio. The es t imated life 
may include expected renewals, and generally is a relat ively short period, such 
as five to seven years. However, the existence of valuable loan licenses or 
agreements not to compete may indicate t h a t longer amor t iza t ion periods are 
war ran ted . Nevertheless, conservatism should be a mi t iga t ing factor in deter-
mining those amor t iza t ion periods for such net p remiums and for goodwill 
because changes in s ta te laws and regulations or in the compet i t ive environ-
ment may render valueless such loan licenses or agreements not to compete. 
Amounts paid t ha t are identif ied as relat ing to long-term debt with a t t r ac t ive 
interest ra tes should be amort ized, using the interest method, over the lives of 
the related debt . Such amounts would reduce the carrying amoun t of debt and 
would not be shown as an asset. 

6.06 APB Opinion No. 17 requires goodwill to be amort ized using the 
straight-l ine method unless another rat ional and systemat ic method is demon-
s t ra ted to be more appropr ia te . If a f inance company was purchased for 
terr i torial expansion of operat ions or for some purpose other than an init ial 
en t ry into the f inance business, consideration should be given to whether 
amounts designated as goodwill would be more appropr ia te ly accounted for as 
yield ad jus tmen t s to the acquired receivables. In general, a review of specific 
facts and circumstances, such as economic conditions and competi t ion, should 
be considered. 

6.07 Amounts of intangible assets m a y be presented in the balance sheet 
in one or more categories, depending on the mater ia l i ty of the accounts. 
In tangib le assets usually are presented as the last asset i tem or i tems in the 
balance sheet. 

6.08 Audit ing procedures for acquisit ions of f inance companies are gener-
ally similar to audi t ing procedures for acquisit ions of other enterprises. 
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Appendix A 

Illustrative Financial Statements 
The following set of financial s tatements illustrates one form of currently 

acceptable practice and, as indicated, does not include all disclosures required 
under generally accepted accounting principles. The notes to the financial 
s tatements are representative of the basic type of disclosure for finance 
companies. Additional disclosures, such as information concerning related-
par ty transactions, subsequent events, pension plans, postretirement benefits 
other than pensions, postemployment benefits, lease commitments, accounting 
changes, off-balance-sheet risks, concentrations of credit risk, the fair value of 
financial instruments, and other mat ters not unique to finance companies may 
be required by generally accepted accounting principles. Other forms of 
financial s tatements are acceptable. More or less detail should appear either in 
the financial s ta tement or in the notes, depending on the circumstances. 

The banking industry has adopted an income statement format that 
emphasizes presentation of net interest income. Because of the similarity 
between many banking activities and finance company activities, the Finance 
Companies Guide Special Committee believes tha t such a presentation is of 
increasing relevance for the finance industry. Therefore, the illustrative finan-
cial s tatements in this appendix include two alternative income s ta tement 
formats, the first of which emphasizes a net interest income presentation. 

Nevertheless, certain factors may limit the usefulness of the net interest 
income presentation. An income s ta tement tha t does not emphasize net 
interest income may be more appropriate for companies tha t engage primarily 
or solely in factoring operations or tha t otherwise derive a substantial portion 
of their income from commissions for services rather than from interest earned 
on loans. Additionally, the scope of what is to be included in net interest 
income needs to be considered. For example, as not done in the illustrative 
financial statements, a finance company may include credit insurance premi-
ums and insurance claims expense on affiliated credit insurance business in the 
display of net interest income to recognize the integral nature of lending and 
credit insurance activities. In addition, all or a portion of investment income 
may be included in the display of net interest income. 

FASB Statement No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows, requires a s ta tement 
of cash flows as part of a full set of financial s ta tements for all business 
enterprises in place of a s ta tement of changes in financial position. 

The s ta tement requires tha t a s ta tement of cash flows classify cash 
receipts and payments according to whether they stem from operating, invest-
ing, or financing activities and provides definitions of each category. 

The s ta tement requires tha t information about investing and financing 
activities not resulting in cash receipts or payments in the period be provided 
separately. 

The s ta tement encourages enterprises to report cash flows from operating 
activities directly by showing major classes of operating cash receipts and 
payments (the direct method). Enterprises tha t choose not to show operating 
cash receipts and payments are required to report the same amount of net 
cash flow from operating activities indirectly by adjusting net income to 
reconcile it to net cash flow from operating activities (the indirect reconcilia-
tion method) by removing the effects of (a) all deferrals of past operating cash 
receipts and payments and all accruals of expected future operating cash 
receipts and payments, and (b) all items tha t are included in net income that 
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do not af fec t opera t ing cash receipts and payments . If the direct method is 
used, a reconciliation of net income and net cash flow from operat ing act ivi t ies 
is required to be provided in a separa te schedule. 

Both the direct and the indirect methods are i l lustrated in this appendix. 
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Exhibit 1 

XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Balance Sheets 

Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 
(in thousands except share and per share amounts) 

19X5 

Assets 
Finance receivables, net 
Inves tments in securities * 
Cash 
Proper ty and equ ipment 
Other 

Tota l assets 

Liabilities 
Senior debt 
Senior subordinated debt 
Junior subordinated debt 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Credit balances of factor ing clients 
Deferred income taxes ** 

Tota l liabilities 

Shareholders' Equity 
Common stock, $1 p a r va lue ; 4 ,269 ,000 shares 

author ized and ou ts tanding 
Addit ional paid-in capi ta l 
Ne t unreal ized depreciat ion of marke tab le equi ty 

securities 
Reta ined earnings 

Tota l shareholders ' equi ty 

Tota l liabilities and shareholders ' equ:ity 

$333,649 
32,760 

6,015 
4 ,689 

11,628 

$163,064 
84,204 
31,400 
15,727 
4,120 
3,972 

19X4 

$272,166 
30,838 

4,907 
3,830 
9,577 

$388,741 $321,318 

$113,723 
74,572 
30,500 
13,866 

3,112 
3,469 

$302,487 $239,242 

$ 4 ,269 
18,945 

(626) 
63,666 

$ 4,269 
18,945 

(278) 
59,140 

$ 86,254 $ 82,076 

$388,741 $321,318 

The accompanying notes are an integral pa r t of these f inancial s t a tements . 

* These financial statements have not been revised to reflect FASB Statement No. 115, 
Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. See FASB Statement No. 115 
for dislcosure requirements that are applicable to financial statements for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 1993. 

** See FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, for disclosure requirements 
that are applicable for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 1992. 
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Exhibit 2 

XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Statements of Income and Retained Earnings: Format 1 

Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 
(in thousands except per share amounts) 

19X5 19X4 

In teres t income 
In teres t and fee income $ 55,510 $ 47,302 
In teres t expense (18,825) (16,283) 

In teres t income before provision for credit losses 36,685 31,019 
Provision for credit losses * (4,284) (3,623) 

Ne t interest income 32,401 27,396 
Insurance premiums and other income 13,040 11,650 
Other expenses 

Salaries and fringe benef i ts (10,546) (8,987) 
Other opera t ing expenses (13,227) (11,565) 
Policyholders' benef i ts (6,644) (5,600) 

Income before income taxes 15,024 12,894 
Income taxes (7,211) (6,189) 

N e t income 7,813 6,705 
Reta ined earnings, beginning of year 59,140 55,551 
Dividends (3,287) (3,116) 

Reta ined earnings, end of year $ 63,666 $ 59,140 

Earn ings per share $ 1.83 $ 1.57 

Dividends per share $ 0.77 $ 0.73 

The accompanying notes are an integral p a r t of these f inancial s ta tements . 

* See FASB Statement No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan, for 
disclosure requirements that are applicable to financial statements for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 1994. 
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Exhibit 3 

XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Statements of Income and Retained Earnings: Format 2 

Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 
(in thousands except per share amounts) 

19X5 19X4 

Revenues 
In teres t and fee income $ 55,510 $ 47,302 
Insurance premiums and other income 13,040 11,650 

Tota l revenues 68,550 58,952 

Expenses 
In teres t expense 18,825 16,283 
Policyholders' benefi ts 6,644 5,600 
Provision for credit losses * 4,284 3,623 
Salaries and fringe benefi ts 10,546 8,987 
Other opera t ing expenses 13,227 11,565 

Tota l expenses 53,526 46,058 

Income before income taxes 15,024 12,894 
Income taxes 7,211 6 ,189 

Ne t income 7,813 6,705 
Reta ined earnings, beginning of year 59,140 55,551 
Dividends (3,287) (3,116) 

Reta ined earnings, end of year $ 63,666 $ 59,140 

Earn ings per share $ 1.83 $ 1.57 

Dividends per share $ 0.77 $ 0.73 

The accompanying notes are an integral par t of these f inancial s ta tements . 

* See FASB Statement No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan, for 
disclosure requirements that are applicable to financial statements for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 1994. 
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Exhibit 4a 

XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Statements of Cash Flows: Direct Method 

Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 
(in thousands) 

19X5 19X4 

Cash flows f rom operat ing activit ies: 
In teres t and fees received $ 54,698 $ 46,589 
In teres t paid (18,275) (15,897) 
Cash paymen t s for opera t ing expenses (21,912) (18,686) 
Income taxes paid (5,242) (4,565) 
Insurance p remiums received 12,790 11,498 
Other (2,611) (1,937) 

Ne t cash provided by operat ing act ivi t ies 19,448 17,002 

Cash flows from investing activit ies: 
Loans originated or purchased * (190,304) (136,571) 
Loans repaid or sold * 118,705 83,750 
Ne t inves tment in commercial paper (346) (555) 
Securities purchased ** (19,243) (17,512) 
Securities sold or ma tu red ** 17,471 16,639 
Capi ta l expenditures (1,409) (1,656) 
Proceeds from sale of p roper ty and equ ipment 200 643 

Ne t cash used in investing act ivi t ies (74,926) (55,262) 

Cash flows from f inancing activit ies: 
Ne t borrowings of commercial paper 16,939 10,215 
Proceeds from issuance of other debt 71,000 50,000 
R e p a y m e n t of other debt (28,066) (18,215) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 0 955 
Dividends paid (3,287) (3,116) 

Net cash provided by f inancing act ivi t ies 56,586 39,839 

N e t increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,108 1,579 
Cash and cash equivalents , beginning of year 4,907 3,328 

Cash and cash equivalents , end of year $ 6,015 $ 4,907 

* If the amounts are significant, this caption may be separated into two line items. 
** These financial statements have not been revised to reflect FASB Statement No. 115, 

Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. See FASB Statement No. 115 
for disclosure requirements that are applicable to financial statements for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 1993. 
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R e c o n c i l i a t i o n of n e t i n c o m e to n e t c a s h prov ided by o p e r a t i n g 
act iv i t ies : 

19X5 19X4 

Net income $ 7,813 $ 6,705 
A d j u s t m e n t s to reconcile net income to ne t cash 

provided by operat ing activit ies: 
Provision for credit losses on f inance receivables 4,284 3,623 
Policyholders' benef i ts 6,644 5,600 
Depreciat ion 350 303 
Deferred income taxes 503 473 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,861 1,530 
Accrued interest receivable (812) (713) 
Gain on sale of securities (152) (183) 
Other (1,043) (336) 

Ne t cash provided by operat ing act ivi t ies $ 19,448 : $ 17,002 

The accompanying notes are an integral pa r t of these f inancial s ta tements . 
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Exhibit 4b 

XYZ Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
Statements of Cash Flows: Indirect Method 
Years Ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4 

(in thousands) (in thousands) 
19X5 19X4 

Cash flows from operat ing activities: 
Ne t income $ 7,813 $ 6,705 
Adjus tmen t s to reconcile net income to net cash 

provided by operat ing activities: 
Provision for credit losses on f inance receivables 4,284 3,623 
Policyholders' benefi ts 6,644 5,600 
Deprecia t ion 350 303 
Deferred income taxes 503 473 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 1,861 1,530 
Accrued interest receivable (812) (713) 
Gain on sale of securities (152) (183) 
Other (1,043) (336) 

Ne t cash provided by operat ing act ivi t ies 19,448 17,002 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Loans originated or purchased * (190,304) (136,571) 
Loans repaid or sold * 118,705 83,750 
Ne t inves tment in commercial paper (346) (555) 
Securities purchased ** (19,243) (17,512) 
Securities sold or ma tu red *,** 17,471 16,639 
Capi ta l expenditures (1,409) (1,656) 
Proceeds from sale of p roper ty and equ ipment 200 643 

Net cash used in investing act ivi t ies (74,926) (55,262) 

Cash flows from financing activities: 
Ne t borrowings of commercial paper 16,939 10,215 
Proceeds from issuance of other debt 71,000 50,000 
R e p a y m e n t of other debt (28,066) (18,215) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 0 955 
Dividends paid (3,287) (3,116) 

Ne t cash provided by f inancing act ivi t ies 56,586 39,839 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,108 1,579 
Cash and cash equivalents , beginning of year 4,907 3,328 

Cash and cash equivalents , end of year $ 6,015 $ 4,907 

S u p p l e m e n t a l d i sc losures of cash f l o w in format ion: 
19X5 19X4 

Cash paid dur ing the year for: 
In teres t $ 18,275 $ 15,897 
Income taxes $ 5,242 $ 4,565 

The accompanying notes are an integral pa r t of these f inancial s ta tements . 

* If the amounts are significant, this caption may be separated into two line items. 
** These financial statements have not been revised to reflect FASB Statement No. 115, 

Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. See FASB Statement No. 115 
for disclosure requirements that are applicable to financial statements for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 1993. 
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Exhibit 5 

X Y Z Finance Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries 

Notes to Financial Statements 

A—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated f inancial s t a t emen t s include the accounts of X Y Z Fi-
nance Corporat ion (the Company) and its subsidiaries. All s ignificant in-
te rcompany accounts and t ransact ions have been e l iminated in consolidation. 

Income Recognition 

In te res t income from f inance receivables is recognized using the interest 
(ac tuar ia l ) method. Accrual of interest income on f inance receivables is sus-
pended when a loan is cont rac tua l ly del inquent for n inety days or more. The 
accrual is resumed when the loan becomes cont rac tua l ly current , and past-due 
interest income is recognized at t h a t t ime. In addit ion, a detai led review of 
commercial loans will cause earlier suspension if collection is doubt fu l . Premi-
ums and commissions for credit life insurance are recognized as revenue using 
the interest method. P remiums and commissions for credit accident and heal th 
insurance are recognized over the te rms of the contrac ts based on the mean of 
the straight-l ine and interest methods. 

Credit Losses 

Provisions for credit losses are charged to income in amounts sufficient to 
ma in ta in the allowance at a level considered adequa te to cover the losses of 
pr incipal and interest in the existing portfolio. The Company ' s charge-off 
policy is based on a loan-by-loan review for all receivables except consumer 
loans and factored receivables, which are charged off when they are 180 days 
and 90 days cont rac tua l ly past due, respectively. [See FASB S ta t emen t No. 
114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan, for disclosure require-
ments t ha t are appl icable to f inancial s t a t emen t s for fiscal years beginning 
a f te r December 15, 1994.] 

Loan Origination Fees and Costs 

Fees received and direct costs incurred for the origination of loans are 
deferred and amort ized to interest income over the cont rac tua l lives of the 
loans using the interest method. Unamor t ized amoun t s are recognized in 
income a t the t ime t h a t loans are sold or paid in full. 

Investments 

Inves tmen t s in marke tab le equi ty securities are carried a t lower of 
aggregate marke t value and cost. Inves tmen t s in bonds and notes are carried 
a t amort ized cost. The amoun t by which the aggregate cost of inves tments in 
marke tab le equi ty securities exceeds aggregate marke t value is reported as a 
deduction f rom equi ty . N e t realized gains or losses result ing f rom sales of 
inves tments or from declines in marke t values of inves tments t h a t are other 
than t empora ry are included in income. [See FASB S ta t emen t No. 115, 
Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, for disclo-
sure requi rements t ha t are appl icable to f inancial s t a t emen t s for fiscal years 
beginning a f t e r December 15, 1993.] 
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B—Finance Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses 

Finance receivables as of December 31 consisted of the following (in 
thousands of dollars): 

19X5 19X4 

Consumer 
Real es ta te secured $131,961 $104,078 
Other 119,135 97,857 
Accrued interest 3,175 2,550 

254,271 204,485 
Commercial 

Accounts receivable loans 32,002 27,440 
Factored accounts 

Receivables 21,404 18,594 
Inven tory loans to clients 2,965 2,876 
Overadvances to clients 2,947 2,260 

Floor plan loans 5,441 5,763 
Other 29,962 23,620 
Accrued interest 1,200 1,013 

95,921 81,566 

Total f inance receivables 350,192 286,051 
Allowance for credit losses (9,506) (7,839) 
Unearned credit insurance premiums 

and reserves for policyholder benefi ts (7,037) (6,046) 

Finance receivables, net $333,649 $272,166 

On December 31, 19X5, the accrual of interest income was suspended on 
$4,086,000 and $2,107,000 of consumer and commercial loans, respectively. 

[See FASB S ta t emen t No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a 
Loan, for disclosure requi rements t ha t are applicable to f inancial s t a t ements 
for fiscal years beginning a f t e r December 15, 1994.] 

On December 31, 19X5, cont rac tua l matur i t i es of f inance receivables were as 
follows (in thousands of dollars): 

Consumer 
Real estate 

secured 
Other 

Commercial 
Accounts receiv-

able loans 
Factored 

accounts 
Floor plan 

loans 
Other 
Accrued 

interest 
Total finance 

receivables 

19X6 19X7 

$ 20,963 $10,785 
51,325 29,374 

32,002 

27,316 

19X8 

$10,474 
20,164 

19X9 19Y0 
There-
after 

$ 8,480 $ 8,917 $72,342 
9,507 2,423 6,342 

4,686 
6,140 

4,375 

755 
8,243 5,192 4,934 5,453 

Total 

$131,961 
119,135 

32,002 

27,316 

5,441 
29,962 

4,375 

$146,807 $49,157 $35,830 $22,921 $16,793 $78,684 $350,192 
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I t is the Company ' s experience t h a t a subs tant ia l portion of the consumer loan 
portfolio generally is renewed or repaid before cont rac tua l m a t u r i t y dates. The 
above tabula t ion , therefore, is not to be regarded as a forecast of f u tu r e cash 
collections. Dur ing the years ended December 31, 19X5 and 19X4, cash 
collections of pr incipal amoun t s of consumer loans totaled $57,670,000 and 
$40,719,000, respectively, and the ratios of these cash collections to average 
principal balances were 25 percent and 2 9 percent , respectively. 

Changes in the allowance for credit losses were as follows (in thousands of 
dollars): 

Consumer Commercial 

Real 
Estate 
Secured Other 

Accounts 
Receiv-

able 
Loans 

Factored 
Accounts 

Floor 
Plan 

Loans Other Total 
Balance as of 

December 31, 
19X3 $ 762 $3,885 $628 $556 $112 $620 $6,563 

Provision for 
$6,563 

credit losses 597 1,564 627 534 129 172 3,623 
Loans charged off (376) (1,357) (749) (639) (154) (156) (3,431) 
Recoveries 58 490 225 192 46 73 1,084 

Balance as of 
December 31, 

19X4 1,041 4,582 731 643 133 709 7,839 
Provision for 

1,041 7,839 

credit losses 651 2,090 664 583 121 175 4,284 
Loans charged off (448) (1,601) (808) (710) (147) (178) (3,892) 
Recoveries 76 601 243 213 44 98 1,275 

Balance as of 
December 31, 

19X5 $1,320 $5,672 $830 $729 $151 $804 $9,506 
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C—Investments in Securities 
Inves tmen t s in securities as of December 31 were as follows (in thousands 

of dollars): 

19X5 19X4 

Cost Market 

Carry-
ing 

Amount Cost Market 

Carry-
ing 

Amount 

Marketable equity 
securities 

Common stocks 
Preferred stocks 

$ 10,454 
5,897 

$ 9,523 
6,202 

$ 9,523 
6,202 

$ 9,429 
5,551 

$ 8,382 
6,320 

$ 8,382 
6,320 

Total marketable 
equity securities 16,351 15,725 15,725 14,980 14,702 14,702 

Other 
Government bonds 
Corporate bonds 
Commercial paper 

6,552 
4,586 
5,897 

6,128 
4,271 
5,897 

6,552 
4,586 
5,897 

6,267 
4,318 
5,551 

5,832 
4,017 
5,551 

6,267 
4,318 
5,551 

Total other 17,035 16,296 17,035 16,136 15,400 16,136 

Total investments in 
securities $ 33,386 $ 32,021 $ 32,760 $ 31,116 $ 30,102 $ 30,838 

All but $6,710,000 and $3,801,000 of the above inves tments were held by 
insurance subsidiaries as of December 31, 19X5 and 19X4, respectively. As of 
December 31, 19X5, the marke tab le equi ty securities portfolio had gross 
unrealized gains of $428,000 and gross unrealized losses of $1,054,000. The 
gross unrealized losses have not been reduced for their tax effects. Sales of 
marke tab le equi ty securities resulted in net realized gains of $152,000 and 
$183,000 in 19X5 and 19X4, respectively. 

[See FASB S ta t emen t No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt 
and Equity Securities, for disclosure requi rements t h a t are applicable to 
f inancial s t a t emen t s for fiscal years beginning a f t e r December 15, 1993.] 

AAG-FIN APP A 



Illustrative Financial Statements 71 

D — D e b t 

D e b t as of December 31 consisted of the following (in thousands of 
dollars): 

19X5 19X4 

Senior debt 
Commercial paper $ 62,600 $ 45,661 
4% to 7% notes due 19X6—19X9 73,866 47,570 
7 ½% notes due 19Y0— 19Y4 12,090 9,314 
8% notes due 19X9 9,671 7,452 
Variable interest ra te notes due 19X8 4,837 3,726 

Tota l senior debt 163,064 113,723 
Senior subordinated debt 

6% notes due 19X9 40,000 40,000 
7% notes due 19Y0 34,572 34,572 
8 ½% notes due 19Y3—19Y7 9,632 — 

Total senior subordinated notes 84,204 74,572 

Junior subordinated notes 
8% notes due 19X9 25,000 25,000 
1 0 ½ % notes due 19Y0— 19Y6 6,400 5,500 

Tota l junior subordinated notes 31,400 30,500 

Tota l subordinated debt 115,604 105,072 

Tota l debt $278,668 $218,795 

The Company main ta ins various bank credit agreements , pr imar i ly to support 
commercial paper borrowings. As of December 31, 19X5, these agreements 
included $50,000,000 of formal credit lines and $158,460,000 of revolving 
credit agreements . Credit lines are reviewed annual ly , and the revolving credit 
agreements consist of $50,160,000 and $108,300,000 expiring June 30, 19X7, 
and September 30, 19X9, respectively. As of December 31, 19X5, none of the 
credit lines of revolving credit agreements were in use. To suppor t the 
avai labi l i ty of credit agreements , the Company pays commi tmen t fees or 
main ta ins compensat ing balances, or both. Borrowings under these lines gener-
ally are avai lable at the pr ime rate . Compensa t ing balance and annua l 
commi tment fee requi rements as of December 31, 19X5 totaled $742,000 and 
$987,000, respectively. 

D a t a on commercial paper were as follows (in thousands of dollars): 

19X5 19X4 

Weighted average interest ra te a t year end 9.2% 8.7% 
Max imum amoun t ou ts tanding at any month end $62,600 $48,735 
Average borrowings 54,131 43,867 
Weighted average interest ra te during the year 9.0% 8.5% 
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Matur i t i e s as of December 31, 19X5, were as follows (in thousands of dollars): 

19X6 19X7 19X8 19X9 19Y0 
There-
after Total 

Senior debt $81,100 $18,500 $22,337 $29,037 $2,400 $9,690 $163,064 
Senior subordinated 

debt 40,000 34,572 9,632 84,204 
Junior subordinated 

9,632 

debt 25,000 1,000 5,400 31,400 
Total debt $81,100 $18,500 $22,337 $94,037 $37,972 $24,722 $278,668 

The loan agreements under which cer ta in of the senior and subordinated debts 
were issued contain restrictions on the p a y m e n t of dividends, the purchase of 
common stock, and the requi rements for ma in tenance of cer ta in f inancial 
ratios and other f inancial conditions. Under the most restr ict ive of the divi-
dend p a y m e n t provisions, approximate ly $21,056,000 of consolidated re ta ined 
earnings were free of such restrictions as of December 31, 19X5. Requ i rements 
for main tenance of cer ta in f inancial ratios and other f inancial conditions have 
the effect of requir ing ma in tenance of consolidated stockholders' equi ty a t 
cer tain m i n i m u m amounts ; as of December 31, 19X5, consolidated equi ty 
exceeded this min imum amoun t by approximate ly $38,600,000.* 

* Note: See appropriate FASB and AICPA pronouncements for additional guidance in 
presenting other information required by generally accepted accounting principles such as 
disclosures about insurance activities, segment data, lease commitments, employee benefit plans, 
income taxes, debt securities held as assets, financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk, 
financial instruments with concentrations of credit risk, postemployment benefits other than 
pensions, and the fair value of financial instruments. 
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Appendix B 

Statement of 90-11 
Position 

Disclosure of Certain 
Information by Financial 
Institutions About Debt 
Securities Held as Assets 

November 30, 1990 
Amendment to 
AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides 
Audits of Banks, 
Audits of Finance Companies (including Independent and 
Captive Financing Activities of Other Companies), 
Audits of Property and Liability Insurance Companies, and 
Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies 

Issued by the 
Accounting Standards Executive Committee 

American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants AICPA 
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NOTICE TO READERS 
Sta tements of Position of the Accounting S tandards Division present the 

conclusions of a t least a major i ty of the Accounting S tandards Execut ive 
Commit tee , which is the senior technical body of the AICPA author ized to 
speak for the Ins t i t u t e in the areas of f inancial account ing report ing. State-
ment on Audi t ing S tandards No. 69, The Meaning of Present Fair ly in 
Conformity With General ly Accepted Accounting Principles in the Indepen-
dent Auditor's Report, identifies AICPA S ta t emen t of Position as sources of 
established account ing principles t h a t an AICPA member should consider if 
the accounting t r e a t m e n t of a t ransact ion or event is not specified by a 
pronouncement covered by Rule 203 of the AICPA Code of Professional 
Conduct . In such circumstances, the account ing t r e a t m e n t specified by this 
S ta tement of Position should be used or the member should be prepared to 
jus t i fy a conclusion t h a t another t r e a t m e n t be t te r presents the substance of 
the t ransact ion in the circumstances. However, an en t i ty need not change an 
accounting t r e a t m e n t followed as of March 15, 1992 to the account ing t rea t -
ment specified in this S t a t emen t of Position. 
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Disclosure of Certain Information by 
Financial Institutions About Debt Securities 

Held as Assets 
Scope 

1. This s t a t emen t of position provides guidance for disclosure by f inancial 
inst i tut ions of cer tain informat ion about debt securities held as assets. I t 
applies to f inancial inst i tut ions whose policy is to car ry such securities either 
a t historical cost or a t the lower of cost or marke t value. Such f inancial 
inst i tut ions include banks, savings and loan associations, savings banks, credit 
unions, f inance companies, and insurance companies. Ent i t i es other t h a n 
f inancial inst i tut ions t ha t include f inancial inst i tut ion subsidiaries in their 
consolidated f inancial s t a t emen t s should provide the disclosures required by 
this s t a t emen t for debt securities held as assets by such subsidiaries. 

2. As used in this s t a t ement , debt securities inc lude— 
• Bills, notes, and bonds issued b y — 

a. The federal, s tate , and local governments in the Uni ted States 
and agencies and author i t ies of those governments . 

b. Foreign governments and agencies of those foreign govern-
ments . 

• Bonds and commercial paper issued by business enterprises and not-
for-profit organizations, including collateralized bond obligations 
and interest-only and principal-only str ips of such bonds and com-
mercial paper . 

• Mortgage-backed and other securitized debt ins t ruments , including 
collateralized mortgage obligations1 and principal-only and interest-
only str ips of such ins t ruments . 

Deb t securities also include preferred stock tha t , by its terms, ei ther must be 
redeemed by the issuing enterprise or is redeemable a t the option of the 
investor because, for the purposes of this s t a tement , such preferred stock has 
the essential character is t ics of debt . Other unsecuri t ized commercial and 
personal loans; notes and bonds of foreign governments classified as loans; and 
unsecuri t ized leases, credit card receivables, real es ta te loans, construction 
loans, and automobile loans are not included in the scope of this s t a t ement . 

3. This s t a t emen t amends the following AICPA indus t ry aud i t and 
accounting guides: 

• Audits of Banks 
• Audits of Finance Companies (Including Independent and Captive 

Financing Activities of Other Companies) 
• Audits of Property and Liability Insurance Companies 
• Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies 

Background 
4. On M a y 25, 1990, the Accounting S tandards Execut ive Commit tee 

(AcSEC) issued an exposure d r a f t of a proposed s t a t emen t of position, Report-

1 For purposes of this statement, collateralized mortgage obligations also include instruments 
issued in equity form that are required to be accounted for as nonequity instruments under the 
consensus on Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 89-4. 
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ing by Financial Institutions of Debt Securities Held as Assets. T h a t exposure 
d r a f t was issued in response to concerns t h a t the guidance on report ing debt 
securities held as assets in the AICPA audi t and account ing guides for the 
various f inancial industr ies is uniform for par t i cu la r industr ies bu t is inconsis-
ten t f rom indus t ry to industry . Fur ther , changes in the economic environment , 
deregulation of interest rates, the increased sophistication of interest ra te and 
other risk m a n a g e m e n t techniques, and the avai labi l i ty of new financial 
ins t ruments used to reduce or hedge interest ra te risk have resulted in 
increased purchases and sales of debt securities classified as investments , 
which have contr ibuted to diversi ty in the appl icat ion of t ha t guidance. 

5. Regulators of f inancial inst i tut ions have expressed concern about 
cer tain act ivi t ies concerning securities classified as investments . Such activi-
ties are described in the April 14, 1988, Banking Circular, Selection of 
Securities Dealers and Unsuitable Investment Practices, which is reproduced 
in Appendix B. 

6. The exposure d r a f t recommended guidance on report ing debt securities 
held as inves tment assets t h a t a t t e m p t e d to make more workable the assess-
ment of the abi l i ty and in ten t to hold such securities t h a t is required under 
current l i tera ture . However, comment let ters on the exposure d r a f t raised 
significant questions about the subject ivi ty of the guidance, and AcSEC 
concluded t h a t the proposal needed to be studied fu r ther . 

7. The exposure d r a f t proposed disclosures about debt securities held as 
assets, and m a n y commenta tors recommended expanded disclosures as an 
inter im solution. This s t a t emen t is in tended to be such an inter im solution. 

Conclusions 
8. Financial inst i tut ions should include in the notes to their f inancial 

s t a tements an explanat ion of their account ing policies for debt securities held, 
including the basis for classification into balance sheet captions, such as 
inves tment or t rading. 

9. Financia l inst i tut ions should also disclose in the notes to their f inancial 
s t a t ements the following informat ion concerning debt securities carried a t 
either historical cost or the lower of cost or marke t value2 : 

• For each balance sheet presented, the amort ized cost 3, es t imated 
marke t values, gross unrealized gains, and gross unrealized losses for 
each per t inent category. Examples of such categories are the follow-
ing: 
— Deb t securities issued by the U.S. Treasury and other U.S. 

government corporations and agencies 
— Debt securities issued by s ta tes of the U.S. and political subdivi-

sions of the s ta tes 
— Deb t securities issued by foreign governments and not classified 

as loans 
— Corporate securities 

2 If a financial institution carries some debt securities at amortized cost and others at the 
lower of cost or market value and it reports them in separate balance sheet captions, these 
disclosures should be presented for each caption. 

3 Amortized cost is the face amount of the debt security increased or decreased by unamor-
tized premium, discount, finance charges, or acquisition fees and costs and may also reflect a 
previous direct write-down of the debt security. Total amortized cost presented in this disclosure 
should be reconciled to the amounts presented in the balance sheet, if different. 
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— Mortgage-backed securities 
— Other debt securities 

• For the most recent balance sheet, the amort ized cost and es t imated 
marke t values of debt securities d u e — 
a. I n one year or less 
b. Af ter one year through five years 
c. Af ter five years through ten years 
d. Af ter ten years 4 

• For each period for which results of operat ions are presented, the 
proceeds f rom sales5 of such debt securities and gross realized gains 
and gross realized losses on such sales 

Effective Date and Transition 
10. This s t a t emen t is effect ive for f inancial s t a t emen t s for fiscal years 

ending a f t e r December 15, 1990. This s t a t emen t need not be applied to 
f inancial s t a t ements for fiscal years ending before its effect ive da te tha t , for 
compara t ive purposes, are being provided with f inancial s t a t emen t s for fiscal 
years ending a f t e r its effect ive date . 

4 Securities not due at a single maturity date, such as mortgage-backed securities, may be 
included in a separate category. If such securities are not included in a separate category, the 
method used for inclusion in the maturity table should be disclosed. 

5 As debt securities approach maturity, their market prices tend to approach their maturity 
amounts less interest and a factor for credit risk, and market risk diminishes as a factor in their 
pricing. For purposes of this statement, securities that are sold at maturity or near enough to 
maturity that market risk is substantially eliminated as a pricing factor may be excluded from 
this disclosure. 
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APPENDIX A 

Illustrative Financial Statement Disclosure 

Investment Securities 

The amortized cost and estimated market values of investments in debt 
securities are as follows: a 

Gross Gross Estimated 
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market 

Costb Gains Losses Value 

U.S. Treasury 
securities and 
obligations of U.S. 
government 
corporations and 
agencies $xxxxx $xxx $(XXX) $ XXXXX 

Obligations of states 
and political 
subdivisions xxxxx XXX (XXX) xxxxx 

Debt securities issued 
by foreign 
governments xxxxx XXX (XXX) xxxxx 

Corporate securities xxxxx XXX (XXX) xxxxx 
Mortgage-backed 

securities xxxxx XXX (XXX) xxxxx 
Other debt securities xxxxx XXX (XXX) xxxxx 

Totals $xxxxx $xxx $(XXX) $ xxxxx 
The amortized cost and estimated market value of debt securities at 
December 31, 19XX, by contractual maturity, are shown below. Expected 
maturities will differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have 
the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment 
penalties. 

a This information should be provided for each balance sheet presented that is dated after 
December 15, 1990. 

b See footnote 3. 
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Estimated 
Amortized Market 

Cost Value 

Due in one year or less $ XXX $ XXX 
Due after one year through five years XXX XXX 
Due after five years through ten years XXX XXX 
Due after ten years XXX XXX 

XXXX XXXX 
Mortgage-backed securities XXX XXX 

$xxxxx $XXXXX 

Proceeds from sales of investments in debt securities during 19XX were 
$ Gross gains of $ and gross losses of $ were realized on 
those sales.c 

c This information should be provided for each period for which results of operations are 
presented for periods ending after December 15, 1990. 
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APPENDIX B 

BANKING CIRCULAR—SELECTION OF SECURITIES 
DEALERS AND UNSUITABLE INVESTMENT PRACTICES * 
PURPOSE 
This issuance is to provide you with recommended procedures to be employed 
by all nat ional banks when selecting securities dealers and to advise you of 
cer tain securities act ivi t ies t h a t the depository inst i tut ion regulators view as 
unsui table in an inves tment portfolio. The Federal Financial Ins t i tu t ion 
Examina t ion Council ( F F I E C ) recently endorsed the same policy s t a t ement . 
Adoption of the F F I E C policy is in tended to achieve uniform and effective 
supervision by depository inst i tut ion inves tment portfolio managers . The 
following is the text of the policy s t a t ement . 

BACKGROUND 
The depository inst i tut ion regulators have become aware of speculat ive activ-
ity which has taken place in a number of depository inst i tut ions ' inves tment 
portfolios. Cer ta in of these inst i tut ions have failed because of the speculat ive 
activities, and other inst i tut ions have been weakened significantly as their 
earnings and capi ta l have been impaired and the l iquidi ty of their securities 
has been eroded by the depreciat ion in their marke t value. 

Speculative ac t iv i ty of ten occurs when a depository inst i tut ion 's inves tment 
portfolio manager follows the advice of securities dealers who, in order to 
generate commission income, encourage speculat ive pract ices t h a t are unsui ta-
ble for the inves tment portfolio. 

RECOMMENDATIONS CONCERNING THE SELECTION OF A 
SECURITIES DEALER 
I t is common for the inves tment portfolio managers of m a n y depository 
inst i tut ions to rely on the expertise and advice of a securities sales representa-
tive for: recommendat ions of proposed investments ; inves tment strategies; and 
the t iming and pricing of securities t ransact ions. Accordingly, it is impor tan t 
for the m a n a g e m e n t of depository inst i tut ions to know the securities f i rms and 
the personnel with whom they deal. An inves tment portfolio manager should 
not engage in securities t ransact ions with any securities dealer t h a t is unwill-
ing to provide complete and t imely disclosure of its f inancial condition. 
M a n a g e m e n t mus t review the dealer 's f inancial s t a t ements and make a 
judgment about the abi l i ty of the dealer to honor its commitments . An inquiry 
into the general reputa t ion of the dealer also is necessary. 

The board of directors a n d / o r an appropr ia te board commit tee should review 
and approve a list of securities f i rms with whom the depository's m a n a g e m e n t 
is authorized to do business. The following securities dealer selection s t andards 
are recommended, bu t are not all inclusive. The dealer selection process should 
include: 

• a consideration of the abi l i ty of the securities dealer and its subsidi-
aries or aff i l ia tes to fulfill commi tmen t s as evidenced by capi ta l 
s t rength and opera t ing results disclosed in current f inancial da ta , 
annua l reports, credit reports, etc.; 

* This banking circular was distributed by the comptroller of the currency on April 14, 1988, 
to chief executive officers of all national banks, deputy comptrollers, and all examining personnel. 
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• an inquiry into the dealer 's general reputa t ion for f inancial s tabi l i ty 
and fair and honest dealings with customers, including an inquiry of 
past or current f inancial inst i tut ion customers of the securities 
dealer; 

• an inquiry of appropr ia te Sta te or Federal securities regulators and 
securities indus t ry self-regulatory organizations, such as the Na-
tional Association of Securities Dealers, concerning any formal en-
forcement actions against the dealer or its aff i l ia tes or associated 
personnel; 

• an inquiry, as appropr ia te , into the background of the sales repre-
senta t ive to de termine his or her experience and expertise; 

• a de te rmina t ion whether the depository inst i tut ion has appropr ia t e 
procedures to establish possession or control of securities purchased. 
Purchased securities and repurchase agreement collateral should 
only be kept in safekeeping with selling dealers when (1) the board is 
completely satisfied as to the creditworthiness of the securities 
dealer and (2) the aggregate value of securities held in safekeeping 
in this manne r is within credit l imitat ions t h a t have been approved 
by the board of directors, or a commit tee of the board, for unsecured 
t ransact ions (see F F I E C Policy S ta t emen t adopted October 1985). 
Federal credit unions, when enter ing into a repurchase agreement 
with a broker /dea le r , are not pe rmi t t ed to ma in ta in the collateral 
with the broker /dea le r , reference pa r t 703 of the Nat iona l Credi t 
Union Adminis t ra t ion rules and regulations. 

As pa r t of the process of managing a depository inst i tut ion 's relationships with 
securities dealers the board of directors may wish to consider including in the 
f inancial inst i tut ion 's code of ethics or code of conduct a prohibit ion by those 
employees, who are directly involved in purchasing and selling securities for 
the depository inst i tut ion, from engaging in personal securities t ransact ions 
with the same securities f irm t h a t the depository inst i tut ion uses for its 
t ransact ions wi thout specific board approval and periodic review. The board 
also m a y wish to adopt a policy appl icable to directors, officers or employees 
concerning the receipt of gifts, gra tui t ies or t rave l expenses f rom approved 
dealer f i rms and their personnel (also see in this connection the Bank Bribery 
Law, 18 USC 215 and in terpre t ive releases). 

OBJECTIONABLE INVESTMENT PRACTICES 
Depository inst i tut ion directors are responsible for p ruden t adminis t ra t ion of 
investments in securities. An inves tment portfolio t radi t ional ly has been 
main ta ined by a depository inst i tut ion to provide earnings, l iquidi ty and a 
means of diversifying risks. When inves tment t ransact ions are entered into in 
ant ic ipat ion of taking gains on short- term price movements , the t ransact ions 
are no longer character is t ic of inves tment activit ies and should be conducted 
in a securities t rad ing account. Securities t rad ing of the types described in 
section I of the a t t ached appendix will be viewed as unsui table activit ies when 
they are conducted in a depository inst i tut ion 's inves tment account . Securities 
t rad ing should take place only in a closely supervised t r ad ing account and be 
under taken only by inst i tut ions t h a t have strong capi ta l and cur rent earnings 
positions. Acquisitions of the various forms of zero coupon, s t r ipped obligations 
and asset-backed securities residuals discussed in section I I of the a t t ached 
appendix will receive increased regulatory a t ten t ion and, depending upon the 
circumstances, may be considered unsui table for a depository inst i tut ion. 
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Sta te char tered f inancial ins t i tut ions are cautioned t ha t cer ta in of the invest-
ment pract ices listed in the appendix m a y violate s ta te law. If any such 
practices are contempla ted , the appropr ia te s ta te supervisor should be con-
sulted regarding permissibil i ty under s ta te law. 

Appendix to FFIEC Supervisory Policy Statement on the 
Selection of Securities Dealers and Unsuitable Investment 

Practices 
I. T R A D I N G I N T H E I N V E S T M E N T P O R T F O L I O 
Trad ing in the inves tment portfolio is character ized by a high volume of 
purchase and sale act ivi ty , which when considered in light of a short holding 
period for securities, clearly demonst ra tes managemen t ' s in tent to profi t f rom 
short- term price movements . In this s i tuat ion, a fai lure to follow accounting 
and report ing s t andards applicable to t rad ing accounts may result in a 
miss ta tement of the depository inst i tut ion 's income and a filing of false 
regulatory reports and other published f inancial da ta . I t is an unsafe and 
unsound pract ice to record and report holdings of securities t h a t result f rom 
t rad ing t ransact ions using account ing s tandards which are intended for invest-
ment portfolio t ransact ions; therefore, the discipline associated with account-
ing s tandards applicable to t rad ing accounts is necessary. Securities held in 
t rad ing accounts should be marked to marke t , or the lower of cost or marke t , 
periodically with unrealized gains or losses recognized in cur ren t income. 
Prices used in periodic revaluat ions should be obtained from sources t h a t are 
independent of the securities dealer doing business with the depository. 

The following practices are considered to be unsui table when they occur in a 
depository inst i tut ion 's inves tment portfolio. 

A. "Gains Trading". "Gains t r ad ing" is a securities t r ad ing ac t iv i ty conducted 
in an inves tment portfolio, often te rmed "ac t ive portfolio m a n a g e m e n t . " 
"Gains t r ad ing" is character ized by the purchase of a securi ty as an invest-
ment and the subsequent sale of t h a t same securi ty a t a profi t within several 
days or weeks. Those securities initially purchased with the in tent to resell are 
retained as inves tment portfolio assets if they cannot be sold at a profi t . These 
"losers" are re ta ined in the inves tment portfolio because inves tment portfolio 
holdings are accounted for a t cost, and losses are not recognized unless the 
securi ty is sold. "Gains t r ad ing" often results in a portfolio of securities with 
extended matur i t ies , lower credit qual i ty , high marke t depreciat ion and lim-
ited pract ical l iquidity. 

In m a n y cases, "gains t r a d i n g " has involved the t r ad ing of "when-issued" 
securities and "pai r -offs" or "corporate se t t l ements" because the extended 
se t t lement period associated with these pract ices allows speculators the oppor-
tun i ty for subs tant ia l price changes to occur before p a y m e n t for the securities 
is due. 
B. "When-Issued" Securities Trading. "When- issued" securities t rad ing is the 
buying and selling of securities in the in ter im between the announcement of an 
offering and the issuance and p a y m e n t da te of these securities. A purchaser of 
a "when-issued" securi ty acquires all the risks and rewards of owning a 
security and m a y sell the "when-issued" securi ty a t a profi t before taking 
delivery and paying for it. F requen t purchases and sales of securities during 
the "when-issued" period generally are indications of t rad ing ac t iv i ty and 
should not be conducted in a bank ' s inves tment portfolio. 

C. "Pair-Offs". A "pai r -off" is a securi ty purchase t ransact ion which is closed 
out or sold a t , or prior to, se t t lement date . As an example, an inves tment 
portfolio manager will commit to purchase a security; then, prior to the 
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predetermined se t t lement date , the portfolio manager will "pa i r -of f" the 
purchase with a sale of the same securi ty prior to, or on, the original 
se t t lement date . Prof i t s or losses on the t ransact ion are settled by one p a r t y to 
the t ransact ion remi t t ing to the counter p a r t y the difference between the 
purchase and sale price. Like "when-issued" t rading, "pai r -offs" permi t specu-
lation on securities price movements wi thout paying for the securities. 

D. Corporate Settlement on U.S. Government and Federal Agency Securities 
Purchases. Regular-way se t t lement for t ransact ions in U.S. Government and 
Federal agency securities is one business day a f t e r the t r ade date . Regular-way 
set t lement for corporate securities is five business days a f t e r the t rade date . 
The use of a corporate se t t lement method (5 business days) for U.S. Govern-
ment securities purchases appears to be offered by dealers in order to faci l i ta te 
speculation on the pa r t of the purchaser . 

E. Repositioning Repurchase Agreements. Dealers who encourage speculation 
through the use of "pair -off ," "when-issued" and "corporate se t t l emen t " 
t ransact ions often provide the f inancing a t se t t lement of purchased securities 
which cannot be sold a t a profit . The buyer purchasing the securi ty pays the 
dealer a small " m a r g i n " t ha t is equivalent roughly to the ac tua l loss in the 
security. The dealer then agrees to fund the purchase by buying the securi ty 
back from the purchaser under a resale agreement . Apar t f rom impruden t ly 
funding a longer-term, fixed-rate asset with short- term, var iable-ra te source 
funds, the purchaser acquires all the risks of ownership of a large amoun t of 
depreciated securities for a very small marg in p a y m e n t . Purchas ing securities 
in these c i rcumstances is inherent ly speculat ive and is a wholly unsui table 
inves tment pract ice for depository inst i tut ions. 

F. Short Sales. A short sale is the sale of a securi ty t h a t is not owned. The 
purpose of a short sale generally is to speculate on the fall in the price of the 
security. Short sales are speculat ive t ransact ions t ha t should be conducted in a 
t rad ing account , and when conducted in the inves tment portfolio, they are 
considered to be unsui table . 

Short sales are not permissible act ivi t ies for Federal credit unions. 

II. S T R I P P E D M O R T G A G E - B A C K E D S E C U R I T I E S , R E S I D U -
A L S , A N D Z E R O C O U P O N B O N D S 

There are advan tages and d isadvantages in owning these products . A deposi-
tory inst i tut ion mus t consider the l iquidi ty, marke tab i l i ty , pledgeabil i ty, and 
price volat i l i ty of each of these products prior to investing in them. I t m a y be 
unsui table for a depository inst i tut ion to commit significant amoun t s of funds 
to long-term s t r ipped mortgage-backed securities, residuals and zero coupon 
bonds which f luc tua te great ly in price. 

A. Str ipped Mortgage-Backed Securities (SMBS) consist of two classes of 
securities with each class receiving a d i f ferent portion of the month ly interest 
and principal cash flows f rom the underlying mortgage-backed securities. In 
its purest form, an SMBS is converted into an interest-only (IO) str ip, where 
the investor receives 100% of the interest cash flows, and a principal-only (PO) 
strip, where the investor receives 100% of the pr incipal cash flows. 

All IOs and POs have highly volatile price character is t ics based, in par t , on 
the p r epaymen t of the underlying mortgages and consequently on the ma tu r -
ity of the s t r ipped securi ty. General ly, POs will increase in value when interest 
ra tes decline while IOs increase in value when interest ra tes rise. Accordingly, 
the purchase of an IO s t r ip may serve, theoretically, to offset the interest ra te 
risk associated with mortgages and similar ins t ruments held by a depository 
inst i tut ion. Similarly, a PO may be useful as an offset to the effect of interest 
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ra te movements on the value of mortgage servicing. However, when purchas-
ing an IO or PO the investor is speculat ing on the movements of fu tu re 
interest ra tes and how these movements will a f fec t the p repaymen t of the 
underlying collateral. Fur thermore , those SMBS t h a t do not have the guaran-
tee of a government agency or a government-sponsored agency as to the 
p a y m e n t of pr incipal and interest have an added element of credit risk. 

As a general rule, SMBS cannot be considered as sui table inves tments for the 
vast major i ty of depository inst i tut ions. SMBS, however, m a y be appropr ia te 
holdings for depository inst i tut ions t h a t have highly sophist icated and well-
managed securities portfolios, mortgage portfolios or mortgage banking func-
tions. In such depository inst i tut ions, however, the acquisit ion of SMBS should 
be under taken only in conformance with careful ly developed and documented 
plans prescribing specific positioning limits and control a r rangements for 
enforcing these limits. These plans should be approved by the inst i tut ion 's 
board of directors and vigorously enforced. 

In those depository inst i tut ions t h a t prepare their published f inancial s tate-
ments in accordance with General ly Accepted Accounting Principles, SMBS 
holdings must be accounted for in accordance with Financial Accounting 
S tandards Board S ta t emen t #91 (FAS #91) which requires t ha t the carrying 
amount be ad jus ted when ac tua l p r epaymen t experience differs f rom prepay-
men t est imates. Other inst i tut ions may account for their SMBS holdings under 
FAS #91 or a l te rna t ive ly a t marke t value or the lower of cost or marke t value. 

Several s ta tes have adopted, or are considering, regulations t ha t prohibit s ta te 
char tered banks from purchasing IO strips. Accordingly, s ta te char tered 
inst i tut ions should consult with their s ta te regulator concerning the permissi-
bil i ty of purchasing SMBS. 

B. Asset-Backed Securities (ABS) Residuals. Residuals are the excess cashflows 
from an ABS t ransact ion a f t e r the p a y m e n t s due to the bondholders and the 
t rus t adminis t ra t ive expenses have been satisfied. This cashflow is extremely 
sensitive to p repayments , and thus has a high degree of interest ra te risk. 

Generally, the value of residual interests in ABS rises when interest ra tes rise. 
Theoret ical ly a residual can be used as a risk m a n a g e m e n t tool to offset 
declines in the value of f ixed-rate mortgage or ABS portfolios. However, it 
should be understood by all residual interest purchasers t ha t the "yie ld" on 
these ins t ruments is inversely related to their effectiveness as a risk manage-
ment vehicle. In other words, the highest yielding ABS residuals have l imited 
risk m a n a g e m e n t value usually due to a complicated ABS s t ruc ture a n d / o r 
unusual collateral character is t ics t ha t make modeling and unders tanding the 
economic cashflows very diff icult . 

Alternat ively, those residuals priced for modest yields generally have positive 
risk managemen t characteris t ics . 

In conclusion, it is impor t an t to unders tand t h a t a residual cashflow is highly 
dependent upon the p r epaymen t s received. Caut ion should be exercised when 
purchasing a residual interest , especially higher "yie lding" interests, because 
the risk associated over the life of the ABS m a y w a r r a n t an even higher re turn 
in order to adequa te ly compensate the investor for the interest ra te risk 
assumed. Purchases of these equi ty interests should be supported by in-house 
evaluat ions of possible ra te of re turn ranges in combinat ion with varying 
p r epaymen t assumptions. 

Residual interests in ABS are not permissible acquisi t ions for Federal credit 
unions. Holdings of ABS residuals by other inst i tut ions should be accounted for 
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in the manner discussed under s t r ipped mortgage-backed securities and should 
be reported as "Other Assets" on regulatory reports. 

C. Other Zero Coupon or Stripped Products. The interest a n d / o r pr incipal 
portions of U.S. Government obligations are sometimes sold to depository 
inst i tut ions in the form of s t r ipped coupons, s t r ipped bonds (principal) , 
STRIPS, or propr ie ty products , such as CATs or T I G R s . Also, Original Issue 
Discount Bonds (OIDs) have been issued by a number of munic ipal entit ies. 
Longer matur i t i es of these ins t ruments can exhibit extreme price volati l i ty 
and, accordingly, disproport ionately large long-matur i ty holdings (in relation 
to the total portfolio) of zero coupon securities appea r to be unsui table for 
inves tment holdings for depository inst i tut ions. 

AAG-FIN APP B 



Statement of Position 92-3 8 7 

Appendix C 

Statement of 92-3 
Position 

Accounting for 
Foreclosed Assets 

April 28, 1992 

Issued by the 
Accounting Standards Division 

American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants 

AAG-FIN APP C 

AICPA 



88 Finance Companies 

NOTICE TO READERS 
Sta tements of Position of the Accounting S tandards Division present the 

conclusions of a t least a ma jor i ty of the Accounting S tandards Execut ive 
Commit tee , which is the senior technical body of the AICPA author ized to 
speak for the Ins t i t u t e in the areas of f inancial account ing and report ing. 
S ta t emen t on Audi t ing S tandards No. 69, The Meaning of Present Fai r ly in 
Conformi ty Wi th General ly Accepted Accounting Principles in the Indepen-
dent Auditor's Report, identifies AICPA S ta t emen t s of Position as sources of 
established account ing principles t h a t an AICPA member should consider if 
the account ing t r e a t m e n t of a t ransact ion or event is not specified by a 
pronouncement covered by Rule 203 of the A I C P A Code of Professional 
Conduct . In such circumstances, the account ing t r e a t m e n t specified by this 
S ta t emen t of Position should be used or the member should be prepared to 
jus t i fy a conclusion t h a t another t r e a t m e n t be t te r presents the substance of 
the t ransact ion in the circumstances. 

Mate r ia l appear ing in footnote 2 and the indented portion of p a r a g r a p h A-5 of 
the Appendix is copyrighted by the Financia l Accounting S tandards Board, 
401 Mer r i t t 7, P.O. Box 5116, Norwalk, Connect icut , 06856-5116, U.S.A. I t is 
repr inted by permission. Copies of the complete document are avai lable from 
the FASB. 
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SUMMARY 
This s t a t emen t of position (SOP) provides guidance on measur ing foreclosed 
assets and in-substance foreclosed assets a f t e r foreclosure. I t applies to all 
report ing entities, except those t h a t account for assets a t fair value or marke t 
value. I t applies to all assets obtained through foreclosure or repossession, 
except for inventories, marke tab le equi ty securities, and real es ta te previously 
owned by the lender and accounted for under FASB S ta t emen t of Financia l 
Accounting S tandards No. 67, Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Opera-
tions of Real Estate Projects. 

Under the SOP, there is a rebu t tab le presumpt ion t h a t foreclosed assets are 
held for sale. The SOP recommends t h a t foreclosed assets held for sale be 
carried a t the lower of (a) fair value minus es t imated costs to sell or (b) cost. 
Foreclosed assets held for the production of income should be t r ea ted the same 
way they would be had the assets been acquired in a manne r other than 
through foreclosure. 

The SOP should be appl ied to foreclosed assets in annua l f inancial s t a t emen t s 
for periods ending on or a f t e r December 15, 1992. 
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Accounting for Foreclosed Assets 
Scope 

1. This s t a t emen t of position (SOP) provides guidance on de termining the 
balance sheet t r e a t m e n t of foreclosed assets1 a f t e r foreclosure. (Pa rag raphs 
A-6 and A-7 of the Appendix discuss the exclusion f rom this SOP of conclusions 
on the account ing t r e a t m e n t of results of operat ions related to foreclosed assets 
held for sale.) I t applies to all report ing enti t ies except those t h a t account for 
assets a t marke t value or fair value, such as broker-dealers, fu tu res commis-
sion merchants , and inves tment companies. I t applies to all assets obtained 
through foreclosure or repossession except for (a) inventories t h a t are covered 
by chapte r 4 of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Restatement and 
Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins; (b) marke tab le equi ty securities 
t h a t are covered by Financia l Accounting S tandards Board (FASB) S ta t emen t 
of Financia l Accounting S tandards (S ta tement ) No. 12, Accounting for Cer-
tain Marketable Securities; and (c) foreclosed real es ta te previously owned by 
the lender and accounted for under FASB S ta tement No. 67, Accounting for 
Costs and Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate Projects. Except for the 
requi rements in pa rag raphs 12 and 17, the conclusions of this SOP do not 
apply to in-substance foreclosed assets (see pa rag raph A-10 of the Appendix). 

Background 
2. P a r a g r a p h 29 of FASB S ta t emen t No. 15, Accounting by Debtors and 

Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings, issued in 1977, requires the 
following: "Af te r a troubled debt res t ructur ing, a creditor shall account for 
assets received in sat isfact ion of a receivable the same as if the assets had been 
acquired for cash." T h a t requi rement has been in te rpre ted in diverse ways. 

3. The American In s t i t u t e of Cert if ied Publ ic Accountants ' (AICPA's) 
Indus t ry Audi t Guide Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies requires t h a t 
foreclosed real es ta te be carried at the lower of cost (less accumula ted depreci-
ation) or marke t value, net of any encumbrances . Pa rag raphs 17 and 21 of 
SOP 75-2, Accounting Practices of Real Estate Investment Trusts (as 
amended by SOP 78-2), require t h a t es t imated losses on individual loans and 
propert ies be based on net realizable value. The guidance in the AICPA Audit 
and Accounting Guide Audits of Savings Institutions and in the Indus t ry 
Audit Guide Audits of Finance Companies are consistent with SOPs 75-2 and 
78-2. The AICPA I n d u s t r y Audit Guide Audits of Banks s ta tes t h a t subse-
quent to foreclosure, a loss on foreclosed real es ta te should be recognized if cost 
cannot be recovered through sale or use, bu t it does not indicate how the loss is 
to be measured. The AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide Audits of Property 
and Liability Insurance Companies does not address account ing for foreclosed 
assets. 

4. In practice, account ing by creditors for foreclosed assets, par t icu lar ly 
real es ta te assets, is diverse. After foreclosure, some enterprises continue to 
write down the carrying a m o u n t of foreclosed assets for subsequent , fu r the r 
declines in fair value; others do not. Af ter foreclosure, some enterprises 
discount projected cash flows related to foreclosed assets in es t imat ing net 
realizable value of those assets; others do not. 

1 As used in this SOP, the term foreclosed assets includes all assets received in satisfaction of 
a receivable in a troubled debt restructuring, as the term is used in FASB Statement No. 15, 
Accounting by Debtors and Creditors for Troubled Debt Restructurings. It includes real property 
and personal property; equity interests in corporations, partnerships, and joint ventures; and 
beneficial interests in trusts. 
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5. Sections 4(b)(1) and 4(b)(2)(A) of the Home Owners ' Loan Act of 1933 
as amended by the Financia l Ins t i tu t ions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement 
Act of 1989 generally provide t ha t the director of the Office of Th r i f t 
Supervision prescribe uniform accounting and disclosure s tandards for savings 
associations, to be used in de termining associations' compliance with applica-
ble regulations, and incorporate generally accepted account ing principles into 
those s t andards to the same degree t h a t such principles are used to de termine 
compliance with regulations prescribed by federal banking agencies. Section 
1215 of the Financial Ins t i tu t ions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 
1989 also provides the following: 

Before the end of the 1-year period beginning on the date of the enactment of 
this Act [August 9, 1989], each appropriate Federal banking agency (as 
defined in section 3(q) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act) shall establish 
uniform accounting standards to be used for determining the capital ratios of 
all federally insured depository institutions and for other regulatory purposes. 
Each such agency shall report annually to the Chairman and ranking minor-
ity member of the Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs of the 
Senate and the Chairman and ranking minority member of the Committee on 
Banking, Finance and Urban Affairs of the House of Representatives any 
differences between the capital standards used by such agency and capital 
standards used by any other such agency. Each such report shall contain an 
explanation of the reasons for any discrepancy in such capital standards, and 
shall be published in the Federal Register. 

6. The cha i rman of the Federal Home Loan Bank Board (now the Office 
of Th r i f t Supervision) asked the AICPA in 1987 to address the inconsistency 
between banks and savings and loan associations in account ing for loans and 
real es ta te assets. The AICPA's Accounting S tandards Execut ive Commit tee 
(AcSEC) a t t e m p t e d to el iminate t h a t inconsistency in 1988 and 1989 bu t 
decided to refer the m a t t e r to the FASB a t tha t t ime. On April 4, 1989, soon 
a f t e r AcSEC's decision to refer the m a t t e r to the FASB, the cha i rman of the 
Federal Home Loan Bank Board wrote to the cha i rman of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) asking t h a t the SEC or its staff remove the 
inconsistency for public report ing entit ies. The SEC has not done so. 

7. Fur ther , the cha i rman of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporat ion, 
in a let ter to the FASB da ted November 8, 1989, asked the FASB to assist in 
developing "uni form account ing s t andards among depository inst i tut ions ." In 
t ha t let ter , the cha i rman s ta ted t ha t " the account ing t r e a t m e n t in pract ice for 
cer tain t ransact ions among par t i c ipan ts in the f inancial services indus t ry 
seems to be more a reflection of the type of char ter t h an the substance of the 
t ransac t ion ." Fur thermore , the cha i rman "urge[d] the FASB to reconcile the 
di f ferent account ing pract ices outlined in [AICPA] guides for thr i f t s , banks, 
and f inance companies ." In early 1990, AcSEC decided t ha t it could deal with 
the inconsistencies and diversi ty in accounting for foreclosed assets, and this 
SOP is a result of t h a t decision. 

8. AcSEC believes t h a t all enterprises, not just f inancial inst i tut ions, 
should account for foreclosed assets held for sale the same way, except t h a t 
enterprises t h a t account for assets a t marke t value or fair value should not 
change their accounting. AcSEC's p r imary objectives in issuing this s t a t emen t 
of position are to reduce the inconsistencies and diversi ty in accounting for 
foreclosed assets and to improve the unders tandabi l i ty , comparabi l i ty , and 
relevance of amounts reported as foreclosed assets in balance sheets. Another 
objective is to make all of the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guides and SOPs 
consistent on this ma t t e r . Achieving those objectives will also address the 
needs of Congress and the th r i f t and banking regulators. 
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9. This SOP affec ts the following AICPA s t a t emen t s of position and 
indust ry audi t and account ing guides: 

a. SOP 75-2, Accounting Practices of Real Estate Investment Trusts, 
paragraphs 15-23, 25, 27, 28, 29a, 29b, and 29c 

b. SOP 78-2, Accounting Practices of Real Estate Investment Trusts, 
pa rag raph 6 

c. Audits of Banks 
d. Audits of Savings Institutions 
e. Audits of Finance Companies 
f . Audits of Property and Liability Insurance Companies 
g. Audits of Stock Life Insurance Companies 
h. Guide for the Use of Real Estate Appraisal Information 

Conclusions 

Held-for-Sale Presumption 
10. Most enterprises do not in tend to hold foreclosed assets for the 

production of income bu t intend to sell them; in fact , some laws and regula-
tions appl icable to f inancial inst i tut ions require the sale of foreclosed assets. 
Therefore, under this SOP, it is presumed tha t foreclosed assets are held for 
sale and not for the production of income. T h a t presumpt ion m a y be rebut ted , 
except for in-substance foreclosed assets, by a preponderance of the evidence. 
If the held-for-sale presumpt ion is not rebut ted , the asset should be classified 
in the balance sheet as held for sale. 

11. The presumpt ion of sale can be rebu t ted if ( a ) managemen t intends 
to hold a foreclosed asset for the production of income, ( b ) t ha t in ten t is not 
inconsistent with the enterpr ise 's abi l i ty to do so or with laws or regulations, 
including the manne r in which the laws or regulations are adminis tered by 
federal or s ta te regulatory agencies, and ( c ) t h a t in ten t is suppor ted by a 
preponderance of the evidence. 

Foreclosed Assets Held for Sale 
12. After foreclosure, foreclosed assets held for sale should be carried a t 

the lower of ( a ) fair value 2 minus es t imated costs to sell or ( b ) cost.3 Such 
de termina t ion should be made on an individual asset basis. If the fair value of 

2 Fair value, as used in this SOP, is defined in paragraph 13 of FASB Statement No. 15 as 
follows: 

The fair value of the assets transferred is the amount that the . . . [creditor] could reasonably 
expect to receive for them in a current sale between a willing buyer and a willing seller, that 
is, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. Fair value of assets shall be measured by their 
market value if an active market for them exists. If no active market exists for the assets 
transferred but exists for similar assets, the selling prices in that market may be helpful in 
estimating the fair value of the assets transferred. If no market price is available, a forecast 
of expected cash flows may aid in estimating the fair value of assets transferred, provided the 
expected cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the risk involved.6 

6 Some factors that may be relevant in estimating the fair value of various kinds of assets are 
described in paragraphs 88 and 89 of APB [Accounting Principles Board] Opinion No. 16 
["Business Combinations"], paragraphs 12-14 of APB Opinion No. 21, "Interest on Receiv-
ables and Payables," and paragraph 25 of APB Opinion No. 29, "Accounting for Nonmone-
tary Transactions." 
3 The cost of such assets at the time of foreclosure is the fair value of the asset foreclosed or 

repossessed. Any specific valuation allowance related to the loan should not be carried forward. 
This SOP provides no guidance for determining cost subsequent to foreclosure (see paragraphs A-6 
and A-7 of the Appendix). 
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the asset minus the es t imated costs to sell the asset is less than the cost of the 
asset, the deficiency should be recognized as a valuat ion allowance. If the fair 
value of the asset minus the es t imated costs to sell the asset subsequent ly 
increases and the fair value of the asset minus the es t imated costs to sell the 
asset is more than its car ry ing amount , the va luat ion allowance should be 
reduced, bu t not below zero. Increases or decreases in the valuat ion allowance 
should be charged or credi ted to income.4 

13. The amoun t of any senior deb t (pr incipal and accrued interest) to 
which the asset is subject should be reported as a l iabili ty a t the t ime of 
foreclosure and not be deducted f rom the carrying amoun t of the asset; 
paymen t s on such debt should be charged to the liability. In te res t t h a t accrues 
a f t e r foreclosure should be recognized as interest expense. 

14. FASB S ta t emen t No. 67, Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental 
Operations of Real Estate Projects, was ext racted by the FASB from SOP 78-3, 
Accounting for Costs to Sell and Rent, and Initial Rental Operations of Real 
Estate Projects; SOP 80-3, Accounting for Real Estate Acquisition, Develop-
ment, and Construction Costs, and the AICPA I n d u s t r y Audit Guide Account-
ing for Retail Land Sales. These documents did not, in the opinion of AcSEC, 
apply to foreclosed real es ta te held for sale. AcSEC therefore believes t ha t the 
fair-value test in this SOP, not the net-realizable-value test in FASB State-
men t No. 67, should be appl ied to foreclosed real es ta te held for sale, except 
when the foreclosed real es ta te was previously owned by the lender and 
accounted for under FASB S ta t emen t No. 67, in which case such foreclosed 
assets should be accounted for under FASB S ta tement No. 67. 

Foreclosed Assets Held for the Production of Income 
15. After foreclosure, assets de termined to be held for the production of 

income (and not held for sale) should be reported and accounted for in the 
same way tha t they would be had the assets been acquired other than through 
foreclosure. 

Change in Classification 
16. If it is subsequent ly decided t h a t a foreclosed asset classified as held 

for sale will be held for the production of income, the asset should be 
reclassified from the held-for-sale category. The reclassification should be 
made a t the amoun t the asset 's carrying amoun t would have been had the 
asset been held for the production of income since the t ime of foreclosure. 
Selling costs included in the valuat ion allowance should be reversed. The net 
effect should be reported in income f rom continuing operat ions in the period in 
which the decision not to sell the asset is made. 

Effective Date and Transition 
17. This SOP should be applied to foreclosed assets in annua l f inancial 

s t a tements for periods ending on or a f t e r December 15, 1992, with earlier 
applicat ion permi t ted . On initial appl icat ion of this SOP, all enterprises should 
adjus t the carrying amoun t of foreclosed assets held for sale to the lower of (a) 
the fair value of the asset minus the es t imated costs to sell the asset or (b) the 
cost of the asset as of the da te of the initial adoption of this SOP. For m a n y 
enterprises, adoption of this SOP will result in a change in account ing princi-
ple. The na tu re of the change should be disclosed in the f inancial s t a t ements of 

4 Because the allowance is considered a valuation adjustment, insurance enterprises should 
report changes in the valuation allowance as realized gains and losses in income, not as unrealized 
gains and losses in equity. 
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the period in which the change is made. Any ad jus tmen t arising from the 
initial appl icat ion of this SOP should be included in income from continuing 
operations in the period in which the change is made. No res ta tement of 
previously issued f inancial s t a t emen t s or cumulat ive-effect ad jus tmen t as of 
the beginning of the year this SOP is first applied is permi t ted . 
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APPENDIX 

Discussion of Major Comments on the Exposure Draft 
A-1. This Appendix summar izes considerations t ha t were deemed signifi-

cant by members of AcSEC in reaching the conclusions in this SOP. 

A-2. In the exposure d ra f t , AcSEC concluded t ha t there is a rebu t tab le 
presumpt ion t ha t foreclosed assets are held for sale and t h a t foreclosed assets 
held for sale should be carried a t the lower of cost or fair value minus the 
es t imated costs to sell. Few respondents objected to those conclusions. 

Held-for-Sale Presumption 
A-3. Some respondents requested more explanat ion of the c i rcumstances 

under which the held-for-sale presumpt ion could be rebut ted . Af ter considering 
the concerns expressed by respondents about the rebu t tab le presumpt ion, 
AcSEC decided not to give detailed, specific guidance, thereby allowing for the 
exercise of judgment in de termining whether the presumpt ion is rebu t ted by 
the facts in par t icu lar circumstances. 

A-4. AcSEC recognizes t h a t some enterprises may hold foreclosed assets 
for several years before sale and m a y even operate the assets, bu t concludes 
t ha t a holding period in excess of one year does not, in and of itself, rebut the 
held-for-sale presumpt ion. Fur ther , AcSEC notes t ha t if the form of the 
foreclosed asset is a major i ty interest in an enterprise, FASB S ta t emen t No. 
94, Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries, requires the subsidiary 
to be consolidated unless control is likely to be temporary . 

Fair Value 
A-5. Some respondents requested guidance on the de terminat ion of fair 

value. AcSEC recognizes t h a t es t imat ing fair value requires judgment . AcSEC 
concluded, however, t ha t it would be inappropr ia te and is unnecessary to 
develop a new definition of fair value in this SOP, and t ha t the definit ion of 
fair value in FASB S ta t emen t No. 15 should be used in this SOP. Moreover, 
AcSEC believes t ha t the following discussion about fair value f rom S ta t emen t 
No. 15, par t icu lar ly pa rag raph 82, will be helpful in implement ing this SOP. 
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Concept of Fair Value 
79. Some respondents to the Exposure Draft continued to argue that all 
troubled debt restructurings should be accounted for as modifications of the 
terms of debt and that none should be accounted for as transfers of assets 
(paragraphs 66 and 67). Others accepted the need to account for some 
troubled debt restructurings as asset transfers but held that obtaining assets 
through foreclosure or repossession under terms included in lending agree-
ments should be distinguished from obtaining assets in exchange for cash or in 
other "asset swaps." They contended that (a) only the form of the asset is 
changed by foreclosure or repossession, (b) the substance of a secured loan is 
that the lender may choose either to postpone receipt of cash or take the asset 
to optimize cash receipts and recovery of its investment, and (c) foreclosure 
or repossession is not the completion of a lending transaction but merely a 
step in the transaction that begins with lending cash and ends with collecting 
cash. 

80. The Board rejected those arguments for the reasons given in paragraphs 
71-77, emphasizing that an event in which (a) an asset is transferred between 
debtor and creditor, (b) the creditor relinquishes all or part of its claim 
against the debtor, and (c) the debtor is absolved of all or part of its 
obligation to the creditor is the kind of event that is the basis of accounting 
under the existing transaction-based accounting framework. To fail to recog-
nize an event that fits the usual description of a transaction and to recognize 
only the lending and collection of cash as transactions would significantly 
change the existing accounting framework. 
81. Use of the fair value of an asset transferred to measure the debtor's gain 
on restructuring and gain or loss on the asset's disposal or the creditor's cost 
of acquisition is not adopting some kind of "current value accounting." On 
the contrary, that use of fair value is common practice within the existing 
accounting framework. Paragraph 13 of this Statement explains briefly the 
meaning of fair value and refers to APB Opinions No. 16, No. 21, and No. 29, 
which use fair value in the same way and provide guidance about determin-
ing fair values within the existing accounting framework. The term fair value 
is used in essentially the same way as market value was used in the 
Discussion Memorandum to denote a possible attribute to be measured at the 
time a debt is restructured. Fair value is defined in paragraph 181 of APB 
Statement No. 4 as "the approximation of exchange price in transfers in 
which money or money claims are not involved." Although a "money claim" 
is necessarily involved in transferring assets to settle a payable in a troubled 
debt restructuring, the troubled circumstances in which the transfer occurs 
make it obvious that the amount of the "money claim" does not establish an 
exchange price. Determining fair value of the assets transferred in a troubled 
debt restructuring is usually necessary to approximate an exchange price for 
the same reasons that determining fair value is necessary to account for 
transfers of assets in nonmonetary transactions (APB Opinion No. 29). 

82. That point is emphasized in this Appendix because some respondents to 
the Exposure Draft apparently misunderstood the concept of fair value 
(paragraph 11 of the Exposure Draft and paragraph 13 of this Statement) 
and the discounting of expected cash flows specified in those paragraphs. 
Paragraph 13 permits discounting of expected cash flows from an asset 
transferred or received in a troubled debt restructuring to be used to estimate 
fair value only if no market prices are available either for the asset or for 
similar assets. The sole purpose of discounting cash flows in that paragraph is 
to estimate a current market price as if the asset were being sold by the 
debtor to the creditor for cash. That estimated market price provides the 
equivalent of a sale price on which the debtor can base measurement of a gain 
on restructuring and a gain or loss on disposal of the asset and the equivalent 
of a purchase price on which the creditor can measure the acquisition cost of 
the asset. To approximate a market price, the estimate of fair value should 
use cash flows and discounting in the same way the marketplace does to set 
prices—in essence, the marketplace discounts expected future cash flows 
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from a particular asset "at a rate commensurate with the risk involved" in 
holding the asset. An individual assessment of expected cash flows and risk 
may differ from what the marketplace's assessment would be, but the 
procedure is the same. [Emphasis added by AcSEC.] 

83. In contrast to the purpose of paragraph 13, AICPA Statement of Position 
No. 75-231 is concerned with different measures—net realizable value to a 
creditor of a receivable secured by real property and net realizable value of 
repossessed or foreclosed property. Its method of accounting for assets ob-
tained by foreclosure or repossession thus differs from the method specified in 
this Statement. It proposes discounting expected cash flows at a rate based on 
the creditor's "cost of money" to measure the "holding cost" of the asset until 
its realizable value is collected in cash. The concept of fair value in paragraph 
13 does not involve questions of whether interest is a "holding cost" or 
"period cost" because it is concerned with estimating market price, not net 
realizable value, however defined. Accounting for transfers of assets in 
troubled debt restructurings and for the assets after transfer is, of course, 
governed by this Statement. 

31 See paragraphs 59 and 60 of this Statement. 

Results of Operations Related to Foreclosed Assets Held for Sale 
A-6. In the exposure d ra f t , AcSEC proposed t h a t there should be no 

results of opera t ions—revenues and expenses—from foreclosed assets while 
they are held for sale; net cash receipts related to forelosed assets dur ing the 
holding period would have been credited to the carrying amount of the asset, 
and net cash payments , except for capi ta l addit ions and improvements , would 
have been charged to income as a loss on holding the foreclosed assets. Fur ther , 
in the exposure d ra f t , AcSEC concluded t h a t no depreciat ion, depletion, or 
amort iza t ion expense should be recorded. M a n y respondents objected to the 
exclusion of the results of operat ing a foreclosed asset f rom income; m a n y also 
objected to credit ing net cash receipts to the carrying amount of the asset and 
charging net cash p a y m e n t s to income. They raised questions about the 
conservatism of such t r e a t m e n t , about whether the t r e a t m e n t was concep-
tual ly sound, and about whether it would be pract ical to implement . Some 
comment let ters also raised questions about whether it is appropr ia te not to 
depreciate foreclosed assets held for sale. After considering the comments , 
AcSEC decided not to adopt the method proposed in the exposure d ra f t . 

A-7. AcSEC considered various other ways to account for operat ions 
during the period foreclosed assets are held for sale, such a s— 

• Repor t ing the net of revenues and expenses in income, including 
charges or credits related to changes in the valuat ion allowance and 
depreciat ion expense on depreciable assets, for each report ing period 
as a gain or loss on holding the asset. 

• Repor t ing the net of revenues and expenses in income, including 
charges or credits related to changes in the valuat ion allowance and 
depreciat ion expense on depreciable assets held or expected to be 
held for more t han a specified length of t ime (for example, one year) . 

• Repor t ing the net of revenues and expenses in income, including 
charges or credits related to changes in the valuat ion allowance, and 
recognizing no depreciat ion expense. 

• Credi t ing or debi t ing the net of revenues and expenses to the asset, 
and recognizing no depreciat ion expense. Changes in the valuat ion 
allowance would be included in income. 
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AcSEC believes t h a t it should consider those options fu r the r and t h a t its 
u l t imate decision on the t r e a t m e n t of operat ions dur ing the period foreclosed 
assets are held for sale should be exposed for public comment ; AcSEC intends 
to under take such a project. However, because AcSEC believes t ha t its 
conclusion t h a t foreclosed assets held for sale should be carried a t the lower of 
fair value minus es t imated costs to sell or cost would not change regardless of 
its conclusions on operat ions of foreclosed assets, AcSEC decided t h a t it should 
issue the guidance in this SOP now, ra ther than delay issuing the guidance 
unti l the results of operat ions issues are resolved. 

Foreclosed Assets Held for the Production of Income 
A-8. In the exposure d ra f t , AcSEC proposed to require t h a t foreclosed 

assets held for the production of income be carried a t an amoun t not greater 
than the assets ' net realizable value. AcSEC decided to e l iminate t h a t s ta te-
ment . 

Change in Classification 
A-9. AcSEC also decided t h a t , on reclassification of a foreclosed asset 

from the held-for-sale category, the asset should be measured and recorded as 
if asset had been held for the product ion of income since foreclosure. T h a t 
decision is consistent with the consensus of the Emerg ing Issues Task Force in 
Issue 2 of Issue 90-6, where the reversal of a decision to sell an asset acquired 
in a business combinat ion gives rise to an account ing as if the asset had never 
been held for sale. 

In-Substance Foreclosed Assets 
A-10. M a n y respondents asked for specific guidance on in-substance 

foreclosed assets, and they asked whether the SOP would apply to such assets. 
AcSEC concluded tha t , except for pa rag raphs 12 and 17, the guidance in this 
SOP need not be applied to in-substance foreclosures for the following reasons: 

a. The account ing for in-substance foreclosed assets was not explicitly 
addressed in the exposure d ra f t . 

b. AcSEC would have found it diff icul t to resolve issues concerning 
senior debt related to in-substance foreclosed assets. 

However, AcSEC notes t h a t pa r ag raph 34 of FASB S ta t emen t No. 15; para-
graph 6 of AICPA Pract ice Bulletin 7, Criteria for Determining Whether 
Collateral for a Loan Has Been In-Substance Foreclosed; and SEC Financia l 
Repor t ing Release 28, Accounting for Loan Losses by Registrants Engaged in 
Lending Activities, include account ing guidance related to in-substance fore-
closed assets indicat ing t h a t in-substance foreclosed assets should be accounted 
for in the same way as assets that have ac tua l ly been foreclosed or repossessed. 
Fur ther , AcSEC concluded t h a t for purposes of apply ing this SOP, the held-
for-sale presumpt ion could not be rebu t t ed for in-substance foreclosed assets. 
Accordingly, a f t e r in-substance foreclosure, an in-substance foreclosed asset, 
like a foreclosed asset held for sale, would be reported in the balance sheet a t 
the lower of (a ) fair value minus es t imated costs to sell or ( b ) cost. 

Carrying Amount of Assets at Foreclosure 
A-11. Some respondents expressed concerns and opinions about the carry-

ing amoun t of the foreclosed assets to be recognized at foreclosure. The 
exposure d r a f t indicated t h a t the a t t r i b u t e to be recognized a t foreclosure 
should be the fair value of the collateral, implying tha t , if a t the t ime of 
foreclosure the fair value of the collateral is greater t han the recorded invest-
men t in the related loan, a credit to income would result. Some respondents 
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suggested t h a t no such credits should .be permi t ted and t ha t the carrying 
amount of the asset recognized at foreclosure should be the lower of the fair 
value of the collateral or the recorded inves tment in the loan. Notwi ths tand ing 
those concerns, AcSEC notes t ha t pa r ag raph 28 of FASB S ta tement No. 15 
requires t h a t foreclosed assets be accounted for a t their fair value a t the t ime 
of foreclosure. 

A-12. Some respondents also said t ha t the definit ion of fair value, which is 
the definit ion in pa r ag raph 13 of FASB S ta t emen t No. 15, implicit ly contains 
a reduction for selling costs. For purposes of applying this SOP, AcSEC 
believes t h a t the definit ion of fair value in pa rag raph 13 of FASB S ta t emen t 
No. 15 should be viewed as the cash sa les /purchase price in a principal-to-
principal t ransact ion wherein no agents , dealers, brokers, or commission 
merchants are involved. If ei ther pr incipal decides to involve and pay outsid-
ers to assist t ha t principal , or to being principals together, any amoun t paid 
by t ha t pr incipal is independent of the fair value of the asset and does not 
affect t h a t fair value. Accordingly, immedia te ly a f t e r foreclosure, a valuat ion 
allowance related to foreclosed assets held for sale should be recognized for 
es t imated costs to sell through a charge to income. 

Offsetting of Debt 
A-13. Cont ra ry to what was proposed by AcSEC in the exposure d ra f t , 

some respondents suggested t h a t nonrecourse senior debt not assumed by the 
holder of the foreclosed asset be offset against the carrying amoun t of the 
asset. To protect its interest in the asset, the holder of the asset will have to 
settle the debt or have a subsequent t ransferee take the asset subject to the 
debt . If debt is offset, leverage is not por t rayed, and the degree of possible gain 
is obscured. Moreover, offset t ing nonrecourse senior debt against a foreclosed 
asset would be inconsistent with the manne r in which such debt is por t rayed 
when assets are purchased for cash and there is related nonrecourse debt . 
Therefore, AcSEC reaf f i rms t h a t senior debt should not be offset against the 
asset. 

Transition 
A-14. Comments were specifically requested on the t ransi t ion proposed in 

the exposure d ra f t . Most respondents agreed t h a t de termining the cumula t ive 
effect of the change in accounting principle would either be impossible or 
possible only a t s ignificant cost for enterprises t h a t do not have avai lable the 
fair value of foreclosed assets a t earlier balance sheet dates, and t h a t a 
r es ta tement of previously issued f inancial s t a t ements or a cumula t ive effect 
ad jus tmen t should not be required. Fur ther , AcSEC concluded tha t , because 
one of the pr incipal objectives of this SOP is to have consistent accounting of 
foreclosed assets, those two a l te rna t ives should not be permi t ted . 
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Appendix D 

Schedule of Changes Made to Audits of 
Finance Companies (Including 
Independent and Captive Financing 
Activities of Other Companies) 
Reference 

General 

Preface 

Preface 

Paragraph 2.05 

Paragraph 2.32 

Paragraph 2.35 

Paragraph 2.41 

Paragraph 2.47 

Paragraph 2.55 
Paragraphs 2.57, 

2.58, 2.63, 
2.64, 2.70, 
2.75, 2.79, 
2.83, 2.89, 
2.103, 2.104, 
2.128, 2.133, 
2.134, and 
2.136 

Paragraph 2.61 

Paragraph 2.108 

Paragraph 2.131 

Paragraph 2.133 

Paragraph 2.145 

Change 

The term "examinat ion" has been 
changed to "aud i t " to conform to the 
terminology used in SAS No. 58. 
The term "internal accounting control" 
has been changed to "internal control 
s t ructure" to conform to the 
terminology used in SAS No. 55. 
Auditing Procedures section deleted. 
Revised to reflect the issuance of FASB 
Statement Nos. 114 and 115. 
Note reference added to reflect the 
issuance of SOP 92-3. 
Reference to SOP 92-3 added. 
Reference to FASB Statement No. 114 
added. 
Summary of FASB Statement No. 105 
added. 
Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 65. 
Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 55. 

Reference to Veterans Administration 
changed to Depar tment of Veterans 
Affairs. 
Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 67. 
Note reference to the supersession of 
SAS No. 11 added. 
Reference to SAS No. 44 changed to 
SAS No. 70; Footnote reference to SAS 
No. 70 deleted. 
Reference to SAS No. 17 changed to 
SAS No. 54. 

Date 

October, 1990 

October, 1990 
March, 1992 

June, 1994 

May, 1992 
May, 1992 

June, 1994 

October, 1990 

March, 1992 

October, 1990 

March, 1992 

March, 1992 

June, 1994 

May, 1993 

October, 1990 
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Reference Change D a t e 

P a r a g r a p h 2.146 Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 55. March , 1992 

P a r a g r a p h 2.148 Conformed to the terminology used in 
SAS No. 55. October, 1990 

P a r a g r a p h 3.28 Reference to SAS No. 14 changed to 
SAS No. 62. October, 1990 

P a r a g r a p h 5.11 Reference to FASB S ta t emen t No. 113 
added. June , 1994 

P a r a g r a p h 5.18 Revised to reflect the issuance of FASB 
S ta t emen t No. 115. June , 1994 

P a r a g r a p h 5.30 Reference to Audit and Accounting 
Guide, Audits of Fire and Casualty 
Insurance Companies, changed to 
Audi t and Accounting Guide, Audits of 
Property and Liability Insurance 
Companies. October, 1990 

Appendix A Note upda ted to include guidance 
covered by SOP 90-11 and FASB 
S ta t emen t Nos. 105, 106, and 107. March , 1992 

Appendix A In t roduct ion modified. May, 1993 
Appendix A 

(Exhibi t 1) 
Footnote reference to FASB S ta t emen t 
No. 109 added. May, 1993 

Appendix A References to FASB S ta t emen t Nos. 
114 and 115 added. June , 1994 

Appendix B SOP 90-11 added. March , 1991 
Appendix B References to Audi t and Accounting 

Guide Savings and Loan Associations 
deleted. August , 1991 

Appendix B Notice to Readers revised to reflect SAS 
No. 69. April, 1992 

Appendix B References to Audi t and Accounting 
Guide Audits of Credit Unions deleted. Februa ry , 1993 

Appendix C SOP 92-3 added. May , 1992 
Appendix C References to Audi t and Accounting 

Guide Audits of Credit Unions deleted. February , 1993 
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Glossary 
accounts receivable loan. A loan collateralized by the accounts receivable of 

the borrower. 

accrual wi th suspension. A method of recognizing interest income based on 
the contractual terms of the loan (accrual basis). The accrual of interest is 
suspended when certain conditions occur tha t cast doubt on the collec-
tibility of the unpaid loan. 

acquisit ion costs . Costs related to making or acquiring loans or insurance 
contracts. 

actuarial method. See interest method. 
add-on loan. See d iscount loan. 

adequate protection. A secured creditor's legal right under the U.S. Bank-
ruptcy Code to have its collateral position not become impaired, impeded, 
or downgraded without sufficient protection against loss. 

advance factoring. A factoring arrangement tha t allows a client to draw cash 
advances against the receivables sold to a factor before they are due or 
collected. Advance factoring also is called d iscount factoring. 

advance payment . A payment on account made prior to the contractual due 
date. 

anticipation. An extra allowance taken by customers on bills paid before the 
matur i ty date. The amount is based on the current interest rate. 

asset-based financial services . Financial services related to secured com-
mercial and industrial lending activities. Asset-based financial services 
include leasing and factoring activities. 

asset-based lending. Lending collateralized by the borrower's assets. 

availabil ity. The amount tha t can be loaned as a percentage of collateral. The 
percentage is determined individually by formula, for example, 70 to 80 
percent of accounts receivable and 30 to 60 percent of inventory. 

average due date. The average matur i ty date for purchased receivables in a 
given month under a factoring agreement. 

borrowing base of the f inance company. An amount, usually defined in a 
note agreement or indenture, in computing the maximum amount permit-
ted to be borrowed as a particular class of debt. I t generally is determined 
by subtracting deferred charges and intangible assets from stockholders' 
equity. Subordinated debt usually is included in the borrowing base of 
debt senior to the subordinated debt. Also called capital base. 

bulk purchase. The purchase of a group of loans receivable as a single 
transaction. Also called receivables portfol io purchase. 

call opt ion loan. A loan with a provision tha t permits the lender to require 
immediate repayment , a t specified points in time. 

capital base. See borrowing base of the f inance company. 
captive f inance activit ies . Financing provided by a manufacturer or dealer 

through an affil iated finance company, generally with the intention of 
encouraging potential customers to purchase products of the controlling 
manufacturer or dealer. 

carrying charge. Amount tha t the purchaser of consumer goods agrees to pay 
to the retail dealer or finance company (if the loan is obtained directly 
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f rom the f inance company) for the privilege of paying the principal 
balance in instal lments . 

chargeback . Under a factor ing agreement , the charging of an unpa id invoice 
or portion thereof against the client 's account for amounts due to a 
merchandis ing dispute, credit, offset, deduction, or other reason for non-
p a y m e n t other t han the customer 's inabi l i ty to pay. 

charges . All amounts charged, contrac ted for, or to be received in r epaymen t 
of an obligation, excluding pr incipal bu t including interest and compensa-
tion for expenses incurred by the lender; the difference between net funds 
advanced and total amoun t s to be repaid. 

c h a r g e s - o n l y account . An account on which collections are applied entirely 
to finance, deferment , or defaul t charges, with no portion serving to 
reduce the pr incipal balance of the loan. 

chat te l . Personal p roper ty such as automobiles, furn i ture , and appliances. 

chat te l m o r t g a g e . An ins t rument under which the borrower (mortgagor) 
gives a lender (mortgagee) a lien on chat te l p roper ty as securi ty for 
p a y m e n t of an obligation. The borrower continues to use the proper ty . 
When the obligation is fully paid off, the lien is removed. 

cl ient . In a factor ing a r rangement , the business enterprise f rom which the 
factor buys t r ade accounts receivable. 

col lateral . P roper ty pledged as securi ty for loans. For consumer loans, collat-
eral typical ly includes automobiles, fu rn i tu re , and appliances. For com-
mercial loans, collateral typical ly includes accounts receivable, inventory, 
p lan t and equipment , and marke tab le securities. 

co l la tera l m a n a g e m e n t . Rout ine monitoring, by a f inance company, of 
assets t ha t a commercial borrower has pledged as security. Such proce-
dures generally allow the lender to provide more f inancing than would 
otherwise be available. 

co l la tera l trust . A t rus t a r r angemen t under which a f inance company depos-
its collateral with a t rus tee as securi ty for borrowings. Notes issued for 
borrowings under such a r r angemen t s generally are called co l la tera l 
trust no te s . 

co l l e c t i on days . The t ime required for a f inance company to have p a y m e n t s 
received f rom customers collected and credited to the f inance company ' s 
bank account . 

c o m a k e r loan. Loans made by more t han one debtor , generally unsecured. 
The second debtor is required because of the insufficient or unknown 
credit s tanding of the first debtor . 

c o m m i s s i o n . A service fee paid to a f inance company for a r ranging a 
t ransact ion involving the sale or purchase of assets or services. 

c o m m i t m e n t fee . Consideration paid by a potent ia l borrower to a potent ia l 
lender for a promise to lend money in the fu ture . 

c o m p e n s a t i n g ba lances . Deposit balances, f requent ly not interest-bearing, 
main ta ined in banks as compensat ion for advancing lines of credit and 
loans under the lines of credit, generally a t some percent of the amoun t of 
the line of credit . Such amounts are shown in balance sheets as restr icted 
funds when there is a formal, cont rac tua l agreement restr ic t ing use of 
such funds. 

cond i t iona l s a l e s contract . Legal ins t rument used in credit sales of personal 
proper ty providing t h a t the t i t le remains with the seller unt i l the 
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purchase price is paid in full bu t t h a t purchasers re ta in possession as long 
as there is no defaul t . 

conf ident ia l account . See n o - m a i l account . 

consumer . Any individual who purchases goods or merchandise for personal or 
family use. 

c o n s u m e r r e v o l v i n g credit and credi t cards. Cont rac ts with consumers to 
f inance personal lines of credit t h a t are continuously avai lable to the 
consumer either for the purchase of goods or for direct advance of cash. 

contrac t s so ld under repurchase a g r e e m e n t . The seller, generally an 
equ ipment manufac tu re r , retailer, or dealer, agrees to pay within a 
designated period the unpaid balance of defaul ted loans by repurchasing 
repossessed collateral from the f inance company a f t e r reasonable collec-
tion effort , repossession, and delivery of the collateral to the seller. 

contrac t s so ld w i t h recourse . Receivable cont rac ts sold with the seller 
(generally an equ ipment manufac tu re r , retailer, or dealer) guarantee ing 
paymen t . If loans are not paid in accordance with terms, the f inance 
company may force the seller to redeem the defaul ted loans. 

contrac tua l m e t h o d . A method of de termining del inquent accounts based on 
cont rac tua l t e rms of the original loan agreement . 

contractua l rate. The ra te of interest s ta ted explicitly in a loan contrac t . 

c o u p o n book. A book of coded p a y m e n t forms to be used by borrowers in 
remi t t ing payments . 

creditback. A credit to a factored client 's account, typical ly to reverse prior 
chargebacks for p a y m e n t s subsequent ly received from customers or for 
credits issued by the client. 

credit bureau. An organizat ion t ha t accumula tes and makes credit informa-
tion avai lable to its members . 

credit loss . The loss associated with a loan t h a t is uncollectible. 

cus tomer . In a factoring a r rangement , the individual or business enterprise 
tha t is the account debtor on the t r ade account receivable bought by the 
factor. 

dealer. Reta i l merchan t who generally purchases automobiles, fu rn i tu re , 
appliances, or other consumer goods a t wholesale and sells to customers a t 
retail. 

dealer ho ldbacks . Amounts withheld by f inance companies f rom dealers on 
retail contrac ts with grea ter - than-normal credit risk unt i l a cer ta in num-
ber of paymen t s on the contrac ts have been received or unti l contract 
balances have been reduced to specified amounts . 

dealer reserves . F inance company liabilities for dealers ' shares of f inance 
charges on retail contrac ts purchased from dealers. 

d e f i c i e n c y ba lances . Amounts remaining in borrowers' accounts a f t e r they 
have been charged with cont rac tua l amounts and credited for proceeds of 
sale of repossessed collateral, life insurance, and so forth. 

d e f i c i e n c y j u d g m e n t . Legal claim against a debtor for the balance of debt 
remaining a f t e r repossession and sale of the collateral, plus allowable 
expenses. 

de l inquency ( d e f a u l t ) f ees . Amounts debtors pay because of being late with 
scheduled paymen t s on loans. 
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d e m a n d loan. A loan t h a t has no fixed m a t u r i t y da te but is payable on 
demand by the lender. 

direct c o n s u m e r loan. A two-par ty t ransact ion in which the f inance com-
pany lends funds directly to the borrower; such a loan may or may not be 
collateralized. 

discount . Amount deducted f rom the face value in advance as a charge for the 
loan or a deduction for interest a t the t ime of the loan or any charge for 
credit t ha t is p recomputed and included in the face of the ins t rument . 

discount fac tor ing . See a d v a n c e fac tor ing . 

d i scount loan. A loan t h a t is wr i t ten with the interest or f inance charges 
included in the face amount of the note. Discount loans are also called 
p r e c o m p u t e or add-on loans . 

e f f e c t i v e in teres t rate. The implicit ra te of interest based on the amoun t 
advanced and the amoun t and t iming of the specified r epaymen t s over 
the period of the contrac t . 

e l ig ib le accounts . Receivables t h a t meet the cri teria specified in a lending, 
factoring, or portfolio purchase agreement to enti t le the borrower or 
client to a cash advance or paymen t . 

equi ty part ic ipant . In a leveraged lease, an individual investor or group of 
investors who hold t rus t cert i f icates evidencing their beneficial interest as 
owners under an owner t rus t . 

e v e r g r e e n loan. A loan t ha t is repaid nei ther periodically nor according to a 
fixed amor t iza t ion schedule, bu t might remain constant in relation to 
assets t ha t qua l i fy as collateral. 

factor. A company t h a t engages pr imar i ly in factoring. 

fac tor ing . Purchase, usually without recourse, of individual accounts receiva-
ble arising in the client 's ordinary course of business. Under a factor ing 
agreement , the f inance company also provides credit checking, collection, 
and recordkeeping services. 

f i n a n c i n g s t a t e m e n t . A notice filed in the location or locations required by 
s ta te law necessary to perfect a securi ty interest in collateral. 

f irst out . A par t ic ipa t ion agreement t h a t provides for a pa r t i c ipan t to have 
priori ty over all others in l iquidation of a loan. 

f i x e d - c h a r g e c o v e r a g e . The number of t imes a company 's interest cost is 
covered by earnings before taxes, measured by the rat io of earnings before 
taxes plus interest cost divided by interest cost. Credit ra t ing agencies 
generally consider fixed-charge coverage in addit ion to other factors in 
evaluat ing the creditworthiness of a f inance company 's debt obligations. 

f l o a t i n g rates . A ra te of interest tha t , by the t e rms of the loan, f luc tua tes up 
or down depending on other widely followed marke t ra tes of interest , such 
as the pr ime rate, Treasury bill ra te , or Federal Reserve discount rate. 

f loor p lan c h e c k i n g . Physical inspection of dealer 's inventories t ha t are 
collateral for advances to the dealer to be repaid from the proceeds from 
sale of specific items. Sometimes referred to as floor plan audi t ing. 

f loor p lann ing . F inancing of dealers ' inventories, par t icu lar ly automobiles 
and other consumer goods, sometimes referred to as w h o l e s a l i n g . The 
dealers are obliged to repay the supplier or manufac tu r e r f rom proceeds 
of sale of specific items, or a f t e r an elapsed period even though inventory 
is not sold. 
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forec losure . A legal sale of mortgaged proper ty to obtain sat isfact ion of the 
mortgage out of proceeds of sale. 

g a r n i s h m e n t . The a t t a c h m e n t of salaries through court action to collect on a 
defaul ted obligation. 

in t ere s t -bear ing loan. A loan t h a t is wr i t ten a t the principal amount 
advanced to the borrower and bear ing interest computed month ly on the 
unpa id balance. 

in teres t m e t h o d . A method of comput ing income under which interest 
income on a fixed-rate obligation is accrued over the life of the loan based 
on a constant ra te (percent) of interest applied to the outs tanding loan 
balance. As a result, the amoun t of income recognized a t a given t ime is 
direct ly proport ional to the outs tanding loan balance. Also called the 
actuarial m e t h o d . 

i n v e n t o r y loan. A loan collateralized by inventory of the borrower. 

l ease . An agreement conveying the right to use proper ty , p lant , or equ ipment 
in exchange for cash p a y m e n t s over a s ta ted t ime. 

l e g a l rebate o b l i g a t i o n . The ad ju s tmen t of precomputed interest required 
by s ta te s t a tu tes on discount loans paid off before the end of their 
cont rac tua l terms. 

l e t ter of credit . A document issued by a f inancial inst i tut ion, guaran tee ing 
the seller p a y m e n t of a specified amoun t on presentat ion before the 
expiration date of documents confirming sh ipment of goods. Generally, an 
irrevocable agreement . 

l e v e r a g e . The rat io of tota l debt to equity. Ra t ing agencies commonly 
monitor a f inance company 's leverage in de termining its credit rat ing. 

l e v e r a g e d l ease . A lease involving a t least three part ies: a lessee, a long-term 
creditor, and a lessor (commonly called the equi ty part ic ipant) . The 
long-term creditor commonly has recourse only to the leased assets. 

l ien. The right to sat isfy a claim, if defaul t occurs, by seizing the debtor 's 
p roper ty subject to the lien and convert ing the proper ty in accordance 
with procedures provided by law. 

l ine of credit . An agreement to lend a specified amount of money at an 
agreed ra te as long as there is no mater ia l adverse change in the business; 
such a line does not have to be used, bu t the funds normally are avai lable 
upon request . 

l oan appl icat ion . A form for completion by the prospective borrower gener-
ally providing for personal da t a such as family, residence, salary, em-
ployer, other indebtedness, and resources. The form is used to document 
cer tain ma t t e r s considered signif icant by the lender before deciding 
whether to make a loan. 

l oan fi le . A record t h a t usually contains the loan appl icat ion and documents , 
credit checks, references, records of past loans, and other mat te rs . Notes, 
contracts , titles, and collateral usually will be physically stored elsewhere 
for securi ty reasons. 

m a n d a t o r y secur i t i e s v a l u a t i o n reserve . Reserve required by law or regula-
tion to provide for possible losses on securities held by insurance compa-
nies. 

matur i ty . D a t e on which, or t ime period in which, r epaymen t of a deb t is to 
be made. 
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m a t u r i t y da te ( in f a c t o r i n g ) . The average due da te of a month ' s invoices 
plus collection days. 

m a t u r i t y fac tor ing . Factor ing a r r angemen t under which a client is not 
ent i t led to cash advances before invoice m a t u r i t y dates. 

m a t u r i t y spread. A tabula t ion of es t imated or scheduled matur i t i es of install-
ment receivables by months or year due. 

m o r t g a g e loans . Loans collateralized by real estate . 

n e t in teres t spread. The excess of interest income accruable over interest 
expense incurred in a period. 

n o - m a i l account . An account in which no contact is to be made with the 
borrower by mail. 

nonaccrua l l o a n s ( n o n e a r n i n g a s s e t s ) . Loans on which accrual of interest 
has been suspended because collectibility is doubt fu l . 

n o n n o t i f i c a t i o n fac tor ing . Sale of t r ade accounts receivable in which the 
debtor is not informed of the sale. 

nonrecourse . A s i tuat ion in which a f inance company has no legal right to 
compel p a y m e n t f rom a seller of accounts receivable or f rom a prior 
endorser or drawer of a negotiable ins t rument in the event of defaul t . 

n o n r e f u n d a b l e fee . Any charge made in connection with a loan t ha t does not 
have to be re funded to the borrower when the loan is prepaid. 

not i f i ca t ion . In forming debtors t ha t their accounts have been sold to and are 
now payable directly to a f inance company. 

old- l ine factor . A factor engaged pr imar i ly in the nonrecourse purchase of 
accounts receivable with notif ication. 

o p e n account sa les . Credi t extended t h a t is not supported by a note, 
mortgage, or other formal wr i t ten evidence of indebtedness; for example, 
shipments of merchandise for which a buyer is billed later. 

o p e n approvals . Credi t is g ran ted without immedia te proof of a borrower's 
abi l i ty to repay. 

o r i g i n a t i o n fee . An amoun t charged by f inance companies for originating, 
ref inancing, or res t ruc tur ing a loan. The amoun t m a y be intended to 
cover costs such as underwri t ing, loan appl icat ion processing, and review-
ing legal t i t le to proper ty involved. 

o v e r a d v a n c e ( in fac tor ing ) . An amount advanced to a client in excess of the 
amount of uncollected receivables purchased by the factor. 

pari passu. A par t ic ipa t ion t h a t provides for a pro r a t a sharing of risk among 
all lenders. 

part ic ipat ion. A loan funded by two or more f inancial inst i tut ions. Par t ic ipa-
tions may be either first out or pari passu. 

part ic ipat ion m a n a g e r . Commercial f inance company originating and super-
vising a loan shared by one or more par t ic ipants . 

perfec t ion . Protec t ing a securi ty interest in collateral against conflicting 
claims through proper filing under the UCC. See l ien. 

po ints . Amounts , generally expressed as a percent of the loan, charged for 
g ran t ing loans, t h a t pr imar i ly are ad jus tmen t s of yield bu t also m a y be 
intended to cover costs such as underwri t ing, loan appl icat ion processing, 
and reviewing ti t le to collateral. 
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prebi l l ing . Occurs when a company assigns invoice copies to a f inance 
company for i tems t h a t have not been shipped. 

p r e c o m p u t e loan. See d i scount loan. 

p r e p a y m e n t pena l ty . An amoun t t ha t the borrower pays to the lender, in 
addi t ion to the remaining outs tanding principal , if the borrower pays off 
the loan prior to cont rac tua l ma tu r i t y . 

rebate . Cancellat ion of a portion of the precomputed interest charge when the 
balance due on a discount loan is paid off prior to the originally scheduled 
m a t u r i t y date . 

rece ivab le s por t fo l i o purchase a g r e e m e n t s . The bulk purchase of a portfo-
lio of accounts receivable, ei ther on a single l iquidat ing or a revolving 
a r r angemen t . The purchase is typical ly nonrecourse and without cus-
tomer notif ication. The seller continues to handle all communicat ions, 
billings, and collections with customers. 

r e c e n c y - o f - p a y m e n t s m e t h o d . A method of de termining del inquent ac-
counts based on when recent collections have been received, wi thout 
regard to when they were scheduled to be received in the original loan 
agreement . 

recourse . The legal right to compel p a y m e n t from a prior guarantor or drawer 
of a negotiable ins t rument , if dishonored. 

recourse ( in fac tor ing ) . The right to charge a customer 's uncollectible 
account back to the client. 

r e n e w e d ( r e f i n a n c e d ) loan. A direct loan to a present borrower t ha t is 
rewri t ten by the execution of a new note with or wi thout an addit ional 
amount of funds being advanced. 

reposses s . To gain custody; to take collateral from a debtor for nonpaymen t 
or defaul t on a loan. 

retai l s a l e s contracts . Cont rac tua l receivables arising from sales of consumer 
goods such as automobiles, fu rn i tu re , and appl iances by retail dealers. 
Retai l sales contracts also are referred to as three -party paper (cus-
tomer /consumer , dealer, and f inance company) when f inance companies 
make advances against ou ts tanding contracts . 

r e v o l v i n g loan. A continuous loan made against an agreed percentage of the 
value of collateral, usually accounts receivable or inventory. The amoun t 
of the loan varies with the amoun t of collateral assigned. 

rewrite . Renewal of an account , when little or no p a y m e n t has been received, 
with the purpose of removing del inquency s ta tus . 

Rober t Morr i s A s s o c i a t e s . A nat ional association of bank loan and credit 
officers. 

rule of 78s. A method of comput ing f inance charges on a loan using a sum-of-
digits approach (for example, 78 is the sum of the monthly periods of a 
twelve-month loan). 

secur i ty a g r e e m e n t . An agreement between a borrower and a lender in 
which the borrower gives the lender a securi ty interest or lien on equip-
ment , accounts receivable, inventory, or other assets as securi ty for 
amounts due to the lender. 

secur i ty in teres t . A cont rac tua l interest in or lien on collateral to secure 
p a y m e n t of an obligation. 
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sen ior debt . Borrowings tha t , by their terms, are not subordinate in p a y m e n t 
priori ty to other debt . 

s p r i n g i n g l ien. An interest in, or r ight to, collateral pledged as p a y m e n t of an 
obligation, which is perfected on the occurrence of an agreed event , such 
as a defaul t . 

subord inated debt . Borrowings t h a t by their t e rms are subordinate and 
junior in pr ior i ty of p a y m e n t to senior borrowings. Various levels of 
subordinat ion include both senior and junior subordinations. 

t a x lease . An agreement t h a t qualif ies under tax rules t h a t pe rmi t the lessee 
to claim renta l p a y m e n t s as tax deductions and the lessor to claim tax 
benefi ts of ownership; t h a t is, inves tment tax credits and depreciat ion. 

three -party paper. See retai l s a l e s contrac t s . 

t i m e loan. A loan t h a t has a fixed m a t u r i t y date . 

U n i f o r m C o m m e r c i a l C o d e ( U C C ) . A set of s t a tu te s designed to provide 
consistent s ta te laws dealing with commercial t ransact ions, including 
secured t ransact ions, negotiable ins t ruments , and sales of goods. 

v e n d o r l ea s ing . Ar rangements under which a f inance company offers leases 
through a vendor 's sales representa t ives to the vendor 's customers as a 
basic f inancial package. 

w h o l e s a l i n g . See f loor p l a n n i n g . 

w o r k i n g capi ta l loan. See r e v o l v i n g loan. 

y ie ld . Annual ra te of r e tu rn to the lenders on a loan. 
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